
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Cabinet

Members of the Cabinet of Gravesham Borough Council are summoned to attend a meeting to 
be held at the Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend, Kent on Monday, 23 March 2020 at 7.30 
pm when the business specified in the following agenda is proposed to be transacted.

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies for absence 

2. To sign the minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 3 - 14)

3. To declare any interest members may have in the items contained on this 
agenda.   When declaring an interest a member must state what their 
interest is. 

4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the agenda should be 
considered in private or any items in Part B in public 

5. Delegated Decisions - Cabinet Members 
To report any decisions made by Cabinet Members under their delegated 
powers.

6. Lower Thames Crossing Supplementary Consultation (Pages 15 - 74)

7. Development of the Corporate Risk Register 2020-2021 (Pages 75 - 
132)



8. Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

9. Exclusion 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

Part B
Items likely to be considered in Private

10.Establishment of Rosherville Servicing Limited (Pages 133 - 
192)

11.Formation of a Local Authority Trading Company Subsidiary – Property 
Development Company 

To Follow

12.Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

Members

Cllr John Burden (Chair)
Cllr Lee Croxton (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Shane Mochrie-Cox
Lenny Rolles
Brian Sangha
Narinderjit Singh Thandi
Jenny Wallace



1

Cabinet

Monday, 3 February 2020 7.30 pm

Present:

Cllr John Burden (Chair)

Councillors: Lee Croxton
Shane Mochrie-Cox
Lenny Rolles
Brian Sangha
Narinderjit Singh Thandi
Jenny Wallace

Note:  Councillors Ejaz Aslam, Dakota Dibben, Gary Harding, Leslie Hills, Leslie Hoskins, 
Diane Marsh, Jordan Meade and Alan Ridgers were also in attendance. 

Stuart Bobby Director (Corporate Services)
Nick Brown Director (Housing and Operations)
Kevin Burbidge Director (Planning and Development)
Sarah Parfitt Assistant Director (Corporate Services)
Simon Hookway Assistant Director (Communities)
Jan Guyler Head of Legal Services, Medway Council
Andy Rayfield Communications Manager
Carlie Simmonds Committee Services Manager

64. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting held on 6 January 2020 were signed by the Chair.

65. Declarations of Interest 

Cllr Lenny Rolles declared an interest in agenda items 6 (Rosherville Limited - Formation of 
the Board and Governance Arrangements) and 7 (Local Authority Trading Company 
Shareholder Group) as he had been registered as a Director of the Company and was 
proposed to be Chairman of the Rosherville Limited Board. Cllr Lenny Rolles left the 
Chamber during consideration of this item.

Cllr John Burden declared an interest in agenda item 18 (STG Building Control Business 
Plan 2020 - 2023 and Associated Delivery Plan) as he was currently the Council’s 
representative on the South Thames Gateway Building Control Joint Committee and had 
been appointed as the Chair of the Committee for 2019-20. 

66. Delegated Decisions - Cabinet Members 

No decisions other than those already circulated had been made.

Page 3 Agenda Item 2



Cabinet 3.02.2020

2

67. Order of Agenda 

The Cabinet agreed to deal with agenda item 7 (Local Authority Trading Company 
Shareholder Group) before dealing with the remaining agenda items in the listed order.

68. Local Authority Trading Company Shareholder Group 

The Director (Corporate Services) advised that, at the meeting of Full Council on 17 
December 2019, Members approved the formation of a Local Authority Trading Company 
(LATCo) subject to the required governance framework to support the Council in the 
strategic management function of the LATCo, having regard for both the company and 
Council’s perspective. 

The Cabinet was advised that a Shareholder Group will be established to provide the 
necessary oversight, (from a shareholders’ perspective), ensuring that the parameters, 
policies and boundaries that had been set for the company will be met. The purpose of the 
Shareholder Group will be to:-

 advise the Leader, who has the role of the key decision maker with regards to the 
Council’s rights and responsibilities as shareholder; and

 enable the Leader to best represent the interest of the Council.

The membership of the Shareholder Group will consist of the Leader plus the following 
Officers and Members:-

 Councillor Lee Croxton, Deputy Leader;
 Chief Executive; 
 Section 151 Officer (or officer nominated to act in their place);
 Deputy Monitoring Officer (or officer nominated to act in their place);
 Representation from the Trade Union; and
 Plus any Officer deemed suitable for the nature of the items being discussed at that 

time. 

In addition, it was suggested that the Chair of the Overview Scrutiny Committee can attend 
meetings of the Shareholder Group (as a non-voting member) to enable the Chair of 
Overview Scrutiny to fulfil the Constitutional Scrutiny role and have access to information 
that has informed the Leader’s decisions.

Members considered the report which set out the terms of reference for the Group as well as 
the Shareholder Agreement.

In developing the supporting governance documents, the Council received extensive support 
from its external legal advisors, Trowers & Hamlins, to ensure that all legal requirements had 
been fully considered. The terms of reference had been based upon the model terms of 
reference and guidance provided by the Lawyers in Local Government (LLG) guidance note 
‘The governance of Council interests in companies’.

Resolved that the membership for the Shareholder Group be approved in line with 
the proposals set out within the report and that the terms of reference for the group 
and the Shareholder Agreement be approved.

Page 4



Cabinet 3.02.2020

3

Note:  Cllr Lenny Rolles left the Chamber during consideration of this item.

69. Rosherville Limited - Formation of the Board and Governance 
Arrangements 

The Director (Corporate Services) advised that, at the meeting of Full Council on 17 
December 2019, Members approved the formation of a Local Authority Trading Company 
(LATCo) and provided delegated authority to confirm and register the name of the company 
and take all practical, legal and financial actions necessary in relation to the creation of the 
LATCo. This included the development of the relevant governance framework for the 
company in order to enable the effective operation of that company and associated 
subsidiaries. 

The Cabinet was advised that it had now been agreed that the company name would be 
Rosherville Limited and that it had been registered with Companies House and the 
respective web domains purchased.

Members considered the report which set out the proposed Directors for the Parent 
Company Board along with the supporting Articles of Association which detailed the 
governance framework for the company.

The Cabinet was advised that the Directors of the Rosherville Limited Board will be:- 

 Councillor Lenny Rolles – Director and Chairman of the Board;
 Councillor Sarah Gow;
 Councillor Tony Rice;
 Director (Communities), currently held by Melanie Norris;
 Deputy Section 151 Officer, currently held by Sarah Parfitt; and
 Company Secretary (non-voting member) Monitoring Officer, Perry Holmes.

In developing the supporting governance documents, the Council had received extensive 
support from its external legal advisors, Trowers & Hamlins, to ensure that all legal 
requirements had been fully considered. The Articles of Association had been based upon 
the model Articles Companies (Model Articles) Regulation 2008 and modified as necessary.

The Leader advised that he had requested a briefing note for the Directors of the Board on 
how and when declarations of interest should be made.

The Cabinet was provided with an overview of the trading entities that were currently being 
explored by the Council, the first one being the trading of vehicle workshop services.

The Leader advised that it was the intention to use Gravesham Borough Council staff 
resources to provide these services to the private sector via the LATCo; the transferal of 
staff was not being considered at this stage. Staff providing services for Gravesham Borough 
Council and/or the LATCo will have the same terms and conditions of employment. 

The Director (Corporate Services) advised that, in line with the Constitutional requirements 
in relation to the exercising of urgency provisions, the Chair of the Overview Scrutiny 
Committee (Cllr Jordan Meade) had agreed to waive the five-day call in period for this 

Page 5



Cabinet 3.02.2020

4

decision in order for the Rosherville Board to meet w/c 03 February 2020 in order for the 
relevant business discussed at that Board meeting to be reported back to the shareholder 
(the Council) through the next Cabinet cycle.

Resolved that the Board membership for Rosherville Limited be approved in line with 
the proposals set out within the report and that the Articles of Association for 
Rosherville Limited be approved.

Note:  Cllr Lenny Rolles left the Chamber during consideration of this item.  Cllr Rolles did 
not return to the Chamber for the remainder of the meeting.

70. Corporate Performance Update – Quarter Three 2019-20 (October - 
December 

The Director (Corporate Services) advised that, in October 2019, the Council formally 
adopted its new Corporate Plan for 2019-23. The plan set out the Council’s ambition for the 
borough, complete with a suite of corporate objectives and supporting policy commitments 
that will shape the Council’s activities over the four year period. 

In order to evaluate if the Council was effectively achieving against its stated policy 
commitments and was ultimately delivering consistently high quality services, a sound 
performance management process had been put in place and will form the basis of reporting 
corporate performance to Council Members and residents.

The Cabinet received an update against the Performance Management Framework for 
Quarter Three 2019-20 (October to December 2019) with the following key statistical 
headlines:-

 82% of reported indicators had improved or maintained their level of performance; 
and

 18% of reported indicators had fallen in their level of performance.

Information on performance over the period was presented in tabular and graphical form for 
all indicators. Where any data was not presented, this related either to those indicators 
reported on an annual basis or, alternatively, where data had not yet been submitted in time 
for the presentation of the report. Any outturns where data had been unable to be reported 
will be presented within the next available reporting cycle to Cabinet and the relevant 
Cabinet Committees.

The Director (Corporate Services) advised that, following Cabinet’s review, all Cabinet 
Committees will be presented with individual performance reports tailored to the respective 
portfolio responsibilities. Alongside statistical content, these will provide more detailed 
contextual or qualitative updates outlining what activity the Council had delivered and what 
action will be taken to successfully realise the Corporate Plan’s corporate objectives and 
policy commitments.

The Cabinet commended the design of the document and the information contained within it. 

The Cabinet thanked the Corporate Performance Team on the work that had been 
undertaken to date.

Page 6



Cabinet 3.02.2020

5

71. Corporate Peer Challenge Feedback Report 

The Director (Corporate Services) advised that, in October 2019, the Council welcomed a 
Peer Challenge Team onsite in order for them to undertake a Local Government Association 
(LGA) Corporate Peer Challenge of the Council. The team was onsite for four days (between 
15 October and 17 October) and undertook a number of interviews and focus groups with 
various officers, Members, residents and external partners of the organisation.

The purpose of the Peer Challenge was to focus on the five core areas of business that 
make up a Peer Challenge:-

 understanding of the local place and priority setting;
 leadership of place;
 financial planning and viability;
 organisational leadership and governance; and
 capacity to deliver.

In addition, the team was also asked to consider additional areas of scope identified by the 
Council, in the areas of housing and housing delivery and planning and the planning service.

The Peer Challenge team had prepared a report setting out their findings and key 
recommendations; the report was attached at appendix two of the report for Members’ 
information. 

In addressing each of the key recommendations, a detailed action plan had now been 
developed and was attached at appendix three of the report for Member review and 
approval. Subject to Cabinet approval, the LGA Peer Challenge Report and action plan will 
be published on the Council’s website to ensure it is publicly available (deemed best practice 
by the LGA). 

It was also proposed that a report be brought back to the Cabinet in 12 months’ time 
(February 2021) to provide an update on progress against the action plan. In addition, the 
LGA Peer Challenge process included a follow-up visit from the LGA. The purpose of the 
visit will be to assess the impact of the peer challenge and to review the progress that has 
been made in delivering the action plan. The follow-up visit will be in two years’ time 
(February 2022).

The Cabinet echoed the views of the Peer Challenge team in that the current Chief 
Executive was very well respected and was universally praised by Officers, Members and 
partners. He had made significant contributions to organisational development and his 
impending departure will be a key moment for the Council.

The Leader stated that Stuart Bobby will take on the role of Chief Executive and Head of 
Paid Service with effect from 1 April 2020.  The Cabinet congratulated Stuart Bobby and 
wished him well in his impending new role. 

The Cabinet agreed that the Communications Team will be key in delivering some of those 
recommendations listed within the action plan.

Page 7



Cabinet 3.02.2020

6

The Leader also informed the Cabinet that all Kent Leaders had recently co-signed a letter to 
the government advising that it would only accept investment for local infrastructure if local 
authorities were to retain their planning control.

Resolved that the findings from the Local Government Association’s (LGA) 
Corporate Peer Challenge report be noted and the actions plan developed by the 
Council in response to the recommendations be approved.

72. General Fund Revenue and Capital Estimates 2020/21 

The Cabinet was presented with the draft revenue and capital estimates for General Fund 
services in 2020-21 together with the recommended level of council tax to be levied for 
2020-21.

The report was presented in seven sections and the Assistant Director (Corporate Services) 
provided Members with a detailed summary of each section:-

 Section One – Policy Context;
 Section Two – Government Funding; 
 Section Three – Medium Term Financial Strategy; 
 Section Four - General Fund Revenue Budget; 
 Section Five – Council Tax; 
 Section Six - Robustness of Estimates and Adequacy of Reserves; and 
 Section Seven - Capital Programme.

The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) advised that, on 20 December 2019, the 
Provisional Local Government Finance Settlement for 2020-21 only was announced by the 
Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG). This set out an 
inflationary increase in the Business Rates Retention Baseline Funding Level of 1.63%, in 
line with the September 2019 CPI inflation figure, as well as confirming that the government 
would be eliminating negative RSG amounts in 2020-21. 

The Council had also secured indicative New Homes Bonus funding for 2020-21 of 
£603,010; this was above the level of funding that was previously in the Medium Term 
Financial Plan (MTFP). The government had stated that funding of New Homes Bonus 
beyond 2020-21 will be subject to the 2020 Spending Review.  

The Kent Business Rates Pool will continue to operate in 2020-21. Modelling of anticipated 
business rates to be generated in the year (including the projected benefit of membership of 
the Kent Pool) indicated a benefit to Gravesham of £529,650 beyond that previously 
expected and reflected in the MTFP.

The current Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) covered the period 2016-17 to 2019-
20. Given the current lack of clarity from the government around the future funding of local 
government, the S151 Officer and the Council’s Senior Management Team agreed that it 
would be prudent to put in place a one year MTFS for 2020-21. The strategy was attached at 
appendix three of the report for Member approval.

The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) advised that the delivery of the proactive 
strategy to respond to the financial pressures first identified by the Council in 2016 had 
enabled the 2020-21 budget proposals to be presented alongside a MTFP which required no 

Page 8



Cabinet 3.02.2020

7

additional savings to be delivered in the plan period to 2028-29. After a decade of significant 
and sustained cuts to local government funding and the increased focus on financial 
governance that comes with such circumstances, the Council was now in a position to bring 
forward the ambitions set out in the Corporate Plan 2019-2023 to deliver a Gravesham to be 
proud of, specifically supporting:-

 the delivery of a new Leisure Centre for the residents of the borough in 2025;
 a fully-funded replacement programme for Council-owned play sites in the borough 

from 2020-21;
 the delivery of new housing in the borough;
 an improved town centre street scene;
 seed-funding of £500,000 for taking forward the Council’s actions to deliver against 

its commitment to do what was within its powers and resources to become carbon 
neutral by 2030 and to work with partners on this.

The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) advised that there was still uncertainty over the 
future funding of local government beyond 2020-21. The Council will therefore monitor 
information on reforms as and when released so that it continued to be in the best position 
possible to respond to reforms and remain able to deliver services to its residents.

In relation to the council tax to be levied, Members were advised that the provisional 
settlement announcement confirmed the continued flexibility for district councils in setting 
council tax levels by permitting district councils to raise council tax by 2% or up to and 
including £5 (whichever is higher) without triggering the requirement for referendum. Taking 
the decision to freeze council tax in 2020-21 rather than implementing a 2.44% increase 
would see total council tax income reduced by £1,697,660 across the plan period. A 2.44% 
increase in Council Tax in 2020-21 would equate to 10 pence per week for a Band D 
property, with the total annual charge being £208.08. 

The Cabinet requested that the Communications Team promote to residents that the 
Council, as billing authority, will issue the council tax bill on behalf of itself and the other 
preceptors such as Kent County Council, Kent Fire and Rescue etc. and that the proportion 
kept by the Council was significantly low.  

The Cabinet commended the hard work that had been undertaken to date which had 
resulted in the Council achieving a balanced budget. 

Resolved that:-

1. a resolution be placed before the meeting of the Council on 25 February 2020, 
specifying the council tax to be levied in the Borough of Gravesham for the year 
2020-21; and

2. delegated authority be given to the Director (Communities), in consultation with S151 
Officer and Leader of the Executive, to conclude the procurement process and award 
the contracts for the supply of fitness equipment at Cascades and Cygnet Leisure 
Centres as set out in Appendix 7a, subject to the budget associated with this 
procurement exercise being approved by Full Council on 25 February 2020. 

The Cabinet recommends to Council that:- 

Page 9



Cabinet 3.02.2020

8

3. the Medium Term Financial Strategy for 2020-21 be approved; 
4. the draft revenue estimates for 2020-21 together with revised estimates for 2019-20, 

be approved, subject to any final amendments agreed by the Section 151 Officer in 
consultation with the Chief Executive and Leader of the Executive;

5. the provisional estimates for the following eight years be noted;
6. the draft capital estimates for 2020-21, together with the revised estimates for 2019- 

20, be approved subject to detailed reports coming forward on new schemes where 
applicable; and

7. due consideration is given to the view of the Director (Corporate Services) (as S151 
Officer) on the robustness of estimates for the coming year, the medium term 
financial strategy and the adequacy of proposed reserves and balances, as required 
under Section 25 of the Local Government Finance Act 2003.

73. General Fund Budget Monitoring Report 2019/20 - Quarter 3 

Further to minute 42 (11.11.2019), the Cabinet received the third budget monitoring report 
for 2019/20 in relation to the General Fund showing the position up to 31 December 2019. 

The Cabinet noted the information provided on:-

 actual performance against the approved Revenue and Capital budgets for 2019/20, 
including known variances agreed or identified through budgetary control activity; and

 other key areas of financial performance that may impact on the Council’s Medium 
Term Financial Strategy, Medium Term Financial Plan or Financial Statements. 

Officers confirmed that the Council will continue to maintain robust budgetary control actions 
to ensure good financial governance and respond to the pressures on the Council’s 
finances.

The Cabinet noted the information contained within the report.

74. Housing Revenue Account Estimates and Housing Capital Programme 
2020/21 

The Cabinet was presented with the draft revenue and capital estimates for Housing 
Revenue Account Services in 2020-21 together with the determination of the level of rents 
and service charges for 2020-21.

The report was presented in four sections and the Assistant Director (Corporate Services) 
provided Members with a detailed summary of each section:-

 Section One – HRA Revenue Account Budget;
 Section Two – Housing Capital Programme;
 Section Three – Robustness of Estimates and Adequacy of Reserves; and
 Section Four – HRA Business Planning.

In February 2019, the Government confirmed its intention to set a long term rent deal for 
social housing landlords in England. The new policy will permit annual rent increases on 
both social rent and affordable rent properties of up to consumer price index (CPI) plus one 
percentage point from 2020, for a period of at least five years. The subsequent Rent 
Standard issued by the Regulator of Social Housing in respect of 2020-21 confirmed that 

Page 10



Cabinet 3.02.2020

9

rents could increase by CPI+1% from 1 April 2020 (where CPI is measured at September 
2019).  Dwelling Rents for 2020-21 will therefore increase by 2.7%. The authority’s average 
social rent will increase to £89.96 per week in 2020-21 compared to £87.17 per week in 
2019-20. The average affordable rent will increase to £159.41 per week (the average social 
rent increase will not be exactly equal to 2.7% due to re-letting of void properties and 
additions of properties during the year).

The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) advised that service charges were also levied 
on Council dwellings to cover a range of services including caretaking services and 
maintenance of communal areas and communal assets, such as lifts and gardens. Service 
charges were generally eligible to be met by Housing Benefit, with the exception of charges 
to individual homes such as heating or lighting within a dwelling. The Council’s average 
capped service charge will be £3.63 per week for 2020-21. The capped service charge had 
been increased by 2.7% (based on CPI at September 2019 +1). 

Rent levels and service charges for 2020-21 had been determined by the Assistant Director 
(Housing) and the Director (Corporate Services), in accordance with the Housing Act 1985 
and under delegated authority as set out at Annex 1.13B.83 of the Constitution.

The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) advised that this will be the first time in four 
years since social rent had increased.

The Cabinet requested that the Communications Team promote the reasons for an increase 
in rent and that it will be the first time in four years.

Resolved that the Cabinet recommends to Council that:-

1. the draft Revenue estimates for 2020-21 together with the revised estimates for 
2019-20 to be approved;

2. the draft capital estimates, together with the revised estimates for 2019-20 be 
approved, subject to detailed reports coming forward for new schemes, where 
applicable;

3. the increase in average rents of 2.7% for 2020-21 be noted; and
4. due consideration is given to the view of the Director (Corporate Services) (as S151 

Officer) on the robustness of estimates for the coming year, the medium term 
financial strategy and the adequacy of proposed reserves and balances, as required 
under Section 25 of the Local Government Finance Act 2003.

75. Housing Revenue Account Budget Monitoring 2019/20 - Quarter 3 

Further to minute 41 (11.11.2019), the Cabinet received the third budget monitoring report 
for 2019/20 in relation to the Housing Revenue Account showing the position up to 31 
December 2019. 

The Cabinet noted the information provided on:- 

 actual performance against the approved Revenue and Capital budgets for 2019/20, 
including known variances agreed or identified through budgetary control activity; and

 other key areas of financial performance that may impact on the Council’s Medium 
Term Financial Strategy, Medium Term Financial Plan, HRA Business Plan or 
Financial Statements.

Page 11



Cabinet 3.02.2020

10

Officers confirmed that the Council will continue to maintain robust budgetary control actions 
to ensure good financial governance and respond to the pressures on the Council’s 
finances.

The Cabinet noted the information contained within the report.

76. Fees and Charges Report 2020/21 

The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) advised that there was a requirement in the 
Financial Procedure Rules that the fees and charges would be reviewed at least annually in 
accordance with the Council’s budget setting framework. The responsibility for determining 
fees and charges had been delegated to Directors and Assistant Directors (with the 
exception of car park fees and rents for HRA properties). In reviewing fees and charges, 
Directors would liaise with their appropriate Lead Member to consider any proposed 
revisions to charges or the introduction of new charges. 

The authority had in place a Charging Strategy which outlined the key considerations of the 
Council to ensure that fees and charges for services were set in a transparent and 
consistent manner. As part of the fees and charges review exercise for 2020/21, the 
Charging Strategy was also reviewed; the review concluded that the strategy did not require 
any significant updates from that agreed with Members in November 2011.

Senior Officers, in conjunction with their Lead Member, undertook a review of the current 
schedule of fees and charges and determined the level of fees and charges for the 
forthcoming financial year.  The proposed fees and charges for 2020/21 which will be 
effective from 1 April 2020 (unless otherwise stated) were detailed in appendix three of the 
report for Members’ information. 

The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) advised that over the last decade local 
government had experienced significant and sustained cuts to its funding whilst demand on 
services had risen. The Council had faced these challenges head-on and, as set out in the 
Medium Term Financial Strategy 2016-17 to 2019-20, followed a multi-faceted, proactive 
programme of activity to reduce its budget requirement and ensure a balanced budget which 
will be based on sound assumptions for how planned expenditure will be met. The 
programme included the intention to deliver £270,000 of base budget reductions during the 
strategy period through a workstream focusing on the annual fees and charges review.  As 
detailed in the report, activity under the fees and charges work stream will have delivered 
£211,800 of the £270,000 target by 2020/21. 

The Cabinet noted the information contained within the report.

77. Minutes of the meeting of the Gravesham Joint Transportation Board 
held on Thursday, 9 January 2020 

The Cabinet noted the minutes of the Gravesham Joint Transportation Board held on 
Thursday 9 January 2020.

Page 12



Cabinet 3.02.2020

11

78. Exclusion 

Resolved pursuant to Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 that the 
public be excluded during the following item of business because it was likely in view 
of the nature of business to be transacted that, if members of the public were present 
during this item, there would be disclosure to them of exempt information.

79. STG Building Control Business Plan 2020 - 2023 and Associated 
Delivery Plan 

The Cabinet was reminded that the South Thames Gateway Building Control Partnership 
(involving Medway, Gravesham, Swale and Canterbury) went live in 2007 and was now in its 
third five-year term. The partnership’s Business Plan outlined how the building control 
function for the partnership Councils would be delivered over the next three years and also 
included a financial plan up until 2022-23. 

Before 1 October each year, the Joint Committee is required to approve and send its draft 
Business Plan for the following year to each partner authority for comment. The Joint 
Committee agreed a consultation draft on 19 September 2019. 
Members were presented with the Business Plan for 2020-23 together with the Financial 
Plan and Delivery Plan. 

The Director (Planning and Development) advised that for Gravesham BC, the contribution 
to the shared service will rise from the current £44,980 in 2019-20 to £46,896 by 2022-23. 

The current budgeted contribution for 2020/21 in the Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) is 
£42,320 so the requested £45,030 for the coming year would represent an increase of 
£2,710. 

The MTFP budgets will be re-set to take account of this proposed budget increase in the 
draft Business Plan and this will be reflected in the budget-setting papers.

Resolved that:-

1. the proposed STG Building Control Partnership Business Plan 2020-23 (version 
2), including the Financial Plan, and also the Delivery Plan (version 2), appended 
to it be approved;

2. the Secretary to the STG Joint Committee be notified accordingly; and 
3. whilst, with two months of the financial year to go, a balanced budget is currently 

projected for STG in 2019-20; delegated authority be given to the Director 
(Planning and Development), in consultation with the Leader, to approve any 
additional Gravesham contribution, to balance any deficit that may arise for the 
STG Building Control Partnership in 2019-20. Any such contribution required will 
therefore be an overspend to the current revenue budget. It will either be offset 
by corresponding cross-council underspends, or funded from working balances.

Close of Meeting 

The meeting ended at 9.10pm

Page 13



Cabinet 3.02.2020

12

Page 14



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Cabinet

Date: 23 March 2020

Reporting officer: Director (Planning and Development)

Subject: Lower Thames Crossing Supplementary Consultation

Purpose and summary of report: 
To formulate the Council's response to the Supplemetary Consultation on the Lower Thames 
Crossing and review overall progress on this project.

Recommendations:
1. Approve the draft response to Highways England's Lower Thames Crossing 

Supplementary Consultation Questionnaire set out in Appendix 3 for submission by 
25 March 2020 and authorise the Director (Planning and Development, in consultation 
with the Leader of the Executive, to make any necessary typographical or other minor 
adjustments ahead of submission;

2. Note the Supplementary Consultation Appraisal in Appendix 4;
3. That authority be delegated to the Chief Executive for the production of a letter to 

Highways England, which will be jointly signed by the Leader, setting out the concerns 
not covered by that response set out in Appendix 3. This letter will be sent shortly 
after the close of the supplementary consultation;

4. Agree that the Planning Inspectorate be sent a copy of the letter referred to in 
recommendation 3, emphasising the Council's concerns about the adequacy of 
information in the PEIR and this consultation; and

5. Agree that the Director (Communities) write to Highways England from a property 
perspective including issues raised by the potential Compulsory Purchase of land at 
Cascades.

1. Introduction

1.1 Highways England carried out statutory consultation on its proposals for the Lower 
Thames Crossing in the autumn of 2018.  Council considered the matter on 18 
December 2018 and provided a full response.  Highways England, in July 2019, 
provided a summary report on the results of the consultation, which attracted over 
29,000 responses. Gravesham, however, has never had a detailed response to its 
many points, although some have been addressed in this consultation.

1.2 Highways England has continued to develop the scheme, carry out ground 
investigations and other surveys, and explore in more detail issues arising from 

Page 15 Agenda Item 6



2

construction and the diversion of utilities proposals. Ongoing officer-level meetings 
have been held on a wide variety of topics and informal comment made on 
emerging proposals, data surveys etc.  These, in themselves, do not constitute 
any form of formal response from the Authority.

1.3 Technically this consultation is about the material in the Supplementary 
Consultation only, but it does provide a useful point in time to consider the overall 
progress of the project.  The response is therefore proposed to be in two parts: a 
response to the formal consultation and a letter on other issues.

1.4 It should be noted that the current proposals include the potential Compulsory 
Purchase of Borough Council land at Cascades, so there is a property dimension 
to this consultation that did not previously exist.

1.5 The Borough Council has consistently objected to a Lower Thames Crossing 
route to the east of Gravesend at the various consultations over the years, 
reaffirmed in 2018, and which forms the starting point for our response.  That said 
it is important to ensure that any scheme that is eventually approved is the best 
possible for Borough residents, its ecology, landscape and a host of other factors.

1.6 The Borough Council’s response to the Statutory consultation, as submitted in 
December 2018, included the following key points (numbering from the Council 
minute):

4. the Council considers the Preliminary Environment Information Report 
(PEIR) to be deficient in a number of areas and it fails the requirements of 
the relevant Regulations.

5. the Council considers that further design work, environmental assessment 
and consultation needs to be carried out on the Thong Lane Bridge north 
and the tunnel portal to mitigate the impacts of the scheme on local 
residents through consideration of, amongst other things:

i. Extension of the tunnel southwards whether bored or cut and cover.

ii. Widening of the Thong Lane green bridge to a minimum of 80m.

iii. Mitigation for Riverview Park and Thong residents from the impacts of 
noise, disturbance and air quality

6. the environmental impact of the new LTC/A2/M2 junction on the A2 corridor 
is unacceptable and further detailed work is required if an acceptable 
solution is to be produced, which needs to address, amongst other things:

i. Design speed of the junction slip roads ensuring free flow.

ii. Width of Thong Lane South and Brewers Road green bridges.

iii. Loss of HS1 landscaping and the overall impact on landscape, nature 
conservation and historic environment, particularly in the Kent Downs 
Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty.

7. the Council considers that the Gravesend East junction should connect 
direct to the A2/M2 east-bound and, if possible, Lower Thames Crossing but 
that it is not in a position to make a definitive judgement in the absence of a 
proper assessment of alternative junction designs and detailed highway 
modelling.

Page 16



3

8. the Council cannot provide a definitive view on the issue of variable 
charging, given the lack of information, transport modelling and 
consequential impacts, but basic principles should be:

i. Same charging regime at both Dartford Crossing and Lower Thames 
Crossing.

ii. GBC residents receive the same discount as those in Dartford and 
Thurrock which should apply to both crossings and start from 
commencement of construction.

iii. No additional charging in the peaks.

iv. A proportion of the revenues collected from tolls should be paid to a 
Community Fund administered by this Council to undertake leisure and 
other projects that will benefit the local community.

v. The above and other matters should be examined in detail through a 
working group.

9. the Council considers that the transport modelling needs to reflect the 
requirements of the Infrastructure Planning (Environmental Impact 
Assessment) Regulations 2017, National Policy Statement for National 
Networks (2014), and the National Planning Policy Framework (2018), and 
associated guidance, upon Local Authorities for the delivery of housing.

10. there is considerable concern over the wider impacts on the wider highway 
network in Kent, in particular on A227, A228, A229 and M2 and well as the 
potential implications for local roads from the junction arrangements. These 
are not assessed as part of this consultation and this is a serious omission 
on the part of Highways England. It is imperative that a full assessment is 
conducted and that any improvements to the local strategic highway network 
found necessary are programmed and implemented prior to the opening of 
the new Crossing. The Council is particularly concerned at the absence of 
any evaluation of the Bluebell Hill junction on the A229 and considers that 
the suggestion of vehicles using the A249 as an alternative is completely 
unrealistic.

11. the information about the construction compounds is unclear and there is 
considerable concern over the implications for local residents and the 
environment given the long timescale involved and the activities that may 
take place.

12. there will be considerable disruption to the lives of residents both during the 
construction period and when the Crossing is in use and there should be 
arrangements for adequate financial compensation to those affected.

13. during the construction phase Highways England should require its 
contractors to use local labour wherever possible, including the creation of 
apprenticeships to provide a long term legacy of a higher skills base in the 
area.

2. Supplementary Consultation

2.1 The current consultation is made up of the following basic documents, which need 
to be seen in relation to the scheme set out in the statutory consultation in 
October 2018:

 Guide to supplementary consultation (main consultation document)

 Traffic Modelling Update

Page 17



4

 Utilities Update

 Environmental Impact Update

 Map Book 1: General Arrangements

 Map Book 2: Land Use Plans

 Map Book 3: Engineering Plans
2.2 The main proposed changes have been driven by more detailed consideration of 

the design of the scheme and its mitigation. In particular, work has been 
undertaken in respect of the construction process and utilities diversions. The 
consultation is accompanied by a new ‘red line’ boundary and some further clarity 
on land required for the scheme (including mitigation land) and that required 
temporarily for construction purposes. 

2.3 Some of the provisions contain elements that constitute alternatives or where the 
project hopes to reduce the scale of impact from more detailed design.  For the 
purposes of responding to this consultation however the comments have to 
assume all elements will be implemented to their maximum extent.

2.4 Main proposals changes from the River Thames in the north to the A2 in the south 
include to both the design and arising from the construction process (more detail 
can be found in Appendix 4):

i. Counter bored tunnel (5.8m diameter) under marshes at shallower depth 
for ground stabilisation works in advance of the main tunnel boring 
machines, plus construction sites, from Lower Higham Road to the 
marshes north of the railway and canal

ii. Extension of the working areas along the A226 Rochester Road for 
construction purposes, spoil storage, and creation of ‘Chalk Park’

iii. Three options for location of an electricity sub-station along the A226
iv. Extending the tunnel by 350m to the south
v. Changes to the Public Rights of Way diversions as a result of moving the 

tunnel portal
vi. Changes to the planting proposals in the corridor from A226 to A2
vii. Widening of the Thong Lane land bridge to 80m
viii. Demolition of additional three residential properties and a business at 

Thong
ix. Inclusion of a new planting area SW of Marling Cross junction
x. Revised A2 junction design including a direct link from Marling Cross 

junction onto the M2 coastbound 
xi. Marling Cross junction becomes a gyratory system over the A2 with traffic 

signals
xii. Narrowing of A2/A289 through the Kent Downs Area of Outstanding 

Natural Beauty (AoNB) through changes to lane width and central 
reservation

xiii. Increasing the width of Thong Lane South bridge and re-alignment 
Brewers Road bridge to avoid works on HS1 structures

xiv. Amended proposals for the diversion of NCR177 cycleway south of HS1
xv. Provision for utility diversions/additions

Page 18



5

o New electricity cable under old A2 from Pepper Hill to Marling Cross 
and then north to tunnel portal area to the proposed electricity 
substation

o Diverted major gas main from Marling Cross to Park Pale via north 
Thong Lane Bridge, Inn on the Lake, southern edge of Shorne Wood 
Country Park and Brewers Wood

o Utilities diversions under A226 from the tunnel portal areas through 
Higham and another under Halfpence Lane, The Street, Jeskyns 
Road and Henhurst Road Cobham

o Southern route for utilities from Marling Cross under A2 and HS1, 
east beneath Jeskyns and thence north under Ashenbank Wood to 
Inn on the Lake or the northern end of Halfpence Lane.  Also along 
northern edge of Cobham Park to the Rochester and Cobham Park 
Golf Club access

o Revised footpath/cycleway diversions as a result of the physical 
design changes

o Possible construction routes – mainly A2, A226, A289 but also Lower 
Higham Road and Ordnance Road/Canal Road for the work sites on 
the marshes

2.5 This report is focussed on the route in Gravesham, but there are a series of 
proposed alterations in Thurrock as well, which can be found in the consultation 
documentation.  There are, however, some alterations which have a wider 
significance:

 The LTC between the M25 and A13 southbound is reduced from 3 lanes to 2 
lanes

 The A13 junction has modifications but it remains that, travelling north on 
LTC, it is not possible to turn west without first going east and using a junction 
to come back west (i.e. access to Lakeside area is still easier via the Dartford 
Crossing). There is also an issue of how anyone accidentally using the 
crossing gets back to Kent.

 The service area has been deleted at the tunnel portal which means that there 
are no services on the LTC link, even though the current Cobham Services 
are being lost, which may have implications for lorry parking and driver 
welfare

 As a result, there is no active provision for an access road into Tilbury port 
(though the just published Road Investment Strategy make reference to a new 
road into Tilbury)

2.6 The project team has now decided, following consultation response and further 
technical analysis, that the Lower Thames Crossing charge will be the same as at 
the Dartford Crossing. It is the intention that the project will include a local 
residents’ discount scheme which will ‘apply to residents of both Thurrock and 
Gravesham and will be implemented on a similar basis, with the same level that 
applies at Dartford’.  It is not currently clear if this means Gravesham residents will 
get the same discount at both crossings, or just LTC, but officers are seeking 
clarification on this issue.

3. Appraisal   

3.1 Appendix 2 contains a plan (found in more detail in Map Book 2) showing the 
areas contained in the current and 2018 red line boundaries and what they will, in 

Page 19



6

broad terms, be used for.  The grey is land not going to be used or acquired but is 
included for clarity.  The other categories are pink for land to used permanently 
(the scheme or landscaping/planting), yellow for permanent acquisition of subsoil 
and rights (i.e. Thames Tunnel), blue for temporary possession of land and 
permanent acquisition of rights (for utilities), and green for the temporary 
possession of land during construction.

3.2 Appendix 4 contains a more detailed explanation of what is being proposed and 
an appraisal of the environmental implications insofar as they can be determined 
at this stage and with the level of information made available. Appendix 3 contains 
the proposed response to the Highways England Consultation Questionnaire.

3.3 The consultation includes a number of proposed changes, in all or in part, along 
the lines suggested by the Borough Council back in 2018 and is therefore to be 
welcomed.  These include (with reference back to the Council’s 2018 response in 
para 1.5 above):

 Extension of Thames tunnel southwards by 350m (5(i))

 Widening the Thong Lane Green Bridge to 80m (5(ii))

 Width of Thong Lane South (widened from 15.8m to 29.5m) and Brewers 
Road has had its alignment changed (6(ii)) to avoid works on the HS1 tunnel

 New slip road from Marling Cross to M2 (7) – although that was caveated with 
a need to understand traffic impacts

 Discount for residents using the Lower Thames Crossing (8)
3.4 On the other hand, there are various proposals that either raise serious concerns 

or need further explanation:

 Ground stabilisation tunnel and resulting construction sites (new)

 Location of 50x50m electricity substation on Rochester Road (new)

 Chalk Park and the temporary storage of spoil (new)

 Understanding the overall logic and proposals for landscaping and planting on 
the east side of Gravesend

 Loss of property at Thong and impact on the conservation area (new)

 Further erosion on ancient woodland at Claylane Wood, Shorne Wood, 
Brewers Wood and Ashenbank Wood (some new)

 Nature conservation impacts on the SSSI’s (some new)

 Landscape impacts on the North Downs AoNB and the setting thereof

 Potential impacts on Cobham Park and the wider heritage landscape and 
assets

 New compensation sites at Ifield and adjoining Brewers Wood
3.5 The overall level of information supplied to support the consultation means that it 

is difficult to arrive at a view on some issues.  For example, the substation 
proposal at 50m x 50m is substantial (half the size of the HS1 facility at 
Singlewell).  Three locations are suggested but, without a plan and greater 
understanding of implications, recommending a specific response is not possible.

Page 20



7

4. Traffic modelling

4.1 As noted in the last report, there is a very large and complicated transport model 
covering the highway network.  Reservations were expressed last time about the 
calibration of the local network and the amount of development included in the 
model.

4.2 The model has been updated and amended, but the only information we have is 
that contained in the Traffic Update report which is described as:

The main future development areas, either with planning permission, a 
submitted planning application or within an adopted local plan, are included in 
the model …This information has been refreshed in our updated model, using 
information provided by local authorities in early 2019.  However, growth 
associated with government housing targets which have not yet fully 
progressed through the planning system is not included.

4.3 Kent County Council, as Highways Authority, was provided with an older version 
of the model and they commissioned consultants to undertake an appraisal. Their 
analysis of the old version of the model raises a number of issues that on current 
information it is not possible to answer.

4.4 The schedule of the development included in this version of the model was 
requested back in November and has not been supplied. It has been updated with 
information supplied by the Local Authorities, but still follows narrow WebTag 
rules.  For example, the development counted in Medway now reflects some of 
the employment permissions that were missing previously but fails to account for 
proposals to expand Hoo, for which Ministry of Housing Communities and Local 
Government has granted £170m. The Council has always made the point that 
Highways England may do a narrower version for Treasury Green Book appraisal 
purposes but, for Environmental Assessment, a ‘reasonable worst case’ is 
required.

4.5 Accurate assumptions for the modelling are essential. For example, the air quality 
impacts arising from the proposals are, to a large extent, dependent on the road 
traffic impacts modelled by the applicant which are used to estimate pollutant 
emissions from road traffic. Deficient assumptions would mean that the air quality 
impacts presented by the applicant could be underestimated.

5. Overall Process

5.1 The next stage in the process depends on how the project is proposed to 
progress.  At a public meeting at Thurrock Council it was stated by Highways 
England that there may need to be a further round of consultation.  Currently the 
target is to submit the DCO in ‘summer 2020’.    

5.2 This is a matter for the applicant, but they do need to be sure that their proposal is 
in a fit state for Examination.  At the submission stage, the Borough Council will 
have the opportunity to write formally to the Planning Inspectorate as to whether 
the consultation process has been adequately carried out – this is in terms of both 
process and content.

5.3 On the basis of the inadequate content of the Preliminary Environment Information 
Report (PEIR), as highlighted in 2018 and picked up by numerous other 
consultees, and the failure to address this in the new material, the current position 
would be that this Council would consider the consultation process deficient and 

Page 21



8

therefore that the application should not be accepted as adequate. It is 
understood that this concern is shared by a number of the other Local Authorities 
and Statutory bodies

6. Discussion

6.1 The new consultation is to be welcomed in formally taking the process forward 
and providing a point at which to take an overview of the project.  This can be 
divided into the following elements:

 Response to the consultation itself (as defined by the Highways England 
questionnaire)

 Review of the overall process
Supplementary consultation

6.2 Appendix 3 contains the proposed response to the Highways England 
Questionnaire, which focusses on the changes proposed.  As noted in paragraph 
3.3, some of these are positive in responding to points that the Borough Council 
has previously made.  These are to be welcomed, especially the further extension 
of the tunnel which has moved 950m south since the 2016 proposals. Even with 
these there are matters which need further exploration as any change is likely to 
have upsides and downsides.

6.3 The new or amended elements raise very major concerns on environmental 
grounds, especially in relation to ancient woodland.  The National Policy 
Statement on National Networks (para 5.32) is unequivocal on this matter:

“The Secretary of State should not grant development consent for any 
development that would result in the loss or deterioration of irreplaceable 
habitats including ancient woodland and the loss of aged or veteran trees 
found outside ancient woodland, unless the national need for and benefits of 
the development, in that location, clearly outweigh the loss.”  

6.4 When considering overall environmental effects on nature conservation, historic 
assets, and landscape on the A2 corridor, in combination these must be regarded 
as significantly adverse.

6.5 It is very difficult, other than at the most basic level, to assess environmental 
impacts due to the lack of information. There is no information about the possible 
implications of the ground preparation tunnel under the marshes on the water 
table, the introduction of grout or backfilling after its role is complete. 

6.6 The updated traffic modelling (along with the additional technical work undertaken 
for KCC) confirms many of the concerns previously expressed. For Gravesham 
itself the local roads around Cobham and Thong remain a major concern that 
needs more detailed information to understand the implications.  The impacts on 
A227 and Tollgate junction (A2) also need further exploration.  More widely, there 
are major issues with the M2, A228 and A229 which Highways England need to 
address, by whatever means, where they are a direct result of their Lower 
Thames Crossing project.

Overall process

6.7 Standing back from the immediate consultation there is a concern over a number 
of issues:

Page 22



9

 Lack of clarity of the status of information supplied at meetings, when a 
response is required and when not and how such feedback is considered by 
the project team.  

 The inadequacy of the PEIR has not been rectified. When the DCO is 
submitted the Borough Council has to inform PINS whether it feels the 
consultation, in terms of the Statement of Community Consultation (SoCC) 
produced by Highways England, has been met. 

 The scheme as currently proposed, even allowing for the inevitable 
consequences of developing proposals in more detail, is materially different 
from the route choice made in 2016 and therefore whether that choice is still 
correct

 Timing issues of the DCO submission in view of the above
6.8 The Council has taken legal advice on the tests to be applied to the PEIR, on 

which there is no case law.  The Planning Act 2018, the relevant regulations and 
other advice are written in general terms which leave a large amount of flexibility 
to the applicant. The Regulations say the information supplied should be that 
“…reasonably required for the consultation bodies to develop an informed view of 
the likely significant environmental effects”.

6.9 There are four generic tests (the so called ‘Gunning principles’ from a Supreme 
Court judgement) which apply to consultation exercises:

i. the  consultation must be at a time when proposals are still at a formative 
stage

ii. sufficient reasons must be given for any proposal to  allow for  intelligent 
consideration and response

iii. that adequate time must be given for consideration and response
iv. that the product of the consultation must be conscientiously taken into 

account in finalising any statutory proposals

6.10 The application of these tests will depend on the facts and circumstances of a 
particular case.  There is also the dynamic of the process of developing a scheme 
which means that additional proposals and information may come forward over 
time.

6.11 At this point in time the Borough Council’s conclusion is that adequate information 
is not being supplied to allow the Council to enable a fully informed response to 
consultation.

6.12 Thus, officers consider the Council should continue to object to the scheme in 
principle, given inadequate justification when considered against scheme 
objective, reasonable alternatives and overall adverse environmental impacts, and 
that the changes do not change the Council’s fundamental position.

6.13 Furthermore, should the scheme progress, the Council should expect Highways 
England to enter into direct negotiations on a substantial package of mitigation 
and compensation and that this should be agreed prior to submission

Climate Change

6.14 An issue not addressed in the consultation material is the implications for the 
project of the Government’s commitments on climate change. The recent Court of 
Appeal judgement on the Governments approach to the third runway at Heathrow 

Page 23



10

said that the Climate Change legislation needed to be taken into account.  By 
extension this may have implications for the National Policy Statement on National 
Networks.

7. BACKGROUND PAPERS

7.1 GBC response to October 2018 Statutory Consultation can be found at   
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/major-projects-and-
developments/lower-thames-crossing  and the consultation material at 
https://highwaysengland.citizenspace.com/ltc/consultation/

7.2 Highways England Supplementary consultation documents can be found at 
https://highwaysengland.co.uk/lower-thames-crossing-consultation2020/

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be 
directed to Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary 
arrangements.

Page 24

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/major-projects-and-developments/lower-thames-crossing
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/major-projects-and-developments/lower-thames-crossing
https://highwaysengland.citizenspace.com/ltc/consultation/
https://highwaysengland.co.uk/lower-thames-crossing-consultation2020/


IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
Lower Thames Crossing Supplementary Consultation

Legal The new red line boundary now includes proposals that would potentially 
Compulsory Purchase Gravesham Borough Council land.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

Limited financial costs at this stage but the DCO submission stage will require 
signfiicant resources

Risk Assessment High

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
Not applicable

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
Not applicable

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No - consultation response

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No - consultation response

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan #2 Place  Raise Gravesham's economc profile 
#2 Place Postively promote sustainable development

Crime and Disorder Not applicable

Digital and website 
implications

None

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

None

Page 25

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 3

Gravesham Borough Council response to Lower Thames Crossing Consultation (DRAFT)

1 Changes to the route

For the purposes of this supplementary consultation, we have divided our proposed route for the 
Lower Thames Crossing into two sections, starting with the section south of the river in Kent, then 
the section to the north of the river in Thurrock and Essex.

A detailed description of our proposed route for the Lower Thames Crossing is in chapter 3 of the 
guide and is presented in the Map Books.

South of the river in Kent

This refers to the section of the proposed route starting at the M2/A2 and ending at the southern 
tunnel entrance.

The guide describes the proposed changes to sections of the M2/A2 around the junction with the 
Lower Thames Crossing. Changes include removing the M2/A2 link at M2 junction 1, which is 
replaced with a new link road connecting Valley Drive to the A2 eastbound; M2/A2 narrowing; 
changes to the M2/A2 junction; A2 local connections and the southern tunnel entrance move and 
redesign.

Q1a. Do you support or oppose the proposed changes south of the river?

Please refer to chapter 3 of the guide.

Strongly support Support Neutral Oppose



Strongly oppose Don’t know

Q1b. Please let us know the reasons for your response to Q1a and any other comments you have 
on the proposed changes south of the river.

General note:  

The comments provided below are ‘without prejudice’ to the Council’s in principle 
opposition to the Government’s preferred route choice for Lower Thames Crossing on 
the grounds that such a choice has yet to be properly justified on the basis of evidence 
set against scheme objectives and the assessment of reasonable alternatives.

Irrespective of this, whilst the Council welcomes some of the changes proposed since 
the previous consultation, the significant adverse community and environmental 
impacts of the proposals are a cause for major concern, as is the fact that many still 
remain to be understood as the scheme develops.  This may mean that, ultimately, 
any such proposal remains unacceptable in policy terms.

 Attention is also drawn to the response made under Question 8 below, in terms of the 
adequacy of consultation and other issues relating to information and evidence 
provided to date.

In the responses provided below:

 Access to/from the A289 means access to the parallel roads north and south of 

Page 29



main road that serve the A289 Wainscott bypass and the A2 into Strood and 
start just east of Marling Cross.

 M2 means access to the M2, which is effectively extended west from Junction 
1 to a point just east of the existing Marling Cross junction (Gravesend East).

 Local link road means the local road link to the south of the main road running 
from Marling Cross to the Halfpence Lane roundabout at Cobham. Note that 
the existing section of this running east-west which was called Thong Lane has 
been renamed Darnley Lodge Lane to sort out address confusion in this area. 

Tunnel Portal (Southern)

The Council welcomes the decision to move the tunnel portal 350 metres further to the 
south – making a 950m change overall from the 2016 proposal consulted on at the 
non-statutory stage.

A2 junction with Lower Thames Crossing

The inclusion of the link from Marling Cross onto the M2 eastbound rather than just 
onto the Lower Thames Crossing is a result of comments received at the Statutory 
Consultation stage.  Whilst this is welcomed in principle, the lack of any robust 
transport modelling and objective assessment of the benefits of improved connectivity, 
compared to the increased complexity of the junction and associated environmental 
impacts, makes it extremely difficult to make a judgement on this change.  

Further, the consultation material lacks sectional and detailed drawings portraying how 
the junction would sit in the landscape and relate to its surroundings.  Whilst the visual 
images provided are useful, they are insufficient for consultees and the public to make 
a proper assessment of impact and attention is drawn to comments made by the 
Council previously on having a proper computer generated terrain model which could 
be used to more accurately understand landscape impacts.  

This is a particularly sensitive landscape where a statutory duty exists in relation to the 
preservation of the natural beauty of the Kent Downs AoNB and the proposals are also 
likely to result in cumulative substantial harm both to the setting of a Grade II* 
designated park and garden at Cobham Hall, its setting and a wide range of 
designated and non-designated assets.  The use of such a design tool in the context 
of what is a £6.8bn scheme would therefore have been fully justified in order to 
understand, minimise and mitigate significant adverse effects.

The Council would also question the realism attached to the illustrative material in that 
it shows extensive planting between different elements of the junction, where access 
for maintenance would be extremely difficult.  It is questionable therefore whether the 
final form of the junction will be capable of being mitigated to this extent and it is 
requested that what is presented at the DCO application stage should be realistic.  In 
this respect, the Council is well aware from the construction of HS1 and the previous 
A2 widening, that outcomes do not always reflect original aspirations.

It would also have been useful if an initial safety audit of the junction design had been 
published alongside the Supplementary Consultation, given it remains uncertain as to 
whether the junction is deliverable in this form or if further substantive design changes 
will be required.

Page 30



The promoter is also reminded that the original proposals for the Western Southern 
Link (WSL) proposed a 50MPH design speed for the junction and this only increased 
to 70MPH following the preferred option for the Eastern Southern Link (ESL) being 
dropped.  Returning to a 50MPH design speed for the WSL may not significantly alter 
the geometry, and therefore the impact of this element, but it should at least be 
properly considered and presented as a reasonable alternative within the 
Environmental Statement (ES) at the DCO application stage.

Detailed Comments

These comments follow the numbering of the changes as listed on pages 22 to 25 of 
the Guide to Supplementary Consultation and figures 5.1 to 5.10 on pages 26 to 30.  
Map Book 3 (Engineering Plans) has also informed these comments.

1 Relocation of the private maintenance and access road:  this is logical but will 
need to be carefully designed to fit into the overall landscape.  It will also have to 
relate to wherever the proposed electricity substation is located.

2 Southern portal: The Council welcomes this being moved southwards as noted 
above with the caveat that the scheme now impacts directly on Gravesham Borough 
Council land and this will need to be subject to detailed discussions as to mitigation, 
compensation and the master planning of the residual area lying between Thong Lane 
and the Lower Thames Crossing.

3 Alterations to private maintenance road: This replicates what existed in the 
previous design. It is unclear whether this is simply for maintenance and emergency 
service access or whether it would be used if it became necessary to turn traffic 
around in the event of a tunnel closure.  How accessible will this road be (i.e. will it be 
gated) since it is an obvious location where unauthorised encampments, U turns or 
parking could occur?

4 Thong Lane Green Bridge: The enlargement of the Green Bridge is welcome but 
greater understanding is needed of how this relates to the Thong Conservation Area.  
It is noted here that two of the 1920s semi-detached properties within the 
Conservation Area, constructed as part of the London County Council smallholdings 
(Home for Heroes) scheme, would be demolished.  This is a cause for concern as it 
would cause significant harm to a key feature of this designated heritage asset.  Such 
demolition would need to be fully justified, mitigated and be subject of a 
comprehensive package of compensatory measures that will (amongst other things) 
need to be discussed with this authority.  Officers have undertaken extensive research 
on the historic significance of Thong in the context of the wider Darnley Estate and 
encourage Highways England to engage with this authority on the matter in more 
detail.

5  Direct link from Marling Cross junction to the eastbound M2:  Subject to the 
caveats set out above, this is welcomed.  Access to the A289 is understood to be via 
the local feeder road and Brewers Road junction. 

6 Signage coming east along the A2 from Tollgate: The Borough Council wishes 
to express significant concerns over this section of the proposed scheme given the 
complexity of movements that are likely to take place and the signage that would be 
required.  Apart from the addition of merging traffic from the A2/A227 Tollgate junction, 

Page 31



drivers will face a 4-way choice of route between leaving the road at Gravesend 
East/Marling Cross; joining the Lower Thames Crossing route; taking the parallel 
feeder leading to the A289/A2; or passing directly through on the extended M2.  This 
choice would need to take place in a relatively short distance which implies a 
significant amount of weaving.  The reduction of what is the M2 through the junction to 
2 lanes does not look sensible given existing flows, but without detailed traffic figures it 
is not possible to judge how realistic it is.  Given the constricted nature of the A13 
junction in Thurrock, the Dartford Crossing is likely to remain the preferred route to 
access parts of Thurrock and East London, so a considerable proportion of 
movements are likely to consist of through traffic.

7 Marling Cross junction:  The Supplementary Consultation shows this converted 
into a gyratory system with two sets of traffic signals, whereby local traffic wishing to 
pass from Valley Drive to Hever Court Road would have to cross over the A2 and then 
return in a northbound direction to make what is currently a simple local trip.  No 
transport modelling has been provided to justify such a change; no information is 
provided on alternatives and why these were discounted; and no information is 
provided on how close to capacity the junction would be.  The impression given is that 
the proposed change is a matter of expediency, instead of undertaking a full junction 
upgrade that will provide a long-term solution.  Given this would be detrimental to local 
people living north and south of the A2 at this point, and may have knock-on effects on 
the local road network, the Council wishes to better understand why this is being 
proposed and the alternatives considered. The starting point should be that direct 
access between Valley Drive and Hever Court Road should be maintained at this 
point.  Concern is also expressed over potential changes in flows in Henhurst Road 
that may occur as a result of the scheme both during the construction and operational 
phases.

8 + 8a Loss of Cobham junction on and off slips allowing direct access to 
the main road: The loss of the Cobham junction on/off slips has benefits in that the 
impact on Halfpence Lane is an apparent reduction in traffic. However there are other 
factors at work including an increase in traffic on Cobhambury Road coming up from 
Cuxton.  This would, at first sight, appear to be a result of a combination of congestion 
of the A228/M2 and the inclusion of Peter’s Bridge, Halling in the modelling, but more 
detailed analysis of traffic figures are needed to understand the net effects.  Clearly, it 
is not desirable to induce increased flows of traffic along narrow rural lanes south of 
the A2 and through Cobham Village in particular, and any unacceptable adverse 
effects will require mitigation.  

The Council has significant concerns over the potential impact of the temporary 
closure of the Brewers Road bridge to allow reconstruction; the severing of direct links 
on and off the Strategic Road Network at this point; and the fact that those wishing to 
access the M2 eastbound from Brewers Road will be diverted down and back up the 
A289 to Higham to do so (Figure 5 – 6).  The lack of an overall construction 
programme means that it is impossible to place individual elements in a wider context 
and see the interactions between them.

These changes are likely to have a significant negative impact on Shorne Woods 
Country Park; the Rochester and Cobham Golf Club; Cobham Hall School; local 
businesses in the villages to the north and south of the A2; and cause disruption to the 

Page 32



daily lives of local people.  No formal assessment appears to have been undertaken of 
either these impacts or those on the local road network during the construction period.  
These need to be understood before any conclusion is reached on the acceptability of 
the proposals, having regard to mitigation measures and an appropriate package of 
compensation.

In addition, if as a result of the proposed highway changes, the roundabout to the 
south of the A2 at Halfpence Lane becomes redundant or a less intrusive junction 
design could replace it, consideration should be given to the removal of the 
roundabout and the inclusion of improved landscaping.  This could form part of the 
landscape mitigation/compensation package associated with the scheme.

9 Traffic signals on Brewers Road: Since this junction functions perfectly well as 
an access onto the mainline A2 at present, it is not clear why traffic signals are needed 
here even allowing for increased flows from Marling Cross to reach the A289.  A fuller 
explanation is required, given a signalised junction would appear to be at odds with 
what is supposed to be a rural location within the Kent Downs AoNB.

10 Narrowing of M2/A2 lanes and central reservation.  The loss of the vegetated 
central reservation will have a significant and regrettable negative impact on the 
landscape and views from the east. Loss of vegetation to the south side of the road 
west of the Brewers Road junction will also have a negative impact.  On balance this 
increases the urbanisation of this stretch of the Kent Downs AoNB and the severance 
of the woodlands north and south of the A2 that once formed part of the wider 
Cobham Park.  

The consultation material is poor and misleading in respect of presenting such 
impacts.  For example, page 30 of Map Book 3: Engineering Plans includes a ‘typical 
cross-section’ of the widened A2/M2 at a point immediately west of the Brewers Road 
junction.  Not only does this fail to compare existing with proposed, it also omits the 
proposed feeder road to the south of main carriageways and the HS1 cutting. The 
central reservation in the cross section is shown in the order of 11m, whereas from the 
drawings it generally seems to be more like 5m. The entire corridor, including HS1, 
needs to be treated as a whole. The landscape solution that eventually came forward 
as part of the HS1/A2 widening package was not particularly successful and the 
proposed new works will result in significant cumulative harm.  The issue of the loss of 
HS1 landscaping and mitigation has not been addressed.

The Council would also argue that further sectional drawings should have been 
provided along this section of the route, comparing existing with proposed and 
showing the full width of the transport corridor to demonstrate impacts.  The current 
highway is set at varying levels at some points and this is likely to result in a need for 
retaining walls that are also likely to make the corridor more urban and harsh.

Whilst it may have other negative effects, the Council would argue that consideration 
should be given to retaining planting between the main carriageways and HS1 to the 
south to soften impact and decrease severance.  Even if this is not considered to be 
the optimum design solution, it is a reasonable alternative and it should have been 
properly considered and evidenced within the Supplementary Consultation so that it 
could be formally set aside prior to submission.

11 A2 Eastbound Link.  Whilst the need to remove this direct link on safety grounds 

Page 33



is understood given highway safety and the constraints imposed by the highway 
design solution associated with the route, the potential negative consequences set out 
under points 8 and 8a above still need to be addressed.

12 Widening of the Thong Lane (north) bridge:   This change is welcomed in that it 
provides a substantially improved green link over the trace of the road.  However, as 
noted above, there is a need to fully understand what this means in terms of impacts 
on Thong.  Of particular concern are impacts on the heritage value of the 
Conservation Area and implication in terms of traffic flows and highway safety.  
Negative impacts need to be addressed through a comprehensive package of 
mitigation and/or compensation resourced by the project.  On-going monitoring will 
also need to be undertaken as part of a requirement attached to the DCO, with 
triggers included whereby the promoter is required to undertake remedial measures 
where unacceptable residual effects are identified.

13 – 15 Changes to A2/LTC junction design:  Whilst the functional changes in 
design are generally welcomed, the lack of more detailed drawings, sections and a 
computer generated landscape terrain model through which impacts could be better 
understood means that it is not possible to comment further at this stage.  Other 
comments in relation to the junction, set out above apply.

16 Widening of Thong Lane (south) bridge over A2 from 15.8m to 29.5m:  The 
inclusion of a wider green bridge here is welcomed as it will improve connectivity of 
the woodlands to the north and south of the A2.  

However, in the absence of ecological survey data and an expert appraisal of the 
impact of the rest of the proposal (including increased levels of traffic etc.) it is not 
possible to determine whether this is sufficient.  An interim report on nature 
conservation impacts due to severance would have been useful, detailing before and 
after scenarios, outlining the proposed package of mitigation/compensation measure 
of which the green bridges only form part.  

In terms of the design of any green bridges, it is suggested that the guidance issued 
by Natural England and the Landscape Institute be followed in terms of the ratio of 
width to length.  The Council is also mindful of the fact that both the Thong Lane and 
Brewers Road bridges are located some distance apart following an older highway 
network and that additional measures may also be required to improve wildlife 
connectivity and reduce severance.  The promoter will need to clearly set out how their 
proposals seek to address this based on evidence and supported by expert advice.

In addition to the above, the Council is concerned that the highway improvements here 
may induce additional flows through Thong and any adverse impacts will need to be 
addressed.  Similar comments as those set out under point 12 apply.

17 Marling Cross bridge widened from 19 metres to 24 metres, to provide 4 
lanes:  The comments provided at point 7 above apply.  In addition, the Council would 
wish to ensure that the ability of non-motorised users accessing the countryside to the 
south and the Forest England site at Jeskyns is not impaired.

18 New bridge over HS1 drainage pond:  Noted.  Any drainage or ecological 
implications of this would need to be understood as part of the scheme and addressed 
through mitigation as necessary.

Page 34



19 Reduction in length of tunnel under A2 at new junction from 227 metres to 
175 metres:  Noted.  This forms part of new junction design and more detailed 
comments set out above apply.

20 Change in alignment of new Brewers Road bridge to avoid HS1 tunnel:  
Noted.  This appears to be a technical change to avoid a constraint.

North of the river in Thurrock and Essex

This refers to the section of the proposed route starting at the northern tunnel entrance and ending 
at the connection with the M25 at junction 29.

As presented in the guide, we have split this into four sub-sections:

 The area around the previously proposed Tilbury junction (changes include: the northern tunnel 
entrance redesign, removal of the rest and service area and maintenance depot, and reducing 
the length of the Tilbury viaduct).

 The area around the A13/A1089 junction (changes include: moving slip roads and connecting 
roads away from properties, moving the Lower Thames Crossing route 60 metres closer to 
Linford, retaining the existing Rectory Road and closing part of Hornsby Lane).

 The area around the Lower Thames Crossing junction with the M25 (changes include: removal of 
one lane southbound between the M25 to A13, the routing and structures through the Mardyke 
and reducing the height of the LTC where it crosses North Road).

 The area around the A127 with the M25 junction 29 (changes include: moving and shortening 
some lanes around the junction and raising Franks Farm bridge).

Previously proposed Tilbury junction

Q1c. Do you support or oppose the removal of a dedicated rest and service area and maintenance 
depot for the Lower Thames Crossing, the junction at Tilbury and changes that result from this? 
Please refer to chapter 3 of the guide.

Strongly support Support Neutral



Oppose Strongly oppose Don’t know

Q1d. Please let us know the reasons for your response to Q1c and any other comments you have 
on the removal of a dedicated rest and service area and maintenance depot for the Lower Thames 
Crossing, the junction at Tilbury and the changes that result from this.

With the removal of the services at Cobham and without the proposed service area at 
Tilbury, the closest alternatives between Dover and the M25 would be Farthing Corner at 
Gillingham and South Mimms in Hertfordshire.  It is not clear therefore what the services 
strategy for the new link will be, which is of significant concern to this authority.  Thurrock 
Services are an alternative, but require use of the Dartford Crossing.  This is a wider issue 
than just the provision of services as it has implications for lorry parking which is a major 
issue across Kent.

In addition, the complete removal of the junction arrangements at Tilbury would appear to 
preclude any direct connection in the future between the Lower Thames Crossing and 

Page 35



Tilbury Docks.  The just issued Road Investment Strategy 2: 2020-2025 appears to 
include a Tilbury Link Road so clarification is sought on what is being proposed and its 
wider implications. Should the scheme be built, this would seem to be rather short sighted 
given the strategic nature of Tilbury Docks and the investment being brought forward in 
the area.

A13/A1089 junction

Q1e. Do you support or oppose the proposed changes in the area around the A13/ A1089 
junction? Please refer to chapter 3 of the guide.

Strongly support Support Neutral



Oppose Strongly oppose Don’t know

Q1f. Please let us know the reasons for your response to Q1e and any other comments you have 
on the proposed changes in the area around the A13/A1089 junction.

The proposed junction provides inadequate connectivity to the west with Thurrock and 
East London via the A13 reducing the attractiveness of the Lower Thames Crossing as an 
alternative to the Dartford Crossing.  This poor connectivity is likely to mean that the 
economic benefits of such a crossing will be overstated, as will its contribution to wider 
network resilience.  Comments under question 1h below also apply along with the 
comment in RIS2 in the answer to Q1d.

Lower Thames Crossing and its junction with the M25

Q1g. Do you support or oppose the proposed changes in the area around the Lower Thames 
Crossing and its junction with the M25? Please refer to chapter 3 of the guide.

Strongly support Support Neutral



Oppose Strongly oppose Don’t know

Q1h. Please let us know the reasons for your response to Q1g and any other comments on the 
proposed changes in the area around the Lower Thames Crossing and its junction with the M25.

The key change here is the omission of the third lane southbound between the M25 and 
the A13 based on updated transport modelling.  In the absence of a full updated transport 
modelling report, rather than a short summary document, it is not possible to comment in 
a meaningful way as to whether this change has been properly justified.  It is assumed 
that this has only been considered under normal operating conditions, based on low inputs 
that do not fully take into account levels of growth required by Government.  The Council 
would question therefore whether the assumptions underpinning the transport modelling 
are sufficiently robust to make such a change and would like to see the evidence.  

Furthermore, one of the scheme objectives is to improve network resilience and the 

Page 36



promoter has based the case for Lower Thames Crossing, to a large extent, on the basis 
that providing an alternative route option provides such resilience.  However, this will be 
illusory if insufficient capacity is built into the system to cope with incidents with the third 
lane removed.  The most likely form of incident that would require a diversion from the 
M25 via Lower Thames Crossing would be an accident on the M25/A282 or closure of the 
Dartford Bridge due to high winds etc.  

Given closures of the crossing due to high wind are likely to increase over time due to 
climate change, the effect of such an incident on network flows should be tested on the 
basis of more realistic development totals throughout the fully modelled area and be 
adequately consulted upon before any decision is made to remove the third lane.

M25 junction 29

Q1i. Do you support or oppose the proposed changes in the area around the M25 junction 29? 
Please refer to chapter 3 of the guide.

Strongly support Support Neutral Oppose Strongly oppose



Don’t know

Q1j. Please let us know the reasons for your response to Q1i and any other comments on the 
proposed changes in the area around the M25 junction 29.

No comments.

2. Revised development boundary

Since statutory consultation we have continued to develop our proposals and modify the area of 
land that may be required to enable construction of the Lower Thames Crossing, and to provide 
mitigation for some of the impacts of building it. This is called the revised development boundary. 
Some of this land would be required permanently, while other areas would only be required on a 
temporary basis. Please refer to chapter 4 of the guide.

Q2a. Do you support or oppose the changes to the proposed area of land that would be required 
to build the Lower Thames Crossing?

Strongly support Support Neutral Oppose



Strongly oppose Don’t know

Q2b. Please let us know the reasons for your response to Q2a and any other comments you have 
on the proposed changes to land that would be required to build the Lower Thames Crossing. This 
includes feedback on the impact the project would have on any land that you own or have another 
legal interest in.

The area covered by the red line boundary of the project in Gravesham has increased 
substantially (over 30%) to include additional land (in particular) around the southern 
tunnel portal; south of the A2 to allow for utility diversions at Ashenbank Wood 

Page 37



(SSSI/Ancient Woodland/part of Grade II* listed historic park and garden); at Jeskyns 
Community Woodland; and onto farmland to the west of Henhurst Road at Ifield.

Some of this land is for temporary occupation whilst works are undertaken; for permanent 
retention of subsoil rights for utility diversions; and for permanent retention of land 
occupied by highway or mitigation planting.

Notwithstanding the inadequacies of both the PEIR and current Supplementary 
Consultation in terms of setting out likely significant environmental impacts based on 
evidence, it is likely that the revised scheme would result in higher levels of temporary and 
permanent harm than even the scheme as presented prior to the preferred route choice.  

Some of the additional land-take is the result of an additional utility diversion that was not 
identified either in the 2016 consultation or at the 2018 Statutory Consultation.  The 
Council is extremely concerned that the presence of the medium pressure gas main 
appears to have been missed previously, given the implications of its existence should 
have been taken into account when Government made its preferred route choice in 2017 
and subsequently. The promoter has also omitted sites along Thong Lane / Gravesend 
Road without setting out evidence to show they will not be harmed, as such the extent of 
the redline boundary may still need to be expanded and alternative provision made for 
existing uses.  Particular attention is drawn to the Gypsy and Traveller site in fairly close 
proximity to the portal site on Rochester Road. We are aware that north of the river in 
Thurrock, Highways England has “identified two potential locations for the relocation of the 
traveller’s site”. One is adjacent to its current location with access off Long Lane, the other 
is further to the west along Long Lane opposite the junction with Kerry Road” and we 
would want the project team to consider similar arrangements in Gravesham.

As such, the Council cannot support the change in the red line boundary in the absence of 
a detailed appraisal of the implications of the additional land take required south of the A2 
for the utility diversions and a reassessment of the proposal against reasonable 
alternatives – including (firstly) alternative route choices and (secondly) a comparison of 
the relative harm of the Eastern Southern Link compared to the Western Southern Link 
(the current scheme) from the 2016 consultation.  This should clearly have been produced 
alongside the Supplementary Consultation and this is considered to be a serious 
omission.

In terms of the additional land-take around the southern tunnel portal, insufficient 
information has been provided on potential impacts as a result of construction activity and 
subsequent mitigation.  

For example, in terms of cultural heritage, very little information has been provided to date 
on archaeological potential – particularly in relation to the area of land the construction site 
would extend over east of Thong Lane.  Elsewhere, it is understood that there may be 
archaeological potential but it is very unclear how this has informed where construction 
sites or temporary spoil heaps would go.

On the basis of the information provided it is also unclear what the impact of the 
construction sites on nearby residents would be and this makes it extremely difficult for the 
Council to comment on either the acceptability of their location, scale or operation.  For 
the avoidance of doubt, the Council will not support any extension to the red line boundary 
that would result in activities leading to an unacceptable adverse impact to sensitive 

Page 38



receptors - human or otherwise.  

It will be for the promoter to produce substantive and convincing evidence that there will 
not be unacceptable adverse impacts based on the precautionary principle – if in doubt, 
rule it out.  

The issue of the use of temporary spoil heaps to reduce HGV movements during the 
period of construction is dealt with under Question 5 below.

Much of the permanent land-take and extension to the red line boundary relates to 
mitigation.  However, in the absence of evidence as to the scale and form of impacts and 
how the scheme of mitigation has been designed to address these in a coherent way, the 
Council cannot agree to the red line boundary.  It is unclear what the logic of the areas is 
both in terms of what they are mitigating or compensating for and what they will achieve in 
their own terms.

Previous comments made by the Council in respect of this have pointed out the need to 
understand the multi-layered significance of landscape and the way it has developed in 
historic context and to design mitigation accordingly.  The sensitivity of this location to 
inappropriate and ill-thought out interventions cannot be overstated.

Another issue that needs to be addressed is land use and permanent retention of land on 
the viability of farm units and practicality of agricultural production.  Where is the evidence 
on this and how has this informed both the red line boundary and what appears on the 
plans?  Again, the Council would not wish to support the red line boundary until such time 
it has a clear understanding of this aspect.

The other area where the red line boundary has changed relates to the 5.8m diameter 
pilot tunnel running between Lower Higham Road and the Metropolitan Police Firing 
Range.  This aspect will be dealt with in further detail below.

It is noted that part of the land to be acquired by the promoter is currently owned by the 
Council and forms part of the Cascades complex.  This will need to be the subject of 
detailed discussions with the Council’s Property Services department to determine the 
way forward and to ensure that any agreement facilitates the proper planning of the area 
and the delivery of the Council’s corporate objectives.

3. Walkers, cyclists and horse riders

Since statutory consultation we have carried out further analysis on how we can maintain, improve 
and upgrade the walking, cycling and horse-riding network in the area affected by the Lower Thames 
Crossing. We have also been looking at improving access routes for pedestrians and cyclists to public 
transport. Please refer to chapter 5 of the guide and the Map Book1: General Arrangement.

Q3a. Do you support or oppose our proposals for walkers, cyclists and horse riders?

Strongly support Support Neutral



Oppose Strongly oppose Don’t know

Page 39



Q3b. Please let us know the reasons for your response to Q3a and any other comments you have 
on our proposals for walkers, cyclists and horse riders.

It is extremely important that the needs of non-motorised users are properly addressed as 
the scheme progresses.  Opportunities to walk, cycle or ride a horse should be improved 
or at least be made no less commodious as a result of the proposal in the interests of 
prioritising more sustainable modes of transport; to support recreational use of the 
countryside; and healthy active lifestyles.  Where routes are severed or made less 
commodious as a result of the proposal, this will require special justification and adverse 
impacts mitigated or compensated.

The removal of the footbridge shown over the cutting south of the tunnel portal on the 
alignment of footpath NG7/NG9 is logical given the movement of the portal 350m to the 
south.  Whilst this would require a diversion resulting in a more circuitous route, it would 
be safer than the alternative.  However, such a change needs to be based on a greater 
understanding of the wider network of footpaths in the vicinity, their significance as historic 
routes, and their actual use/utility.  Because of the length of period of construction, there 
will also need to be agreement with both the Borough and County Councils on the 
provision of alternatives.

Footpath NG8 running from Thong Lane to the vicinity of Chalk Church will also be 
affected by the proposals and require diversion.  This is an important and popular route, 
allowing access to the wider footpath network in the countryside west of Shorne.  Once 
again, a temporary diversion will be required to provide a reasonable alternative.

The proposed Lower Thames Crossing will sever two key footpaths to the west of Thong, 
where they pass through open farmland.

• Footpaths NS167/174 forms an important route from the A2 at Gravesend East 
through Thong and onwards towards Shorne Woods Country Park.  

• Footpath NS169 forms an equally important route running from Michael Gardens 
at Riverview Park to join with NS167 on its eastward journey through Thong 
onwards to Shorne Woods.

Whilst NS169 follows in part the alignment of one of the dispersal routes of the old RAF 
Gravesend aerodrome, the route appears to be far more ancient.  The original public 
highway from Thong to Gravesend ran from Thong Lane westwards along what is now 
footpath NS167 before running to the north-west to link up with Whitehill Road.  Whilst this 
route has been severed by the development of Riverview Park, it appears to continue 
further to the north in the form of footpath NG11, which crosses The Warren at an angle 
before joining the public highway at the junction of Valley Drive with Livingstone Road.

This would have been the historic route between Gravesend and the River Thames and 
Thong, from whence it would have been possible to progress southwards down Thong 
Lane towards Cobham Hall and the Darnley Estate.  The footpath network here therefore 
should be considered as integral to a wider historic managed landscape that contributes 
towards the significance of the Thong Conservation Area as a designated heritage asset.

This will need to be taken into consideration in terms of the acceptability of diverting these 
footpaths to the south east, over the proposed Thong Lane green bridge.  

Page 40



The rerouting of National Cycle Route NCR177 is a matter of some concern given that the 
alternatives are far less commodious.  The current route is hard surfaced and benefits 
from borrowed lighting from the A2 where it runs adjacent to it between Gravesend East to 
Brewers Road.  It is an extremely popular route and is useable by road bikes, walkers and 
runners in all weathers and at night.  It is unclear what surfaces are proposed on the 
alternative routes south of the A2, which would need to be reached only after crossing and 
re-crossing the A2, and whether they would be useable in the same way.

To the north of the A2, the section of NCR177 that runs between Thong Lane and 
Brewers Road appears to be lost as a result of the proposals.  It is suggested here that 
consideration should be given to whether this could be replaced through the edge of 
Shorne Woods Country Park, subject to a consideration of environmental impacts on the 
SSSI/Ancient Woodland.  

The promoter is also proposing that as part of the diverted NCR177, part of footpath 
NS179 running between Halfpence Lane and Park Pale to the south of the A2 should be 
upgraded as a footpath/cycleway.  This route may also be used to facilitate utility 
diversions.   A key consideration here is that this footpath effectively forms the boundary 
to the Grade II* Cobham Hall registered park and garden, with the area in the immediate 
vicinity of Repton’s Ponds and the Grade II listed pump house being particularly sensitive.  

Any adverse impact on the significance of the designated heritage assets would be a 
material consideration, remembering that this would be in addition to the harm already 
caused by the construction and operation of HS1.  The Council’s initial view on this is that 
this should be avoided and reasonable alternatives considered.

It is considered that the Lower Thames Crossing would have a detrimental impact on non-
motorised users both in the short term during construction and in the longer term during 
the operational phase.  This will need to be mitigated and compensated as part of a wider 
package of improvements, which could also include off site works improving opportunities 
to walk and cycle within the adjoining urban area.  In addition, consideration should be 
given to providing opportunities for mobility impaired people to make use of the public 
rights network in the vicinity as a positive benefit of the scheme by way of compensation.

4. Environmental impacts and how we plan to reduce them

In the guide we have provided an overview of how the proposed changes affect the preliminary 
environmental information that was presented in our statutory consultation. Please refer to chapter 
6 of the guide and our Environmental Impacts Update document.

Q4a. Do you support or oppose the change to the environmental impacts of the Lower Thames 
Crossing

Strongly support Support Neutral Oppose



Strongly oppose Don’t know

Q4b. Please let us know the reasons for your response to Q4a and any other comments you have 
on the environmental impacts of the changes to the Lower Thames Crossing.

Page 41



Whilst a number of the proposed changes are welcomed, the Council and other 
stakeholders are in the position that they cannot fully understand the nature and scale of 
significant environmental impacts because the promoter has failed to publish sufficient 
evidence and analysis at the appropriate time.

This makes it impossible to make sense of the mitigation package in the immediate area 
of the proposal because it is unclear what is being mitigated and why, or what is intended 
to be compensation to offset impacts elsewhere and why it is being done at a particular 
location.  The Council would also make the point that compensation planting that is not 
required to mitigate direct impacts need not in itself take place in the immediate area of 
the project itself, and that there may be alternative locations within the Borough which are 
more appropriate for consideration.  

Bigger net gains might be achieved if this was done elsewhere or in a different form in 
accordance with a blue/green infrastructure strategy for a wider area that the redline 
boundary and the promoter is invited to work with the Council on developing such an 
evidenced based strategy towards which this project could contribute.

On this, attention is also drawn to Table 16.8 of the PEIR dealing with the climate change 
impacts of the scheme and how it is intended to deal with the issue of carbon 
management – including embodied carbon.  The commitment here in terms of mitigation 
states that the promoter will seek to reduce the carbon footprint of the project by taking the 
following actions:

• Avoid and prevent: maximise potential for reusing or refurbishing existing assets 
to reduce the extent of new construction required.

• Reduce: apply low carbon solutions (including technologies, materials and 
products) to minimise resource consumption during construction.  Construct 
efficiently, using techniques that reduce resource consumption over the 
construction phase of the project.

• Remediate: after addressing steps 1 and 2, the Project will identify, assess and 
integrate measures to further reduce carbon through on or off-site offsetting or 
sequestration.

Unfortunately, at the present time, the promoter has not published an assessment of the 
total carbon footprint of the project or the steps that will be taken to remediate it in 
accordance with the commitment in the PEIR.  

It is also noted that the recent Appeal Court ruling on the National Policy Statement for 
Airports has implications for the National Policy Statement for National Networks.  As this 
was given on 27 February 2020 this consultation could not take this into account, however 
the DCO submission will need to examine the implications of climate change policy on the 
proposal.

This is needed to at least identify and negotiate an appropriate scale of package, which 
could include an approach to blue/green infrastructure as set out above along with a 
commitment to fund other carbon offsetting measures, including a commitment to fund off-
site improvements to the local walking and cycling network in the local area to encourage 
sustainable alternatives to the car; a scheme to improve ferry services between 
Gravesend and Tilbury, which could include a change to electrical propulsion in line with 
the PLA strategy to achieve a zero-carbon river and provide an alternative to road based 

Page 42



trips; or even assistance for the Council to reduce its own organisational carbon footprint 
to offset that of the project itself.

It is suggested that all of the above be discussed with the Council as part of a wider 
package of mitigation, alongside compensation to the community to offset the impacts of 
the scheme during construction and operation and mechanisms by which local people can 
take direct advantage of employment and training opportunities associated with the 
project.

The Council would wish to express major concern about the proposed 5.8m diameter pilot 
tunnel running from Lower Higham Road to the Metropolitan Police Firing Range under 
the marshes.  These works are clearly non-trivial and have been introduced at a very late 
stage.  Whilst the length of tunnel is not long, the diameter actually exceeds that of the 
Northern Line extension in London.  

As an engineering work proposed beneath an environmentally sensitive area 
(Ramsar/SSSI) this would require EIA/HRA in its own right, irrespective of the rest of the 
proposal.  It is unacceptable therefore that the environmental information and evidenced 
based assessment of impacts within the Supplementary Consultation is so cursory. The 
precautionary principal has to apply until substantive evidence is available.

Similar criticisms can be levelled at the proposed utility diversions to the south of the A2 in 
the Shorne-Ashenbank Wood area – i.e. part SSSI/ancient woodland/Grade II* registered 
park and garden.  Once again, in the absence of a proper environmental impact 
assessment which clearly sets out the implications, it is not possible to make comments 
on whether or not this is acceptable or proposed mitigation is adequate.  As is set out 
under question 6 below, the Council considers that alternative options should be 
considered and an objection in principle is raised against this element of the works.  
Similar incursions into Shorne Woods SSSI to the north of the A2 will also be resisted.

Finally, it is noted that it is proposed to stockpile spoil arising from construction activities 
on site and to dispose of this later once the Lower Thames Crossing opens.  The reason 
for this is stated to be to reduce HGV movements and therefore impact on local people 
and the road network.  However, details on what this may mean in terms of impact and the 
alternative options have not been clearly set out in the Supplementary Consultation and it 
is not therefore possible to make a judgement on whether this is acceptable or proposed 
mitigation acceptable.  It should be noted that there are opportunities available during the 
construction of the project to make better use of the river to remove spoil, utilising such an 
approach would reduce HGV movements on the main network and allow for greater 
amounts of spoil to be removed during the construction phase. Consideration should 
therefore be given to enhancing access to the Denton area (i.e. Wharf Road) from 
Gravesend Road to remove spoil via river.

Further, the proposal to dispose of material on site (in the order of 1m cu3  from the 
information given to Members) rather than take it away has the potential to compromise 
the future planning of the immediate area and to potentially compromise the delivery of 
development required by Government and the local community.  Further consideration of 
this aspect is required and the promoter is requested to work with the Council on the 
development of a masterplan for the area that has regard, not only for the needs of the 
promoter to dispose of waste, but the wider needs of the local community which would 
include addressing the harmful social, health and wider impacts of the development 

Page 43



through more things just than open space.  In this respect, the promoter will also be aware 
that the Council is also an important landowner affected by the scheme and not just the 
local planning authority.

5. Building the Lower Thames Crossing

Following feedback from our statutory consultation and as our project design has developed, we 
have been updating our plans for how to build the Lower Thames Crossing. This includes our 
proposed working hours, plans for temporary road closures and traffic management, the proposed 
location of our construction sites and impacts on the roads leading to our construction sites. Please 
refer to chapter 7 of the guide.

Q5a. Do you support or oppose our revised proposals for how we plan to build the Lower Thames 
Crossing?

Strongly support Support Neutral Oppose



Strongly oppose Don’t know

Q5b. Please let us know the reasons for your response to Q5a and any other comments you have 
on our revised plans for how to build the Lower Thames Crossing.

The consultation contains no proper explanation of how the project will be constructed in 
the round or how impacts over a considerable period of time will be mitigated and those 
affected (local community, businesses and others) will be compensated.  Neither has the 
promoter published a draft Construction Environment Management Plan (CEMP), Code of 
Construction Practice (CoCP) or relevant parts of the draft DCO to make comments on. 
Timescales for some elements have been mentioned but no overall programme to assess 
the cumulative impacts from the multiple activities and their inter relationships.

Although general hours of working are provided and the probable locations of construction 
sites, greater level of detail will be required where construction sites and actual works are 
in close proximity to sensitive receptors.  It is noted that the working hours have changed 
from those in the 2018 consultation:

Proposed working hours 2018 Statutory 
Consultation

2020 Supplementary 
Consultation

Mid week 08:00 – 18:00 07:00 – 19:00*

Saturdays 08:00 – 16:00 07:00 – 16:00

Sundays n/a n/a

*During the summer months it is proposed that earthworks could be undertaken from 07:00 – 20:00

Blanket hours are only a starting point since the noise generated by particular activities 
and their location is significant.  Residents of Riverview Park and Thong will be subject to 
different impacts than in locations with no residential property.  The proposed CEMP will 
need detailed discussions with the Council’s Environmental Health officers on this issue.

Page 44



Details will also be needed on how construction sites will be prepared for use and 
serviced; the minimum separation from sensitive receptors and how any potential adverse 
impacts will be controlled and mitigated; and how such sites will be remediated following 
their no longer being needed – which may be prior to the relevant contract being 
completed.  Where the occupation of the land is temporary, the future use of the land will 
need to be agreed unless it is being returned to the original landowner under Critchel 
Down rules and/or it is intended that the existing lawful use of the land will resume.   

It should not be assumed that the core hours of working (including start-up/shut-
down/maintenance periods) will be acceptable across the project as a whole because of 
locally identified sensitivities.  Equally some highway works on the existing A2 can 
probably be only undertaken at night, especially where road closure is required. This and 
a range of other aspects will need to be agreed on an area by area basis with the Council 
to ensure that impacts are reduced to an acceptable level.  The Council will expect such 
provisions to be included in a requirement in the draft DCO with the wording of this to be 
agreed prior to submission.

In any event, the Council wishes to raise the issue of the proximity of some of the 
proposed construction sites/workings to occupied residential properties and questions 
whether this is appropriate in principle – for example the proximity to residential properties 
to the east of Thong Lane, along with Polperro and the travellers’ site on Rochester Road. 
As mentioned earlier, consideration should be given as to whether or not these properties 
should be included within the red line and whether alternative provision should be made 
for some properties such as the traveller site.

Details of who will be responsible for or have the locus to enforce the provisions of the 
CEMP or other environmental protocols will also need to be clearly set out and the legal 
basis for doing so.  Will there be the necessary powers for the Council to enforce if 
necessary, and in what areas, included within the DCO?  

Given the Council is likely to incur additional expenditure as a result of monitoring the 
project; liaising with contractors and the client; and in taking actions against non-
compliance, a contribution towards costs will be required under the s.106 attached to the 
DCO.  This will need to be agreed prior to submission.

It is taken as given that the draft CEMP will include provisions for a dedicated telephone 
number/contact details for the public to make complaints where issues arise during 
construction.  A response time to investigate and act on complaints should also be 
included, along with details of the person responsible for compliance.  An on-line log 
should also be maintained detailing complaints and actions taken, with this being updated 
in a timely manner as set out in the CEMP.  This will allow the Council to monitor whether 
or not there are particular issues that need to be addressed with less-frequent on-site 
visits.

The issue of the 5.8m diameter pilot tunnel has already been raised under question 4 
above.  The scientific and engineering principles underpinning the proposal are not 
explained in a satisfactory manner.  An additional tunnel close to the surface appears to 
risk greater disturbance to the hydrology of the Marshes than the main tunnels.  The 
injection of ‘grout’ into boreholes will presumably introduce chemically and physically 
‘foreign’ materials into the geology.  The back-filled tunnel will remain as a permanent, not 
temporary, incursion into the geology even with backfilling.  It is very unclear whether such 

Page 45



an intrusion can be reinstated in a neutral way. 

The marshes are a fragile environment which requires careful management to enable it to 
perform its key International nature conservation role – whether it is in the Ramsar/SPA or 
not. The precautionary principle has to be applied until such time as there is evidence to 
the contrary.

The introduction and extraction of a Tunnel Boring Machine (TBM) and associated shaft 
works will increase the overall impact of construction works above ground with associated 
movement of vehicles and spoil, and noise and air quality impacts.  Altogether there is 
insufficient information about the environmental impacts of this additional component of 
construction and the efficacy of any mitigation measures that may be required.

The proposed works being on the surface or shallow depth also risk disturbing 
archaeological deposits that have been preserved in the wet environment.  Very careful 
work will be needed before any work starts to establish what is present.

The issue of disruption to the Public Rights of Way (PROW) network has been raised 
elsewhere.  However, it is noted that construction will require significant use of routes 
across the east side of Gravesend, with this potentially extending beyond the construction 
period depending on the approach towards spoil use and disposal.  

Whatever the final outcome, this will require careful management because the area 
already suffers from significant congestion at peak periods in particular.  Until the scale of 
this is clear (and in combination with what is happening elsewhere) it is difficult to make 
further comment on the available information.  A Transport Plan (either free-standing or as 
part of the CEMP) will however be required.

The Council is not responding on the question as to the location of the electricity sub-
station as a substantial and permanent above-ground structure.  Insufficient information 
has been supplied as to what precisely is being proposed; why it has to be this size; 
whether there will be any external lighting or noise emissions from electrical equipment.  It 
is not therefore possible to determine what the potential impacts may be on sensitive 
receptors, including the setting of St Mary’s Church as a designated heritage asset.  The 
presence of any archaeology will also be a material consideration in choosing the most 
appropriate location, as will its impact in landscape and Green Belt terms.  The Council 
will also expect any such compound and equipment to be appropriately screened and 
incorporated into a wider approach to landscape planting.

6. Utilities

Since statutory consultation, we have been progressing our discussions with utilities companies and 
other stakeholders. We now have a more detailed understanding of the potential land requirements 
and utilities works that would need to be undertaken to ensure the Lower Thames Crossing can be 
built safely. Please refer to chapter 8 of the guide and our Utilities Update document.

Q6a. Do you support or oppose our revised proposals for the utility works required to build the 
Lower Thames Crossing?



Page 46



Strongly support Support Neutral Oppose Strongly oppose Don’t know

Q6b. Please let us know the reasons for your response to Q6a and any other comments you have 
on changes to the utility works proposed for the Lower Thames Crossing. When responding to this 
question, please identify the section of utility works you are referring to.

Whilst the Council faces difficulties in understanding the environmental impacts of the 
project due to the lack of detailed information and analysis provided, it is appreciated that 
the promoter is trying to minimise negative impacts on people and the environment as far 
as is practicable.

Unfortunately, the current proposals in introducing what appear to be extremely damaging 
utility diversions into environmentally sensitive areas to the north and south of the A2, to 
the east of Thong Lane, are clearly a retrograde step that the Council cannot support in 
the absence of robust and convincing evidence.  

As noted elsewhere, the need for such diversions should have been identified prior to the 
preferred route choice in 2017 and certainly at the time of the Statutory Consultation in 
2018 and factored into the consideration of reasonable alternatives.  The Council is far 
from convinced that the current proposals would have been progressed if this had taken 
place and an explanation of how this has occurred is required.

For the avoidance of doubt, the Council would not wish to see utilities diversions being 
placed under the feeder roads to the north or south of the Strategic Road Network at this 
point because at some stage there is likely to be a need to access them to repair or 
upgrade.  This would cause severe disruption to the highway network and problems 
elsewhere that would impact adversely on the local community and business.

Neither can it agree to the proposed incursions into environmentally sensitive areas, such 
as the Shorne - Ashenbank Woods SSSI, on the basis of the case set out in the 
Supplementary Consultation.  The Council would also be surprised if the affected 
Statutory Undertaker would agree to such a diversion given the complications that would 
arise in attempting to undertake repairs or to upgrade or replace the equipment in future.  

On this, it is assumed that in terms of gas pipelines the permitted development rights set 
out in Schedule 2. Part 15, Class A to the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development)(England) Order 2015 would not apply where EIA is required due to the 
effect of Article 3.

It is suggested therefore that the promoter should consider whether less environmentally 
damaging alternatives exist that avoid such sensitive areas, even if the resulting route is 
longer – i.e. perhaps to the south of the SSSI etc. between Ashenbank Woods and 
Cobham village.  The NPSNN makes it clear that impacts on Ancient Woodland should be 
avoided if at all possible.  Whatever arguments can be made about the physical alignment 
of the various roads, there is no case for a utility diversion which is much more flexible as 
to location damaging ancient woodland.

7. Using the crossing

Page 47



Since statutory consultation we have updated elements of our traffic model as part of our ongoing 
work to prepare for our DCO application. We have produced updated traffic flow diagrams (please 
refer to chapter 9 of the guide) and these are supported by a Traffic Modelling Update.

Q7a. Taking into account the updated traffic information included within the supplementary 
consultation, do you support or oppose the view that the Lower Thames Crossing would improve 
traffic conditions on the surrounding road network?

Strongly support Support Neutral Oppose



Strongly oppose Don’t know

Q7b. Please let us know the reasons for your response to Q7a and any other comments on how 
the changes to the Lower Thames Crossing would affect traffic conditions on the surrounding road 
network.

The information supplied to date on the traffic impacts is insufficient to arrive at a proper 
view on the matter.  The information in the Traffic Modelling update focusses on the year 
of opening 2027 and this gives a misleading impression of what will happen by the new 
design year of 2042.  Yet again the development numbers inputted into the model do not 
reflect the realities of the development councils are being expected to deliver through their 
Local Plans and the modelling does not represent a reasonable worst case.   Whilst the 
approach taken currently may be sufficient within WebTag to support a Treasury Green 
Book compliant business case, as we have previously highlighted, it is not sufficient for 
EIA purposes or to make a judgement on whether the proposal truly supports regeneration 
objectives. 

As noted elsewhere, there is also very little information justifying the proposal in terms of 
improved network resilience.  This point has already been made in terms of the design 
change of the link north of the River Thames, with the reduction of the southbound section 
between the M25 and A13 from three to two lanes.  

However, in order to understand how the southern section of the link will perform when 
incidents occur, it is also necessary to test what would happen if northbound flows 
became restricted and traffic blocked back to the A2/M2.  How long would this take to 
clear; what would the impacts be on the wider strategic and local road network; how would 
the emergency services access an incident; and how would such a situation be managed 
and from where?

This aside, work undertaken for the County Council shows that significant issues exist on 
the network from the last round of modelling.  This will need to be re-appraised in the light 
of the new modelling and from any updated modelling required to bring LTAM v2 in line 
with development levels being required by Government.

The Council is of the opinion that because Lower Thames Crossing is likely to induce 
increased road based trips across the strategic and local road network, the adverse 
impact of such an effect should be fully assessed and mitigated by Highways England and 
(ultimately) the Government.  The cost of such works should not fall on local authorities 
within the area to address where it is the result of a project promoted by a Government 
agency.

Page 48



The Council welcomes the commitment to equal charging on LTC and Dartford Crossings 
and a Local Residents Discount scheme.  Clarity is sought on whether this, for 
Gravesham and Dartford residents, applies to both crossings or just the one located in the 
respective Borough.  Since use of both applies to Thurrock residents it would be 
inequitable if this were not the case south of the river.

The Council is aware of suggestions that charging for HGV’s should be differential to 
encourage use of LTC rather than the Dartford Crossing.  The Council supports the overall 
logic set out in the bullet points on page 11 of the Guide to supplementary consultation.  
On the simplistic logic that HGV’s will use the most direct route, it is going to require a 
differential charge that covers the additional time, fuel and other costs of a longer route. 
This will place additional burdens on the A2 west, and more specifically on M25 J2 in 
Kent.  The lack of turning movements to the west at A13 junction with LTC also rules out 
movement seeking parts of Thurrock.  The Council can see no merit in the proposal.

8. Other comments

We would welcome any other comments you would like to make about the Lower Thames Crossing.

General comment on process and information:  This Council has been consistent in its 
comments on consultations to date that insufficient information has been provided by the 
promoter for either statutory consultees or the public to understand the community and 
environmental impacts of the proposals; how well the preferred option performs against 
scheme objectives and reasonable alternatives; or indeed whether the scheme will work at 
all.  

This is particularly the case given the transport modelling upon which the scheme’s 
development has been based relies on limited inputs rather than levels of development 
that reflect the Government’s own growth aspirations for this area.  

For example, that Government has committed to provide £170m for infrastructure 
improvements in Medway to support increased development on the Hoo Peninsula, when 
those levels of development do not appear to have been factored into the transport 
modelling undertaken thus far.  This does not make sense when much of the additional 
traffic generated will join the Strategic Road Network in the immediate vicinity of the Lower 
Thames Crossing junction with the A2. The Council also has concerns about the 
inadequate modelling and the impacts being illustrated on existing A2 junctions such as 
Tollgate. The current Tollgate is known to be operating close to, if not at capacity at peak 
periods. Given that this was a recently built junction, it illustrates the impact of not taking 
into account future development requirements. Going forward, this Council would also 
expect Highways England to share and consult on details of the impact of construction 
and operation of LTC on Tollgate and other junction in the Borough, including what 
proposals will be implemented by Highways England to ensure that these junctions are 
able to operate effectively.  This matter was brought up and agreed in broad terms in 
relation to the A2 Bean and Ebbsfleet Junction Public Inquiry.  

Because an updated uncertainty log has not been published with the Transport Update 
Report and there are no meaningful outputs provided, it is not possible to ascertain 
whether similar concerns exist elsewhere to the north and south of the River Thames.  

Page 49



The limited information provided in the documents relating to the revised year of opening 
is insufficient and a fuller understanding of wider impacts during both the construction and 
operational stages is required.

As the outputs from the transport model are used as key inputs into Environmental Impact 
Assessment, it is essential that a realistic worst case position is adopted in line with the 
requirements of Highways England’s own internal guidance (DMRB LA104).  This would 
appear to be entirely consistent with the Planning Inspectorate’s advice set out within its 
response to comments made by Medway Council and others in its Scoping Opinion at 
chapter 4, under point 13.8.16.

The promoter will also be aware that a number of others made comments about the lack 
of information at Statutory Consultation in 2018 and their ability to make meaningful 
comments on the scheme as a result.

This has not been addressed within this Supplementary Consultation, where the paucity of 
information on significant environmental and other impacts is shocking.  This is 
notwithstanding that the area covered by the scheme has increased considerably, 
including a need for utility diversions through environmentally sensitive areas, which did 
not feature in earlier consultations – including prior to the choice of the preferred option by 
Government or at the Statutory Consultation stage.  

It is also self-evident that the environmental impact of the scheme itself has escalated with 
the need to construct a 5.8m diameter pilot tunnel under the marshes (Ramsar/SSSI) and 
to stockpile spoil for later disposal once the crossing opens.  The implications of neither 
proposal are properly explained within the consultation material.

In addition, because the environmental impacts of the proposal have not been properly 
presented in any meaningful way or in some cases at all, it is impossible to make a 
balanced judgement on the adequacy of mitigation and its appropriateness.  This clearly 
also has implications for the promoter in terms of justifying compulsory purchase of land it 
wishes to acquire permanently for the purposes of mitigation.

The Council is therefore currently of the view that the promoter has failed to comply with 
legislative requirements on consultation and the commitment it made within the published 
Statement of Community Consultation (SoCC).  Also, because the impact of the scheme 
does not appear to be based on an agreed realistic worst case, it is difficult to see how the 
requirements of the relevant EIA Regulations would be met in terms of robustly identifying 
significant environmental impacts.

The promoter is therefore urged to address the Council’s concerns given that they are 
likely to result in the issuing of an adverse Adequacy of Consultation response on 
submission of the DCO application and the validity of any Environmental Statement being 
called into question.  In the interim, it is intended to contact the Planning Inspectorate to 
ensure that the Council’s concerns become a matter of public record under s.51 of the 
2008 Act.

The answers provided to the questions above should be read in the context of the 
incomplete information that has been provided by the promoter, having regard to the 
deficiencies in the consultation.

Page 50



9. The consultation

Please let us know your views on the quality of our supplementary consultation materials, our 
events, the way in which we have notified people about our plans, and anything else related to this 
consultation.

Very good Good Average Poor Very poor Not 
applicable

Q9a.
Was the information 
presented clearly and easy 
to understand?



Q9b. Were the events of good 
quality? 

Q9c. Were the events suitably 
located? 

Q9d.
Was the consultation 
promoted well and to the 
right people?



Q9e. Please let us know the reasons for your responses to Q9a – Q9d and any other comments 
you have on the delivery of this consultation.

The mechanics of the consultation process to date have involved significant publicity, 
holding of exhibitions and other events.  Concern has been expressed by Members 
though whether the specific targeting has been adequately carried out on some issues, 
access to the Thames View Crematorium being an example.

What is missing is the information to support the consultation to enable the Council and 
the residents of Gravesham to understand not only what is being proposed, but why and 
what its impacts might be.

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 4: Annex 1

Lower Thames Crossing Consultation documents

1.1 GBC response to October 2018 Statutory Consultation can be found at   
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/major-projects-and-
developments/lower-thames-crossing  and the consultation material at 
https://highwaysengland.citizenspace.com/ltc/consultation/

1.2 Highways England Supplementary 2020 consultation documents can be found at 
https://highwaysengland.co.uk/lower-thames-crossing-consultation2020/

1.3 The specific documents examined in this appraisal are:

 Guide to supplementary consultation (main consultation document)

 Traffic Modelling Update (TMU)

 Utilities Update (UU)

 Environmental Impact Update (EIU)

 Map Book 1: General Arrangements

 Map Book 2: Land Use Plans

 Map Book 3: Engineering Plans

Page 53

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/major-projects-and-developments/lower-thames-crossing
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/major-projects-and-developments/lower-thames-crossing
https://highwaysengland.citizenspace.com/ltc/consultation/
https://highwaysengland.co.uk/lower-thames-crossing-consultation2020/


Annex 2

Proposals South of the River – from the main consultation document

P
age 54



 

P
age 55



Annex 3

Public Rights of Way – from main consultation document

P
age 56



P
age 57



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1

Appendix 4

Lower Thames Crossing Supplementary Consultation Appraisal 

Introduction

1. This document examines the implications of the Supplementary Consultation by 
Highways England on the Lower Thames Crossing (LTC) that started on 19 
January 2020 and finishes on 25 March 2020. It is based on the published 
material which considers the changes to the project since the Statutory 
Consultation that was carried out in the autumn of 2018 which was considered by 
the Council at its meeting on 18 December 2018. It does not therefore take 
account of any clarifications provided by the project that are not in written form.  
The consultation does not revisit the previous consultation or seek to address all 
the issues raised by the Borough Council or other parties at that time.  It is 
written to be a standalone document.

2. This document is structured in four parts:
i. Description of the proposed changes to the scheme as previously 

consulted upon
ii. New proposals that arise from work done since 2018 on utility diversions 

and how the scheme might be constructed
iii. Transport network implications of the proposed changes
iv. Environmental implications of the proposed changes.

3. Annex 1 contains links to the 2018 and the 2020 consultation documents and a 
list of the 2020 documents taken into account in this document. Annex 2 contains 
information from the Guide to supplementary consultation outline plans of the 
location of the main changes. Annex 3, from the same source, contains 
information on the proposed changes to the Public Rights of Way (PROW) 
network.

4. The project continues to be developed by Highways England so will change 
further. Some elements are known to represent ‘worst cases’ where the project 
hopes to produce a ‘better’ result when the Development Consent Order (DCO) 
is submitted.

5. The environmental implications, however, have to be considered both in terms of 
their direct implications (benefits or impact) but also how they sit with the scheme 
overall, since that is what will matter in the final analysis.

6. The overall basic route remains the same – that is two bored tunnels under the 
Thames emerging south of the A226 in a deep cutting, climbing up towards the 
A2.  Thong Lane is passed beneath on a new bridge from where the LTC splits 
into free flow slips onto the A2 to the west and east. Mixed up with these are the 
linkages from the Marling Cross junction (Gravesend East) for local traffic north 
into the urban area of Gravesend and south to Cobham. The current A2 east of 
Marling Cross is rebuilt through the Kent Downs AoNB to provide the A2/LTC 
connections to the M2 and A289 (Wainscott bypass plus the A2 into Strood).

7. For clarity on what functions various road links perform (as opposed to what they 
may legally be designated):

Page 59



2

i. Access to/from the A289 means access to the parallel roads north and 
south of the main road which serve the A289 Wainscott Bypass and the 
A2 Watling Street (a local road) into Strood and start just east of Marling 
Cross

ii. M2 means access to the M2 coast bound, which is effectively extended 
west from Junction 1 to a point just east of the existing Marling Cross 
junction (Gravesend East)

iii. Local link road means the local road link to the south of the main road 
and north of HS1 running from Marling Cross to the Halfpence Lane 
roundabout at Cobham.  Note that the existing section of this running 
east-west south of the Inn on the Lake was named Thong Lane but has 
recently been renamed Darnley Lodge Lane to sort out address confusion 
in this area (and is noted related to the LTC proposals).

Major changes
8. The major proposed changes are set out below working from the River Thames 

in the north to the A” in the south.  The description does not aim to cover every 
element, which can be obtained by a detailed study of the plans and the 
consultation documents. Annex 2 and Annex 3 contain summary outline plans 
and the full details can be found in the consultation documentation.
i. South to north, a bored tunnel (5.8m diameter) under the marshes for 

ground stabilisation works before the main tunnel boring machines arrive. 
This includes construction sites, on the Lower Higham Road and on the 
marshes north of the railway and canal (edge of Metropolitan Police Firing 
range). 

ii. Extension of the site area along the A226 Rochester Road for 
construction purposes, the temporary storage of chalk spoil to be moved 
after completion of construction, and the creation of ‘Chalk Park’ adjacent 
to the LTC and Cascades. 

iii. Three options for the location of a 50x50m electricity sub-station along the 
A226.  This is required to provide the power needed during construction 
and for the tunnel systems on completion. 

iv. Extending the Thames tunnel by 350m to the south from its previous 
location just south of the A226 (which was 600m from its original location 
near the Lower Higham road - so the total movement since 2016 is about 
950m).  The service and maintenance road from the A226 is extended in 
length to the new portal location, which retains an access loop road over 
the top.

v. Resultant changes to the Public Rights of Way network in this area since 
it is proposed to divert these round the tunnel portal rather than over a 
bridge across the cutting.

vi. Changes to the planting proposals and their extent in the corridor from the 
A226 to the A2 compared with those shown in the 2018 consultation

vii. Widening of the Thong Lane land bridge from 60m to 84m 

Page 60



3

viii. Demolition of three additional residential properties and a business at 
Thong which were previously shown as having only their access affected 
or not directly impacted at all.

ix. Inclusion of a new planting area SW of Marling Cross junction towards 
Ifield on land used initially for utility diversions

x. Revised A2 junction of a more compact design and including a direct link 
from the Marling Cross junction onto the M2 coastbound 

xi. Loss of the Cobham on/off slips at Halfpence Lane (south side) and 
movements off M2/A289 to be relocated to slips onto the local link road 
further west towards Marling Cross

xii. Narrowing of M2/A289 through the AoNB with loss of any central 
reservation planting and narrowing of lanes.

xiii. Increasing width of Thong Lane South from 16m to 30m and the 
realignment of Brewers Road bridge to avoid works to HS1 structures.

xiv. Amended proposals for the diversion of NCR177 cycle route to the south 
of the HS1 and other public rights of way alterations.

xv. Provision for utility diversions:
a) New electricity cable under old A2 from Pepper Hill to Marling Cross 

and then north past Claylane Wood to tunnel portal area and the 
proposed electricity substation

b) Diversion of a major gas main from Marling Cross to Park Pale via 
Thong Lane Land Bridge, Inn on the Lake, and southern edges of 
Shorne Wood Country Park and Brewers Wood

c) Utilities diversion provision under A226 from the tunnel portal 
through Higham and another under Halfpence Lane, The Street, 
Jeskyns Road and Henhurst Road Cobham

d) Southern route for utilities from just west of Marling Cross junction 
under A2 and HS1, east beneath Jeskyns and thence north under 
Ashenbank Wood to Park Pale or top of Halfpence Lane.  An 
extension along northern edge of Cobham Park next to HS1 to the 
Rochester and Cobham Park Golf Club access at Park Pale on the 
south side of the current A2

e) Possible construction routes – mainly A2, A226, A289 but also 
Lower Higham Road and Ordnance Road/Canal Road to access the 
work sites on the marshes.  A haul route is proposed from the A2 
(former Cobham North services) north to the tunnel portal area

Additional information
9. The paragraphs below provide additional information to give clarity on some of 

the proposals listed above.
10. The south to north tunnel is at a shallower depth (5-10m) than the main bores 

(20m+) and is to provide for ground stabilisation where needed in the sands and 
gravels that form the marshes. This would involve injecting material into the 
ground. It is proposed to be 5.8m in diameter and backfilled when it has fulfilled 
its function.  The tunnel boring machine would start from the new construction 

Page 61



4

site on Lower Higham Road and be extracted from a site just north of the North 
Kent railway line and the Thames and Medway Canal adjacent to the 
Metropolitan Police Firing Range in the marshes.  The boring machine would 
need to be dismantled and taken out via the tow path, Canal Road and Ordnance 
Road and the A226 east.

11. As a result of the tunnel extension, the access link road from the A226 (for 
maintenance and emergency access only) is extended in length.  A footbridge 
over the cutting has been deleted (which raised safety concerns) so that the 
footpath connections now run over the tunnel portal.  An access road as before 
runs from the Thurrock bound carriageway over the tunnel portal and back to the 
southbound carriageway for maintenance and emergency access purposes.  
There would also be a removable barrier between the carriageways. A general 
location for a building is shown for tunnel control systems above the portal, 
although normal control of these will be from elsewhere.  In the event of a major 
emergency the building provides a base, if required, for the emergency services. 

12. A side product of this is that the LTC alignment has been straightened with a 
resulting impact on the back (from Thong Lane) of the Cascades Leisure Centre 
site, where the pitch and putt course is located.  A suggestion is made that this 
facility could be relocated on some of the land currently occupied by the 
Southern Valley Golf Course. The basic design of the cutting remains as before.

13. The cutting produces a substantial volume of chalk spoil which needs to be 
disposed of.  Chalk spoil can be used for landscaping but is not strong enough to 
act as structural fill.  The proposed Chalk Park uses about 1m cu3 of spoil from 
the cutting and another 350,000 m cu3 is proposed to be stockpiled east 
alignment for movement after the completion of main construction. No destination 
is specified for this spoil, but lowering the depth of the Blue Lake at Northfleet is 
an option.  Tunnel spoil from main bores of the Thames Tunnel comes out on the 
north side of the river. See further below for information on lorry movements.

14. The Thong Lane land bridge north was 60m wide and is now proposed to be 80m 
to make it able to carry Thong Lane itself, new footpaths, utilities and 
landscaping over the LTC.  There are significant alterations as a result of utility 
diversions, which are discussed further below. Thong Lane itself is shown as 
following follows a more sinuous course. The 400 KV overhead power line and 
high pressure gas mains also get a diverted in this area and at Claylane Wood 
where the proposals have been amended.

15. At Thong as a result of the utility diversions three residential properties will be 
demolished, two of which are London County Council houses built after the 1st 
World War (Homes for Heroes) in the Conservation Area. Also lost will be a 
landscape business.  In the 2018 consultation the business and one home had 
their access altered, and the other two properties were not directly impacted at 
all.

16. The design of the A2 junction has been changed as a result of moving the tunnel 
portal and a desire to make it more compact.  There were concerns over the radii 
of some of the slips roads from a safety point of view. The main functional 
change is a west to east slip so that traffic from Marling Cross (Gravesend East) 
can access the M2 coastbound. The previous arrangement of a connection from 
the A289 parallel road onto the M2 east of Brewers Road was judged not to be 
safe. As a result of this for traffic from Marling Cross there is no direct connection 

Page 62



5

to the A289. For access it is necessary to go along the local link road on the 
south side, over the Brewers Road bridge and use the junction that currently 
connects onto the A2. The junction of the slip roads to the A289 on Brewers 
Road acquire traffic signals. 

17. It is suggested in the consultation that traffic from Cobham and Shorne that 
wishes to gain the M2 coastbound will need to go along the A289 to the Higham 
Junction and then come back. The other option is to use the local road 
connection to Marling Cross to the west, which is how access to the LTC itself 
would be obtained.

18. Approaching along the A2 from Tollgate going coastbound the driver will have 
four route options (the road numbering referring to where the route is going not 
what it may or may not be designated as):

i. Exit at the Marling Cross junction (for Hever Court Road, Valley Drive, 
Cobham and Sole Street etc.)

ii. Exit onto the LTC north to Thurrock
iii. Exit to the A289 Wainscott Bypass (and A2 Watling Street into Strood)
iv. Carry on the M2 which is now shown as 2 lanes through A2/LTC junction 

east bound (3 in 2018) and 3 lanes westbound as before
19. The red line boundary for the LTC scheme now extends west along the A2 to 

allow for the signage that will be necessary to ensure traffic gets in the right lanes 
approaching Marling Cross. 

20. Marling Cross Junction becomes a gyratory system over the A2, with a widened 
bridge (from 19m to 24m), and two sets of traffic signals.  The practical impact is 
that drivers wishing to go from Valley Drive to Hever Court Road will have to go 
over the A2 and then come back after having been through two sets of signals. 
On the south side there is a link from LTC westbound slip into the gyratory as 
well as the A2 eastbound.

21. There are two further roundabouts along the local link road. The first (going east) 
serves Henhurst Road, the Singlewell Infrastructure Maintenance Depot and the 
HS1 Electricity feeder station (with potential large load access across the 
roundabout for when transformers need replacing). The second serves 
connections off the westbound M2 and A289.  All residential properties in this 
area are demolished as before.

22. The 2018 design showed box structures for the various slip roads and A2 
crossing each other. The current plans show viaduct and bridge structures whilst 
the tunnel under the A2 has been reduced in length.

23. At Cobham/Shorne the on/off slips to the A2 that currently exist on the south side 
of the A2 from the Halfpence Lane/Brewers Road roundabout are deleted. To 
reach this area (for example to access to Cobham Hall or Ashenbank Wood car 
park) it will be necessary to take the use Marling Cross junction or other slips 
onto the local link road from the M2/A289 and go back east.  

24. The tables and plans in the consultation includes links that require U turns and 
junctions which may be true in the sense of the connections exist, but is clearly 
not satisfactory from the point of view of the user. Table below illustrates some of 
the changes.

Page 63



6

To Current Future
From: Shorne Woods Country Park
A2 Westbound Brewers Road 

bridge and slip 
road onto A2

Brewers Road bridge 
and local road to 
Marling Cross junction

LTC n/a Brewers Road bridge 
and local  road to U 
turn at Marling Cross 
junction

A289 Eastbound Brewers Road slip 
onto A2

Brewers Road slip onto 
A289

M2 Eastbound Brewers Road slip 
onto A2

Brewers Road slip onto 
A289, U turn at Higham 
junction

From: Marling Cross Junction
LTC n/a Slip road to LTC north

A289 Slip onto A2 South side of Marling 
Cross junction, local 
link road to Brewers 
Road and then slip onto 
A289 eastbound

M2 Slip onto A2 Onto LTC slip then onto 
M2 slip

Shorne Woods 
Country Park

Onto A2 and exit to 
Brewers Road

Onto A289 and exit to 
Brewers Road

25. Brewers Road bridge itself has to be rebuilt in situ and has been amended to 
avoid altering existing HS1 structures.  Thong Lane south bridge is widened from 
the existing 16m to 30m but can be built offline. Through the AoNB the combined 
width of highway has been reduced by narrowing some lanes and removing any 
landscaping in the central reservation. Map Book 3 contains an illustrative cross 
section.

26. Changes to the public rights of way network can be divided into those to the 
north of the A2 and those to the south. To the north the links have been focussed 
around either the Thong Lane Bridge or over the tunnel portal as a result of its 
extension south. In simple terms routes NG7 and NG9 go over the tunnel portal, 
whilst NG8 (which runs NW through Southern Valley Golf Club) for the most part 
disappears under LTC. NS 169 (from Michael Gardens) and NS 167 (from 
Marling Cross) to Thong are diverted by new routes to the Thong Lane land 
bridge. NCR177 along the northern edge of the A2 is largely lost as before, 
except the section along Park Pale.

27. It is proposed to divert NCR177 south of the A2 via two options. Firstly from the 
eastern Hares Bridge over the A2, east across Jeskyns, north up Scotland Lane 
(NS195), along a new link through Ashenbank Wood just south of HS1 to 

Page 64



7

Halfpence Lane.  From there are the option to go over the new Brewers Road 
bridge and join Park Pale or an upgraded link just south of HS1 through Cobham 
Park to Park Pale (south).  When the local link road is complete there will also be 
a connection along that as well.

Utilities and construction
Utilities

28. The A2 contains a large number of services (gas, water, electricity, fibre optic 
cables etc.) running beneath it, mainly along the northern edge (see Utilities 
Update p.10-19).  These were a major driver when the A2 was widened to 4 
lanes and moved south of Northfleet/Gravesend.  The old A2 corridor became 
NCR177 as the services remained in place beneath it.  

29. The introduction of LTC requires that all the services along the A2 between 
Marling Cross and Thong Lane be moved because of the many structures, slip 
roads and multiple levels that the new junction involves.  The rebuilding on the 
A2 east of this point also necessitates some changes.

30. The utilities along the northern edge of the A2 are complicated by a 900mm gas 
pipeline that passes beneath the roundabout at the top of Valley Drive and along 
the northern edge of the A2. It then goes under the central reservation and the 
London bound carriageway before coming back to the north side.  It is surprising 
that given the rebuilding that has occurred on this section with CTRL (HS1) and 
the A2/M2 widening, and the subsequent A2 widening that this has not been 
moved before. The alignment seems to relate to the route of A2 in the 1950’s.

31. The project has developed a number of approaches to dealing with the utilities 
and is still working these through with the statutory undertakers.  Current rules on 
access and separation have to be met, and in particular there are issues with 
what other services can be near gas pipes.  Long term access is particularly 
important as the statutory undertakers have the right to gain access to their plant 
should they need it at any time. This has implications of any planting (whether 
new or existing), road or other facilities located over them.  The proposals as 
presented in the consultation represent the maximum extent that may be needed 
and have been taken on the basis that they will be implemented as such. The 
DCO will contain refined proposals with potentially reduced impact, but this 
cannot be assumed at this stage.

32. The proposed diversions of the 400 KV lines and the high pressure gas pipelines 
remain broadly as proposed in 2018. For with temporary 2 temporary pylons 
required near Claylane Wood whilst an existing pylon is rebuilt and one 
temporary at Thong Lane for 3 new pylons.  

33. On the A2 the objective would to keep as much as possible of the services in the 
HS1/A2 corridor.  The gas main it proposed would run north to Thong and then 
back south to Inn of the Lake before running east.  This would intrude into 
Shorne Woods Country Park and Brewers Wood, which are Ancient Woodland 
and SSSI’s. Provision is however also being made for some of the services to 
run south of HS1 by crossing A2/HS1 at Marling Cross to the west side of 
Henhurst Road. Using trenchless technology, they would then run under Jeskyns 
to a point south of Ashenbank Wood where they would run north or north east to 
regain the A2 corridor.  The trenchless technology involves boring a small tunnel 
and then inserting a pipe through it to contain the utilities. This pipe has to be 

Page 65



8

welded together above ground before being threaded through. This explains the 
star shape of the red line boundary south of Ashenbank Wood towards Cobham 
(the lay out areas being temporary).

34. There is also the possibility of a utility diversion via Cobham under Henhurst 
Road, Jeskyn’s Road, The Street and Halfpence Lane, hence why these roads 
are included in the red line boundary. A route from the tunnel portal area under 
the A226 via Higham is also now included in the safeguarding.  There is also a 
proposal for an electricity cable to run under the old A2 from Pepper Hill to 
Marling Cross and then down LTC to tunnel portal.  This will be use to supply 
construction activities in the short term and in the long term feed tunnel systems 
and augment supplies on the east side of Gravesend. 

35. A permanent substation would be required somewhere on the Rochester Road at 
either at Chalk, more or less on top of the LTC tunnel, or near Church Lane. This 
would require a site 50m x 50m site, which to give a sense of scale is half the 
size of the HS1 electricity substation.
Construction Sites and access

36. The two main construction sites south of the Thames are around the tunnel portal 
off the A226 Rochester Road, and just west of Thong Lane and north of the A2 
(see Utilities p15/16 and Guide to Supplementary Consultation Sec.7). The 
former serves the tunnel works and cutting whilst the later supports the works 
along the A2.  There would be a haul route linking that A2 with Rochester Road.

37. There is a small construction site at the former Marling Cross Lorry Park, which is 
already use, with planning permission, to support various ongoing surveys.  
There are two new sites proposed on the Lower Higham Road and just north of 
the North Kent Line and Thames & Medway Canal in the marshes on the tunnel 
alignment.  The latter is on the edge of the Metropolitan Police firing range (see 
below for an explanation of their purpose).

38. Access to all these sites will be off A2 using initially highway that was provided 
for Cobham North services when the A2 was widened, but then closed. This was 
designed with access off the Marling Cross east facing slip, though it is not clear 
how traffic would reach it given that the area is likely to have extensive traffic 
management. Vehicles coming from further east would need to go through the 
junction to perform a U turn.  

39. Traffic leaving the site would need to join the A2 (with traffic management) and 
either take the A289 and do a U turn at the Higham junction or go down the M2 
and use Junction 2 at Cuxton. A third possibility would be to go to Three 
Crutches on the A2 and use the roundabout which is unlikely to be acceptable.

40. The A2 will have traffic management on it with speed limits and narrow lanes to 
cope with lorry movements and the construction activities required to be build the 
new roads and their associated structures.

41. A haul road would link the A2 to the A226 for construction traffic, and then reach 
the A289 Wainscott bypass through Higham. Lower Higham Road would need 
access via Lion Roundabout and A226.  The marshes construction site would 
need access via Canal Road, Ordnance Road and A226. Neither of these will be 
big generators of traffic compared to the main sites.

Page 66



9

Construction

42. It is important to note that proposals for construction process are based on the 
current assessment of what is needed.  As further surveys are carried out, the 
design evolved and in due course contractor engagement, these will change.  
The proposals in the DCO as submitted (assuming they are permitted with any 
amendments) provide an envelope within which they have to work. The DCO will 
be accompanied by a Code of Construction Practice (CoCP) which forms part of 
the application.  The contractors will then produce and submit for approval 
Construction Environmental Management Plans (CEMPs). These all have to fit 
within impacts as assessed in the Environmental Statement (in the jargon the 
‘Rochdale envelope’). Any proposal outside this would need an amendment to 
the DCO, which is not a simple process.

43. It is important that the Borough Council and County Council (as Transport 
Authority) have from the DCO sufficient controls to ensure that the impacts are 
minimised and can be enforced.  A scheme of this scale cannot be constructed 
without major disruption.  It is important in environmental impact terms to 
distinguish between short term construction impacts and the long term impacts of 
the scheme.  ‘Short’ in this context means 6 years with as noted above some 
spoil disposal stretching into the period after completion. Thus construction 
impact will be highly significant.

44. The proposal remains for the two tunnels to be bored from Thurrock (16m 
diameter), with a large construction site at the northern portal.  North of Thong 
Lane a deep cutting will need to be excavated to receive the tunnel boring 
machines as well as to accommodate the road itself.  This cutting produces a 
very large amount of spoil.  

45. A new proposal is for a ‘small’ (=5.8m) bored tunnel to be driven in the opposite 
direction of the main bores coming from Thurrock as noted above for ground 
stabilisation works. 

46. The entire A2 between Marling Cross and Three Crutches (M2 J1) is going to be 
rebuilt with a substantial number of bridges and other structures. Significant 
disruption is therefore likely together with night or weekend closures.  The best 
current local example is such works is on the M20 from J3-J6, which is only to 
convert the hard shoulder into a running lane.

47. Brewers Road bridge needs to be rebuilt on the same alignment as at present 
(due to the constraints of HS1) so is likely to be shut for a significant period (12 
months has been mentioned), posing issues for access to both Shorne and 
Cobham villages and Shorne Woods Country Park. What is happening on the A2 
in terms of traffic management, overnight and weekend closures etc. will 
potentially have a significant impact on local roads. The implications of rat 
running in both the urban and rural areas are well known from practical 
experience today from congestion on the A2 in the peaks. An unknown will be 
how much traffic will divert onto the M20 corridor if that is a more reliable route, 
depending of course on the actual trip destination.

48. Thong Lane has two new bridges, one over the A2 and one over LTC.  Both are 
on new alignments so in theory at least can be built off line and then traffic 

Page 67



10

diverted onto the new structures. In the case of Thong Lane north solid ground 
can be left until the new land bridge is complete.

49. No specific information is available about impacts on footpath, bridleway and 
cycle ways, although logically some or all of these will be closed and diverted 
during construction as the network undergoes significant alteration. NCR177 is 
highlighted as a particular problem because of the construction works, hence the 
alternative routes discussed above.

50. As a result of changes in design and further work on the construction process the 
number of lorry movements projected has been significantly reduced compared 
with the figures given in the 2018 consultation. How this translates into actual 
movements on the ground and their impact on the highway network and local 
residents (particularly those at Thong and the edge of Riverview Park) is another 
matter.  It is understood that the project is carrying out detailed traffic modelling 
of the proposed construction programme (which we do not have) and therefore 
the traffic movements that result.  This needs to cover workers and servicing trips 
as well as the more obvious HGV movements.

Construction 
Area

2018 average 
number of 

journeys/month

2020 average 
number of 

journeys/month

% change

A2 construction 4,700 2,900 -38%

Tunnel portal 
south

1,100 800 -27%

Transport Modelling
51. The Lower Thames Area Model created for the 2018 consultation has been 

enhanced and rerun with the junction alterations and various other changes.  
These are discussed further below after some further analysis of the 2018 work.
Analysis of previous modelling

52. In 2018 the detailed model flows were made available and subsequently a 
cordoned section of the full transport model has been released to the local 
authorities.  KCC employed consultants to look at the model in detail to 
understand more fully what the issues were.  This included looking at the 8-9 AM 
period which is the peak on the local roads, whereas the model uses 7-8 AM 
which is the peak for the strategic network.  This analysis is now out of date in 
the sense that is relates to the older model and highway design.  That said it 
gives an indication of areas of concern and the new modelling does not produce 
at strategic level very different results. The brief was to look at implications of the 
LTC for both strategic and local roads. The cordon version supplied did not 
include most of the Medway Towns so may not show some issues that are 
relevant to Gravesham. As was noted in 2018 the model was primarily validated 
on the strategic network (its prime function) and relatively attention paid to the 
local network.

53. On the strategic network the following main points can be made:
i. Relief to the Dartford crossing at opening but this gets steadily eroded by 

2041 (now 2042)

Page 68



11

ii. Relief to the A2 west of LTC junction seeking to go north are diverted
iii. Relief to the M20 west of J6
iv. Congestion on M2 J1 - J3 (Three Crutches to Bluebell Hill)
v. Congestion of A229 (Bluebell Hill) – note this is at M2 J3 and M20 J6 

junction rather than the road link itself
vi. Congestion on A228, especially from Halling northwards plus at M2 J2

54. On the local roads:
i. Some concerns on A227 – in the southern part of the Borough but also at 

Tollgate junction
ii. Hall Road roundabout (Pepper Hill) – however it should be noted that this 

area is sensitive to the development assumptions used for the Ebbsfleet 
area where the existing planning permissions have been used. The A2 
Bean and Ebbsfleet junction improvements are allowed for but not the 
possibility of the London Resort.

iii. Cobham/Sole Street - but note the new junction design have a direct 
impact on traffic flows in this area

iv. Thong Lane - some increase in traffic but again the change in junction 
arrangements may alter this)

Updated modelling

55. New modelling for the LTC is summarised in the Traffic Modelling Update 
consultation document.  This contains diagrams showing changes to flows but 
the detailed results are not available to the Local Authorities yet.  Peter’s Bridge 
in Halling was missing from the original model (having only just opened) and has 
now included, as are an updated list new road schemes that are expected to be 
implemented by the forecast years in the model. The opening year has been 
updated from 2026 to 2027, and the design year from 2041 to 2042.  

56. HGV data has been significantly revised in the light of new data from the 
Department of Transport.  Various other changes have been made to reflect the 
latest data or forecasts from a variety of sources.  The development schedule 
has been updated on the basis of information from the relevant Local Authorities 
but ‘growth associated with government housing targets which have not yet fully 
progressed through the planning system is not included’.

57. As before as well as using 2016 data to validate the model, runs have been 
made with the development and network changes with and without the Lower 
Thames Crossing. Note that the model works in PCU’s (passenger car units), 
where an HGV is equivalent to 2.5 pcu’s. Diagrams show the changes in flows 
between the previous and current models as well as the impacts on the opening 
year between with and without the crossing for the AM peak (7-8), Interpeak and 
PM peak (5-6). Very little information is presented for the design year of 2042.

58. At the Dartford Crossing the LTC provides at opening a reduction in traffic of the 
order of 15-16% depending on the time of day. However, by 2042 this gain has 
effectively disappeared, as shown in the graph below for the AM peak. Without 
LTC there is very little growth since the current road is operating at capacity.

Page 69



12

2016 Opening year Design Year
0

5,000

10,000

15,000

20,000

AM Peak no LTC AM Peak with LTC

Dartford Crossing
AM peak

59. The new crossing creates additional capacity across the river. In the graph below 
2016 only covers Dartford Crossing whilst 2027 and 2042 include both links.  The 
combined effect is to allow increased flow by 2042 by 22-30% depending on time 
period.  In break down, 60-63% traffic is at Dartford and 37-40% traffic is at the 
new crossing (all figures in PCU’s). There is an increase in HGV traffic on the 
Dartford Crossing but it is not clear whether this is development driven 
(permissions for distribution warehouses) or the result of other factors.

2016 2027 2042
0

5,000

10,000

15,000

20,000

25,000

AM Peak Interpeak PM Peak

Combined Capacity

60. The maps in the consultation document show the changes in flow brought about 
by the new crossing which confirm the broad pattern discussed above.  That is 
lower flows on Dartford Crossing, A2 west of LTC junction and M20 west of J6, 
but increased flows on M2, A228 and A229.  This applies to a great or lesser 
extent across all time periods.

61. In percentage terms there are significant increases in flow on Bush/Cobhambury 
Roads into Cobham, decrease on Halfpence Lane and The Street, and an 
increase on Jeskyns and Henhurst Roads.  The capacity mapping does not show 

Page 70



13

any issues.  Given the deletion of the Cobham slip roads it is logical that 
Halfpence Lane has a drop, however it also seems that traffic is diverting from 
A229/A228 via Cuxton presumable to avoid congestion.  There are other similar 
changes on roads in the Shorne/Higham areas and east side of Gravesend.  
Detailed data is needed to understand what the model is predicting, and how far 
the model reflects the reality on the ground (e.g. neither The Street, Cobham nor 
Thong Lane, Thong are two-way roads in parts).

62. As before the analysis has been carried out to meet Green Book Treasury rules 
which all such projects have to do. There is no objection to that being done and it 
provides in essence as minimal impact base line.  However this project is 
undergoing environmental assessment and that requires the analysis to be 
“undertaken using a realistic ‘worst case’ scenario” (para 4.17.5 Design Manual 
for Roads and Bridges LA104 Environmental Assessment and Monitoring July 
2019). There is of course scope for debate about what constitutes a ‘worst case’ 
in particular circumstances.

63. Local Planning Authorities are under an obligation by the Ministry of Housing, 
Communities and Local Government to meet their objectively assessed housing 
need, for which it provides the data as to what that constitutes.  The Local Plan 
process may result, depending on circumstances, over or under provision.  Jobs 
also need to be taken into account since their location in relation to the housing 
has major implications for traffic flows. There is no simple formula for looking into 
the future (which is any case has to be multi-modal to take account of public 
transport usage) so a discussion is needed as to what constitutes a reasonable 
‘worst case’ in these circumstances.

64. To take two examples as far as can told the implications of the £170 Housing 
Investment Fund from Ministry of Housing Communities and Local Government 
to Medway Council for housing development at Hoo has not been taken into 
account.  This feeds development would feed directly onto the A2/M2 junction, 
and therefore in the future LTC, and has to be regarded as a material 
consideration.  For Local Plan preparation purposes Highways England have 
indicated that an OAN based option(s) should be tested.  Not included in the 
modelling is the possibility of London Resort, as it is not yet clear precisely what 
travel flows this large unique project would generate, so it is difficult to model.

65. It remains true, as was said in 2018, that the transport modelling has not included 
sufficient development to allow the full implications of the Lower Thames 
Crossing to be understood, and therefore what additional alterations might or 
might not be required to the highway network.  Without this it is not possible to 
assess the environmental impact in a robust way.
Environmental Assessment

66. The Environmental Impacts Update (EIU) document takes as its base the 
Preliminary Environmental Impact Report produced in 2018.  The Borough 
Council made clear in 2018 that taking into account that is preliminary and is not 
(or intended to be) a full environmental assessment, that document did not 
contain sufficient information to allow consultees to arrive at informed views.  
This flaw has not been addressed and is therefore carried forward into this 
consultation.

Page 71



14

67. Given the short timescale (6 weeks for the consultation overall even shorter to 
prepare this report) it has not been possible to analyse this document in detail, 
but rather it has been taken as a general guide to how the project sees the 
impacts developing from the changes. This may be of course negative or 
positive. That said it is possible to arrive at some general conclusions over the 
impacts from the proposed changes. The bulk of the scheme is of course in 
outline the same or very similar to 2018 so in that sense not a great deal has 
changed.  Some of the changes (e.g. tunnel extension) are positive and to be 
welcomed.

68. As discussed above the traffic modelling has been updated, but there is no 
additional information on air quality or noise which is directly related to vehicle 
flows. Without more detailed data it is also not possible to fully assess whether 
the changes made improve or not traffic conditions (and therefore potentially 
noise and air quality) around the scheme or elsewhere on the network.

69. The comments below use the major changes listed in para 8 as a basis. Due to 
the relative lack of information in the consultation on the potential impacts as 
opposed to a view on their significance, the comment may inevitably raises 
issues which might turn out not to be significant on detailed analysis (or miss 
those that are). By default the precautionary principal has to apply, especially 
where very sensitive receptors (people, habitat, landscape, heritage etc.) exist.  

i. South to north tunnel – this raises major issues due to the implications for 
the SSSI/Ramsar/SPA from both the physical process involved (injecting 
alien materials into the ground and back filling) and extraction of the 
tunnel boring machine.  The potential impact on water tables, and 
therefore the habitat for wading birds, could be significant.  The EIU 
asserts that the hydrological impact from construction and operation (i.e. 
LTC when built) has been modelled and would ‘not be significant’.  
Without any evidence this has to be taken as a serious risk, especially at 
the point where the boring machine is extracted.  RSPB has confirmed 
that the management of the marshes as a habitat is a delicate process.

ii. Tunnel portal construction site - the additional proposals for local spoil 
disposal reduce the traffic impacts but raise concerns over noise and dust 
and long term management. The stockpile approach means that the 
potential impacts continue well past the general completion of 
construction. There are complex interactions in this area between the 
various land uses which require further study.

iii. Electricity Feeder station - all three locations have pros and cons but 
without a full understanding of what this facility is, it is not possible to 
select a preferred location.  Wherever it is will need landscaping and 
screening.  The issue of the properties and caravans on the south side of 
A226 has not been addressed both from the construction process and the 
substation.

iv. Tunnel extension – in broad terms this is to be welcomed and represents 
a gain of 950m over the original 2016 proposals as noted above. It also 
reduces the volume of spoil from the cutting since the tunnel material 
goes to Thurrock.

Page 72



15

v. Public Rights of Way (PROW) network changes – in very broad terms 
these look logical from the point of view of the moving the tunnel portal. 
However, it is not clear what the legal status of the various links is and 
how they relate to the wider network.  Especially in the Thong area they 
result in extended journeys in what will inherently be a more disrupted 
setting.  The existing A2 provides significant noise and visual intrusion in 
this area but the ‘envelope’ of this is significantly extended by LTC.

vi. Planting proposals – there are changes suggested in the planting 
proposals with less woodland seemingly suggested than hitherto, some of 
which is in response to previous comments about the historic landscape 
setting of Thong village.  There remains a basic issue that it is not clear 
what the landscaping/planting proposals are mitigating for or whether they 
area in compensation for impacts that cannot be mitigated.   There is no 
information on how the various agricultural units are impacted and how 
far they remain viable (or not) from the scheme’s proposals.

vii. Thong Lane land bridge – the widening is to be welcomed though fuller 
understanding will be required of the detailed design of the highway (to 
discourage rat running), the PROW links and the habitat elements, and 
how they all relate to the land uses around them.  Further widening would 
be welcomed to reduce further reduce the impact on local residents.

viii. Loss of residential properties and a business at Thong represents a 
significant impact on both those directly concerned and in the case of the 
LCC built properties the conservation area. The historic environment in 
this area was already under considerable stress from the proposals.

ix. Although the need for working space for utilities diversion is noted and 
understood it is not clear what the rationale is for the new wider area of 
planting at Ifield (which has implications for the setting of Ifield Church). 
The same comment as in (vi) above applies.

x. The more compact junction is to be welcomed in principle, as is the use of 
bridges/viaducts rather than box structures.  There are however no cross 
sections of the junction so it is hard to assess what its impact is on the 
landscape setting of the AoNB or on the north side the residents of Valley 
Drive/Riverview Park residential areas.  Without detailed traffic modelling 
information it is hard to assess how far the design meets its highway 
objectives.  The suggestion of the M2 being 2 lanes eastbound through 
the junction is at first sight implausible given the flows on this part of the 
network. In the opposite direction why does the off slip from LTC to the 
local road require 3 lanes? The new direct link is welcomed to M2 as 
something this Council asked for, though the link to the A289 is tortuous. 
A further question is how the landscaping in this area is going to be 
maintained as a series of small islands are created surrounded by slip 
roads (access to the current central reservation the A2 is difficult).

xi. This proposal has the advantage of moving traffic off Halfpence Lane, but 
the disadvantage of making access to Cobham and Cobham Hall more 
tortuous.  The overall traffic implications need more work to assess and 
understand the net result.

Page 73



16

xii. The Council is awaiting further advice from its landscape consultant and 
the Kent Downs AoNB unit.  However the loss of any planting in the 
central reservation increases the urbanising impact of the proposals 
where the current arrangement achieves a much more rural feel.    A 
cross section is provided in Map Book 3 which shows a central 
reservation that does not seem to accord with engineering drawings. It is 
illustrating at about 10-11m gap between the M2 carriageways, whilst the 
plans imply for the most part something narrower. It is not at all clear that 
this proposal has achieved anything to the overall benefit of the 
landscape, which includes the historic landscape of the wider Cobham 
Park.  The project also needs to address the loss of HS1 landscaping 
here and further west.

xiii. Increased width is welcomed put could be taken further. The constraints 
at Brewers Road bridge are noted.

xiv. Utility diversions – great concern is raised about these since their 
existence should have been taken into account in the route selection 
process, and therefore throws up the concern whether the 2016 decision 
had the right information to make the choice. The implications for the 
SSSI, Ancient Woodland, landscape and historic setting of the area are 
unacceptable. Although trenchless technology is proposed this does not 
negate the right of the utilities to access their plant at any time and 
therefore remove whatever lies above.  In particular it is noted that there 
are historic Sweet Chestnuts trees in Brewers Wood.  Taking the Ancient 
Woodland specifically, paragraph 5.32 of the National Policy Statement 
on National Networks is clear that the Secretary of State should not 
consent to any unnecessary loss.  For the utilities which can be moved 
much more easily over a wider area than a road or railway there is no 
case for loss of ancient woodland.

70. On construction without some sort of programme and further information it is 
difficult to say more that this is an area of major uncertainty and potential impact. 
This is both from traffic on the wider network and more locally from noise, dust, 
disturbance, hours of working etc. on local residents.   An illustrative issue is the 
possible impact on the operation of the Thamesview Crematorium both in terms 
of access and the environment it can provide.

71. The plans and documents will continue to be examined and further clarification 
and information sought.  This appraisal is without prejudice to raising further 
issues as necessary. Equally additional information might allay concerns.

Page 74



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Cabinet

Date: 23 March 2020

Reporting officer: Assistant Director (Corporate Services)

Subject: Development of the Corporate Risk Register 2020-2021

Purpose and summary of report: 
This report informs Cabinet of the outcomes from Gravesham Borough Council’s annual risk 
identification and analysis exercise and presents a copy of the Corporate Risk Register for 
2020-2021.  

Recommendation:

Cabinet members are requested to approve the Corporate Risk Register that has been 
developed for 2020-21, prior to it being presented to Council.

1. Introduction and Background

1.1 Gravesham Borough Council pursues a forward-looking and dynamic approach to 
delivering services to the local community and in doing so, the council is exposed to 
risk both in terms of threats and loss of opportunities.  The council recognises that 
risks are inevitable and in practice, cannot be entirely avoided.  Resultantly, the 
council will tolerate a certain degree of risk when pursuing objectives, executing 
strategies and delivering services.  

1.2 Responsibility for risk management runs throughout the council and specific roles 
and responsibilities have been identified so that risk management is embedded in the 
culture of the council.  Cabinet members have responsibility for approval of the Risk 
Management Strategy (if appropriate) and the annual Corporate Risk Register, within 
which all risks that have been identified are recorded.

2.         Risk Management Strategy 2020-2021

2.1 The Risk Management Strategy sets out the approach that has been adopted by the 
council for identifying, evaluating, managing and recording risks to which it is 
exposed.  The primary intention of the strategy is to ensure that risk management is 
embedded into the daily operations of the council. The strategy recognises that good 

Page 75 Agenda Item 7



2

risk management will lead to good management, good performance, good 
stewardship of public money, good public engagement and ultimately, good 
outcomes for citizens and service users. 

2.2 In March 2011, it was agreed by Cabinet that the Risk Management Strategy would 
be reviewed on an annual basis and, where necessary, presented to Cabinet for 
approval if it was subject to updates and amendments resulting in material changes 
to the strategy. 

2.3 The Risk Management Strategy has been reviewed and there have been no updates 
or amendments made to it.  The strategy will therefore not be presented for approval 
but is appended to the report for information (Appendix 2).

3.     Draft Corporate Risk Register 2020-2021

3.1 In preparing the draft copy of the Corporate Risk Register for 2020-2021, 
Management Team, Senior Officers and Members were contacted and requested to 
provide details of: 

 Existing risks recorded in the 2019-2020 Corporate Risk Register that have 
continued to generate a risk High risk score and therefore will be carried forward. 
Existing risks included;

1. On-going financial viability of the council.
2. Changes in national priorities and legislation.
3. Organisational capacity/resilience.
4. Implementation of the Homelessness Reduction Act.
5. Universal Credit.
6. Withdrawal of the United Kingdom from the European Union.
7. Cyberattack resulting in data breach or corruption of data.

 Any new risks that should be analysed and considered for inclusion in the 2020-
2021 Corporate Risk Register. New risks that were identified included;

 Investment Risk - given the value of the investments and the authority’s 
reliance upon the rental and investment income.

 Shared Service Risk- risk related to being involved in shared services
 Civil Risk - i.e. flooding, major disaster. 
 Non-delivery of key developments- impact on the council of not driving 

development in the borough.

3.2 A Risk Identification & Analysis Assessment can be found at Appendix III of this 
report. The document details all risks that have been considered when producing the 
draft 2020-2021 Corporate Risk Register.

3.3 All risks and the outcome of their assessment is summarised in the table and are 
plotted in the Heat Map below.

Page 76



3

Table of Risks Assessed for consideration

Risk 
Ref Risk Decription Inherent 

Risk
Residual 

Risk
Target 

Risk
1 On-going financial viability of the council 20 12 9

2 Changes in national priorities and legislation 20 15 12

3 Organisational capacity/resilience 20 15 12

4 Universal Credit 15 12 9

5 Cyberattack resulting in data breach or corruption of data 16 12 9

6 Investment Risk 15 10 9

7 Withdrawal of the United Kingdom from the European Union -- -- --

8 Implementation of the Homelessness Reduction Act 15 9 6

9 Civil risk- major disaster 8 6 6

10
Increased exposure to risk to Gravesham Borough Council from shared 
services 

9 6 6

11 Non-delivery of key developments 12 6 6

Risk Heat Map (Residual Risk)

3.4 The risks that have generated a “High Risk” score and are above the council’s 
strategic risk tolerance level can be seen coloured in red and these are included in 
the 2020-2021 Corporate Risk Register.  These risks are listed below and a copy of 
the register can be found at Appendix IV. 

1. On-going financial viability of the council.
2. Changes in national priorities and legislation.
3. Organisational Capacity/resilience.
4. Universal Credit. 
5. Cyberattack resulting in data breach or corruption of data. 
6. Investment Risk.

Page 77



4

3.5 A draft copy of the Corporate Risk Register for 2020-2021 was presented and 
reviewed at the Finance & Audit Committee meeting held on the 17th February 2020. 
During this meeting the Committee requested for risks associated with the Lower 
Thames Crossing project to be assessed, so that the project could be considered as 
a risk for inclusion in the 2020-2021 Corporate Risk Register, as it will be resource 
hungry on the Council and will have both a positive and negative impact on the 
Borough.

3.6 Finance & Audit Committee were advised that arrangements will be made for risks 
associated with the Lower Thames Crossing project to be assessed and if these risks 
resulted with the project generating a “High” risk score, then the Lower Thames 
Crossing would be included within the Corporate Risk Register as a standalone risk. 
If not, reference will be made to the project and its potential impact, via Risk 2 
‘Changes in national priorities and legislation’.

3.7 As such assessment of risks did not result with the project generating a “High” risk 
score; therefore as agreed, reference to the Lower Thames Crossing has been made 
within Risk 2 Changes in national priorities and legislation. 

4. On-going monitoring of the Corporate Risk Register

4.1 Progress made against the actions in relation to each risk recorded in the Corporate  
Risk Register will be monitored quarterly and progress information will be presented  
to the Finance & Audit Committee through a half yearly report.

4.2 On presentation of the report, Finance & Audit Committee will be responsible for 
ensuring that necessary action is being taken to mitigate risks and to make 
appropriate recommendations to Cabinet.

5. Background Papers

5.1 There are no background papers pertaining to this report.

Page 78



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal There is a specific risk within the Register which highlights the potential issues 
associated with proposed legislative changes that may affect the council moving 
forward.  Senior Management are being kept up to date with legislative change to 
ensure that they are able to be fully aware of potential changes proposed to assess 
how these may affect the council.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

There are no financial or value for money implications arising from the Corporate 
Risk Register itself.
‘Ongoing financial viability of the Council’ is one of the key corporate risks identified 
within the Corporate Risk register and a specific update against this risk is included 
within appendix three.

Risk Assessment The regular review of strategic risks facing the council aids the council in managing 
risk effectively as a contribution to effective strategic decision-making.  It is 
important that the council’s approach to risk is reviewed on a regular basis by both 
officers and Members to ensure new risks are identified and action being taken to 
mitigate existing risks is effective

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.
No

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

Page 79

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


6

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan The council’s arrangement to identify, assess and monitor strategic risks contribute 
to the delivery of Corporate Plan Objective #3: Progress: an entrepreneurial 
authority; commercial in outlook and committed to continuous service improvement, 
underpinned by a skilled workforce and strong governance environment.

Crime and Disorder The risk of Crime and Disorder is considered in the annual review and development 
of the Corporate Risk Register.

Digital and website 
implications

N/A

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

N/A

Page 80



Strategic Risk Management – Risk Management Strategy 2020-2021

Risk Management Strategy
2020-2021

Page 81



Strategic Risk Management – Risk Management Strategy 2020-2021

Gravesham Borough Council
Risk Management Strategy

2020-2021

Introduction

1.1 Gravesham Borough Council pursues a forward-looking and dynamic approach to 
delivering services to the local community, in doing so the authority is exposed to risk 
both in terms of threats and loss of opportunities. (The table in Appendix I provides a 
brief outline of the major elements of risk to which Gravesham Borough Council 
could potentially be exposed).  The authority recognises that risks are inevitable and, 
in practice, cannot be entirely avoided; therefore the council will tolerate a certain 
degree of risk when pursuing objectives, executing strategies and delivering 
services.  

1.2 The council will consider risk in most of its activities and decisions.  Reports to the 
council’s Management Team and Members require risks associated with the decision 
being taken to be considered.  The council’s project management approach also 
recognises the need to identify, manage and monitor risks as a contributing factor to 
effective project management.

1.3 To ensure the council’s risk appetite remains reasonable and does not exceed 
acceptable levels the authority has adopted a prudential approach to risk taking, 
whereby decisions are made within the parameters of the council’s internal control 
arrangements as set out within the constitution. In addition, to help drive continuous 
improvement and promote good risk management practices, a Risk Management 
Strategy has been developed which supports the following key systems:

 Corporate governance.
 Community focus.
 Structures and processes.
 Service delivery arrangements.
 Use of resources.
 Standards of conduct.

Page 82



Strategic Risk Management – Risk Management Strategy 2020-2021

2. The aims & objectives of the Risk Management Strategy

2.1 The purpose of the risk management strategy is to embed risk management into the 
daily operations of the council. Good risk management will lead to good 
management, good performance, good stewardship of public money, good public 
engagement and, ultimately, good outcomes for citizens and service users. 

2.2 The aim of the Risk Management Strategy is to:
 Ensure the security of Council assets.
 Ensure the safety and well-being of Members, employees and service users.
 Safeguard the reputation and image of the organisation.
 Prevent litigation and criminal prosecution.
 Prevent corruption, fraud and financial losses.
 Minimize the overall cost of risk to the organisation.
 Protect the quality of service delivered.
 Manage organisational, political and technological changes.
 Ensure the integrity of the organisation.
 Ensure sound ethical conduct and probity. 

2.3 The objectives of the Risk Management Strategy is to ensure officers and 
       Members to:

 Adopt a logical and systematic approach to identifying, analysing, evaluating, 
treating, and monitoring and reporting all risks, associated with any activity, 
objective, function or process within which they become involved.

 Evaluate the consequence and likelihood of risks to measure their severity.
 Utilise the Risk Management Process and structure to minimise losses and 

maximise opportunities.
 Manage to a reasonable level, all types of risk to which the organisation is 

exposed including Environmental, Financial, Strategic and Operational.
 Be actively involved in using the risk management process to evaluate risks 

associated with Corporate and Service objectives including risks involved in 
failing to achieve these objectives.

 Maintain at all times safe, places of work, systems of work, equipment, materials 
for work, together with a safe and healthy working environment. 

 Keep all work activities under review by carrying out regular risk assessments, 
internal and external audits so as to identify all matters likely to affect the safety 
of members, employees, service users, Partners, visitors and others, as well as 
the effective and efficient running of organisational processes. 

 Participate with other bodies including the Council’s insurers to develop and 
share risk management best practice. 

 Implement policies, procedures, preventative and protective measures 
information and training for employees and others based on the outcome of such 
risk assessments / audits, as are necessary to adequately control risk.

Page 83



Strategic Risk Management – Risk Management Strategy 2020-2021

3. The importance of Good Risk Management?

3.1 Risk management is considered the central part of an organisations strategic 
management. A robust risk management process can help create a culture of
“no surprises” by enabling risks attaching to an organisation’s activities to be 
proactively identified, evaluated and appropriately treated thereby increasing the 
probability of success, and reducing both the probability of failure and the uncertainty 
of achieving objectives. The benefits of good risk management can be seen in 
illustration I.

3.2 A robust risk management process will help raise awareness and understanding of:

• The nature and extent of the risks facing the organisation.
• The extent and categories of risks that are regarded as acceptable. 
• The likelihood and potential impact of risks materialising.
• The ability to reduce the incidence of impact on the organisation of risks that do 

materialise.
• The significance of regular and on-going monitoring and reporting of risks 

including implementation of early warning mechanisms.
• The cost of operating particular controls relative to the benefit obtained in 

managing related risks. 
• The importance of conducting, an annual review of the internal control systems 

that are in place.
• The results that are reported from the annual review as well as the explanation of 

actions to be taken to address any significant concerns identified.

Page 84



Strategic Risk Management – Risk Management Strategy 2020-2021

Illustration I 

The Benefits of Good Risk Management

Achieve benefits 
& exploit 

opportunities 
enabling 

innovation

Adapt to 
changes in the 

market and 
customer needs

Achieve and 
demonstrate 

good 
governance

Avoid Impact of 
Failure 

(perceived or 
actual)

Support Value 
for Money, 
project and 

performance 
management

Comply with 
legal and 
regulatory 

requirements

Manage 
partnerships, 

suppliers’ 
contractors and 

on-going 
services.

Control 
acquisition or 

development of 
new services.

Maintain Service 
Provision 
through 

Adversity

Manage external 
changes in 

culture, political, 
environmental 

etc.

Achieve 
objectives / 

deliver 
services

Page 85



Strategic Risk Management – Risk Management Strategy 2020-2021

4. The Risk Management Process 

4.1 An annual strategic risk management exercise to identify, analyse and prioritise risks 
that may affect the ability of the council to achieve its objectives is conducted by the 
authority. There are a number of critical steps that are taken during the risk 
management exercise and these are as follows:

4.2 Identifying risks

Potential risks that may arise are identified by Members, Management Team, Wider 
Management Team and Service Managers, so that informed decisions can be made 
about policies and/or service delivery methods. They may be general, relating to the 
environment within which the council operates, or specific, relating to a key area of 
service delivery. 
 

4.3 Analysing risks

Available data is used to provide information to help assess the likelihood of any 
risk arising or the potential impact on the councils activities. The council has 
introduced a risk matrix which is a numerical scoring system for analysing risks that 
have been identified by the council: (The risk matrix can be seen at Appendix II).

4.4 Profiling risks

Risks are profiled according to their likelihood and severity as follows:

High risk A total risk scoring 10 or above (red).
Medium risk A total risk scoring between 5 and 9 (amber).
Low risk A total risk scoring 4 or below (green).

4.5 Prioritising risks

Risks are prioritised based on the how the council decides to approach each risk.            
Control action is then determined based on tolerance and aversion to risk balanced 
against the availability of resources.

4.6 Determining actions on risk

      A course of action can then be determined based on whether the risk is to be
      Transferred, Tolerated, Treated or Terminated.

4.7 Controlling risk

      Once appropriate action is determined for each risk, the process of controlling that
      risk commences. This involves either Treating/Terminating/Tolerating or Transferring  
      the risk and/or alleviating its potential impact.

Page 86



Strategic Risk Management – Risk Management Strategy 2020-2021

4.8 Monitoring and progress reporting 

Once risks have been identified, evaluated, their control action agreed and 
implemented, risks must be monitored and their progress should be formally reported 
so that:
 The adequacy of control actions that have been implemented can be reviewed.
 Changes in the severity of risks can be promptly identified and reported. 
 Additional action to further control escalating risks can be promptly undertaken.
 Actions being carried out to control risks in respect of strategies that have been 

executed, or objective’s that have been met can be terminated.
 Lessons can be learned for future risk assessments and decision making.

4.9 Recording Risks

All risks identified during the risk management process are recorded in either the 
Corporate Risk Register; and or individual Service Risk Registers.  The purpose 
of risk registers is to document: 
 Details of each risk, their severity and the monitoring and control actions that 

have been agreed to control each risk.
 Details of person(s) who are responsible for monitoring and controlling risks and 

reporting on their progress.
 Details of whether or not agreed controls are effectively managing risks.
 Details of what additional control actions are necessary to ensure intended 

actions are being achieved.
 Details of any new and emerging risks.

5. The roles and responsibilities of various key individuals and groups in relation 
to risk management

5.1 Responsibility for risk management runs throughout the council.  Specific roles and 
responsibilities have been identified so that risk management is embedded in the 
culture of the council. (Table (i) in Appendix III shows the roles and responsibilities of 
various key individuals and groups in relation to risk management and Table (ii) 
shows the annual risk reporting programme).

6. Links to Governance issues

6.1 The following governance arrangements have been identified as having links to the 
councils Risk Management Strategy:

6.2 Controls

To ensure departments operate in an efficient and effective manner Service 
Managers are responsible for ensuring appropriate processes and procedures that 
incorporate adequate controls exist and are followed thereby enable the authority to;

Page 87



Strategic Risk Management – Risk Management Strategy 2020-2021

 Comply with statutory and management requirements.
 Safeguard assets.
 Maintain accurate and secure records.
 Identify and correct any errors, omissions or oversights.

6.3 Systems of internal control

The council as a whole operates within a framework of policies and procedures 
intended to direct the activity of the council and ensure transparency in decision 
making. The Constitution forms the main spine of these arrangements and includes 
the council's financial procedure rules and contract procedure rules.  Responsible 
officers are expected to ensure that effective internal control arrangements are 
incorporated into the design or development of systems and procedures. Such 
arrangements would include ensuring adequate segregation of duties, authorisation 
and physical security controls to protect the council from error, misappropriation or 
loss. 

Compliance with internal controls is reviewed by the council’s Internal Audit function.  
Internal Audit is an independent, objective assurance and consulting function 
designed to add value and improve an organisation’s operations. It helps the 
organisation accomplish its objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined approach 
to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of risk management, control and 
governance processes.

6.4 Control environment

The councils control environment comprises of its system of governance, risk 
management process and system of internal control these systems are designed to 
ensure: 

 Risk management is embedded into the activity of the organisation.
 Achievement of the organisations objectives is established and monitored.
 Compliance with established policies, procedures, laws and regulations. 
 Staff are trained and equipped to manage risk in a way appropriate to their 

authority.
 Resources are used economically effectively and efficiently to facilitate continuous 

improvement.
 Finances are prudently managed and reported.
 Performance is effectively managed and reported.

All managers are responsible for ensuring the councils objectives are delivered with 
proper controls in place and through the effective and efficient use of resources 
thereby providing value for money.  Controls are reported through the Annual 
Governance Statement, to ensure that systems are delivering consistent, predictable 
and effective results in or to meet service or corporate objectives.

6.5 Data Quality

     The councils approach to delivering and improving data quality across the whole     

Page 88



Strategic Risk Management – Risk Management Strategy 2020-2021

   authority is outlined in the Data Quality Policy.  The policy demonstrates the
   council’s commitment to ensuring that all information retained or provided by the 
   council is accurate, reliable and fit for purpose. 

6.6 Anti-Fraud and Corruption

The councils approach to all forms of fraud and corruption is detailed in the Anti-Fraud 
& Corruption Strategy. The strategy is designed to:

 Encourage prevention. 
 Promote detection.
 Support investigation of fraud, bribery and corruption.

6.7 Whistleblowing

The councils Whistleblowing Policy aims to ensure openness, probity and 
accountability by encouraging Officers and others, who have serious concerns about 
any aspect of the council's work, to come forward and voice their concerns within the 
council, without fear of reprisals, rather than overlooking a problem or “blowing the 
whistle” outside. 

6.8 Money Laundering

In order to prevent the use of council services and personnel for money laundering, the 
council has developed an Anti-Money Laundering Policy that sets out internal 
procedures to ensure: 

 Potential areas where money laundering may occur are identified.
 All legal and regulatory requirements are complied with.
 Actual or suspected cases of money laundering activity are appropriately reported. 

6.9 Business Continuity Management

Service Managers are responsible for documenting Business Continuity Plans 
relevant to their service areas, so that critical functions and services can continue to 
be provided and there is effective recovery in the event of and following a disruption 
or catastrophic event.

Page 89



Strategic Risk Management – Risk Management Strategy 2020-2021

Appendix I

The two categories in which the range of risks facing Gravesham Borough Council can 
be placed into is Strategic Risks and Operational Risks. The table below provides a 
brief outline of the major elements of risk facing Gravesham Borough Council) under 
both categories.

Strategic Risks Operational Risks

Political Risks: arising from changes in 
political control or significant policy changes at 
a national or local level.

Professional Risks: associated with the 
professional competence of Officers employed 
by the authority.

Economic Risks: arising from changes in the 
economic climate.

Financial Risk: associated with inadequate 
financial planning resulting in lack of funding.

Social Risks: arising from unanticipated 
effects of changes in demographic, residential 
or social trends.

Contractual Risks: arising from the failure of 
contractors to deliver services to an agreed 
cost and quality specification.

Technology Risks: arising from unanticipated 
technological changes that might render 
significant investments obsolete or undermine 
key assumptions.

Technological Risks: arising from over-
reliance on IT and other operational equipment.

Legislative Risks: arising from legislative 
change at UK or European level placing 
significant new obligations on the authority.

Legal Risks: arising from breaches of 
legislation.

Environmental Risks: arising from 
unexpected adverse environmental impacts on 
the council’s delivery of services.  

 
Environmental Risks: arising from pollution, 
noise or the energy efficiency of on-going 
service operations.

Customer/Citizen Risks: arising from 
unexpected changes in the needs and 
expectations of the public.

Partnership Risks: where projects or activities 
are at risk of not being delivered effectively to 
cost or on time because of the complexity of 
partnership working or failure of a partner in 
some aspects of delivery.
Reputational Risks: threat to the 
organisation’s reputation and public perception 
of service including its efficiency and 
effectiveness.

Physical Risks: fire hazards, lack of security, 
inadequate health and safety measures, etc.

Page 90



Strategic Risk Management – Risk Management Strategy 2020-2021

Appendix II

The Risk Matrix 

Very 
High 5 5 10 15 20

High 4 4 8 12 16

Medium 3 3 6 9 12

Low 2 2 4 6 8

Very 
Low 1 1 2 3 4

High Risk 1 2 3 4

Medium Risk
Low Risk

Negligible Significant Serious Critical

LI
K

EL
IH

O
O

D

IMPACT

Page 91



Strategic Risk Management – Risk Management Strategy 2020-2021

Guidance used for assessing Likelihood and Impact Appendix II

Likelihood:
Rating Score

Very High 5
On the evidence and knowledge of officers and members it is almost 
certain that this issue will occur sometime within the next year.  The issue 
may have already occurred in previous years either at the council or 
elsewhere.

High 4 On the evidence and knowledge of officers and members it is very likely 
that this issue or event will occur in the coming year.

Medium 3 On the evidence and knowledge of officers and members the issue is 
more likely to occur than not in the coming year. 

Low 2 On the evidence and knowledge of officers and members it is unlikely that 
this event will occur in the coming year.  Occurrences of this risk have 
occurred in the past but occurrences are very few and far between.

Very Low 1 On the evidence and knowledge of officers and members it is unlikely that 
this event would occur in either the coming year or in future years.

Impact:
Rating Score

Critical 4

The impact that the occurrence of this risk would have on the authority 
would threaten the council’s financial stability.  The delivery of service to 
the public could be affected either permanently or for a long duration and 
the council would be unable to achieve its key objectives.  There would 
be a seriously damaging impact on the council’s reputation through poor 
media coverage.

Serious 3

The financial impact on the authority would be serious although would not 
threaten the stability of the council’s financial position.  Services would 
experience disruption with the delivery of services being affected for a 
number of days.  Whilst the council’s objectives would be met there would 
be significant delays in achieving them.  The council would endure poor 
media coverage for a period of time affecting the council’s reputation 
which would take some time to recover from. 

Significant 2
There would be a financial impact on the authority however this would be 
manageable within the council’s existing financial resources.  There may 
be disruption to services and possibly delays in achieving the council’s 
objectives.  There may be poor media coverage which could affect the 
council in the long term.

Negligible 1
There is little or no financial impact of the risk to the authority.  There 
would be no disruption to the delivery of the council’s key objectives or 
frontline services.  It is unlikely that this risk will impact on the council’s 
reputation. 

Page 92



Strategic Risk Management – Risk Management Strategy 2020-2021

The roles and responsibilities of various key individuals and groups in relation to risk management Appendix III

Table (i)
Cabinet & 
Members

Finance & Audit 
Committee

Management 
Team

Service 
Managers

Support 
Services

Service 
Providers

Risk 
Management 
Framework

Review of the Risk 
Management 
Framework on an 
annual basis.

Provide independent 
assurance on the 
adequacy of the Risk 
Management 
Framework.

Determine & agree 
Risk Management 
Framework.

 
Provide advice & 
support.

 

Risk 
Management 
Strategy

 
Review the Risk 
Management 
Strategy on an 
annual basis.

Review Risk 
Management Strategy 
prior to Cabinet approval.

Determine & agree 
Risk Management 
Strategy.

 
Provide advice & 
support.

 

Corporate 
Risk Register

Determine & agree 
risks for inclusion in 
Corporate Risk 
Register.                                  
Carry out annual 
review of the 
Corporate Risk 
Register.

Identify risks for inclusion 
in Corporate Risk 
Register.
Review Corporate Risk 
Register prior to Cabinet 
approval. 

Determine & agree 
risks for inclusion in 
Corporate Risk 
Register.

 
Identify risks for 
inclusion in 
Corporate Risk 
Register.

Provide advice & 
support.

 

Service Risk 
Registers

  
Agree risks for 
inclusion in Service 
Risk Registers                 
Carry out annual 
review of Service 
Risk Registers.

Determine risks 
for inclusion in 
Service Risk 
Registers.

Provide advice & 
support.

 

P
age 93



Strategic Risk Management – Risk Management Strategy 2020-2021

The roles and responsibilities of various key individuals and groups in relation to risk management                Appendix III 

Table (i)
Cabinet & 
Members

Finance & Audit 
Committee

Management 
Team

Service 
Managers

Support 
Services

Service 
Providers

Step 1                                             
Risk 
Identification

Identify strategic 
risks.

Discuss possible risks for 
inclusion in the revised 
risk register.

 
Identify strategic & 
cross service risks.

Identify strategic 
& service risks.

Provide advice & 
support.

Maintain 
awareness of 
risks & feeding 
these into the 
formal 
processes.

Step 2                         
Risk Analysis

Analyse likelihood & 
impact of strategic 
risks.

 
Analyse likelihood 
& impact of 
strategic & cross 
service risks. 

Analyse strategic 
& service risks.

Provide advice & 
support. 
Responsible for 
core functions of 
risk management.

Maintain 
awareness of 
the impact & 
cost of risks & 
feeding 
information & 
data
into the formal 
processes.

Step 3                           
Risk Profiling

Profile strategic risks.
 

Profile strategic & 
cross service risks.

Profile strategic & 
service risks.

Provide advice & 
support. 

 

Step 4                              
Risk 
Prioritisation

Prioritising strategic 
risks.

 
Prioritise strategic 
& cross service 
risks.

Prioritise strategic 
& service risks.

Provide advice & 
support.

 

P
age 94



Strategic Risk Management – Risk Management Strategy 2020-2021

The roles and responsibilities of various key individuals and groups in relation to risk management                Appendix III

Table (i)
Cabinet & 
Members

Finance & Audit 
Committee

Management 
Team

Service 
Managers

Support 
Services

Service 
Providers

Step 5                       
Determining 
risk 
management 
Actions

Determine actions to 
transfer, tolerate, 
treat or terminate 
strategic risks.

 
Determine actions 
to transfer, tolerate, 
treat or terminate 
strategic & cross 
service risks.

Determine action 
on Strategic and 
service risks.
Delegate 
responsibility for 
control.
Ensure adequate 
service continuity 
plans are in place.  

Provide advice & 
support. 

 

Step 6                                   
Risk Control

Determine control 
actions.

 
Control risks by 
delegating 
responsibility. 

Control Risks 
including those 
delegated by 
Management 
Team.

Provide advice & 
support, & control
specific risk 
areas.

Control risk in 
their jobs.

Step 7                                             
Monitoring &  
Progress/ 
Performance
 Reporting

 
Monitor the effective 
development & operation 
of risk management in 
the authority. 

Monitor progress 
on managing 
strategic & cross-
business risks & 
review the 
implementation of 
the Risk 
Management 
Framework, Risk 
Management 
Strategy & Risk 
Management 
Process.

Monitor progress 
on managing 
risks.
Report to the 
departmental 
management 
team. 

Provide advice & 
support.

Monitor 
progress on 
managing job 
related risks. 
Report to the 
Service 
Manager. 

P
age 95



Strategic Risk Management – Risk Management Strategy 2020-2021

Appendix IV

The annual risk management reporting programme 2020-2021

Table (ii)
January 2020 Management Team to discuss and review the Risks 

identified and included in the draft version of the 
Corporate Risk Register for 2020-2021.

17 February 2020 Finance & Audit Committee presented with the 
draft version of the 2020-2021 Risk Management 
Strategy and Corporate Risk Register. Copy to be 
sent to Corporate Performance Team.

March 2020 Draft version of the 2020-2021 Risk Management 
Strategy (if necessary) and Corporate Risk Register 
presented at Chief Executive Briefing for review.

23 March 2020 Cabinet presented with the final version of the 2020-
2021 Risk Management Strategy and Corporate Risk 
Register.

14 April 2020 Council presented with Annual Report on Strategic 
Risk Management (including Risk Management 
Strategy).

September 2020 Senior Officers are contacted and requested to 
provide progress information relating to risks 
recorded in the 2020-21 Corporate Risk Register. 

November  2020 Finance & Audit Committee presented with mid-
year risk report. F&A are required to review and 
discuss progress information and consider any new 
risks that have been identified for inclusion in the - 
2021-2022 Corporate Risk Register.

December  2020 Senior Officers requested to carry out risk 
identification exercise and consider control actions to 
be implemented to manage identified risks.  
Development of the draft version of the Corporate 
Risk Register for 2021-2022 commences.

Page 96



Corporate Risk Register 2020-2021
Analysis of Risks

Page 1

Gravesham Borough Council’s Corporate Risk Register is the result of an annual strategic risk management exercise that is conducted to identify, analyse and prioritise those risks that may affect the ability of the council to 
achieve its corporate objectives.  Finance & Audit Committee have responsibility for monitoring the effective development and operation of risk management within the council and reviewing the Corporate Risk Register prior 
to its submission to Cabinet for approval.  This document should be read in conjunction with the report in which the outcomes from the annual risk identification exercise are presented.  
The following matrix is utilised when assessing whether a risk is a high, medium or low risk for the council to help determine which risks should be included in the Corporate Risk Register and which risks should be managed 
at departmental level:

The Risk Matrix

Very 
High 5 5 10 15 20

High 4 4 8 12 16

Medium 3 3 6 9 12

Low 2 2 4 6 8

Very 
Low 1 1 2 3 4

High Risk 1 2 3 4

Medium Risk
Low Risk

Negligible Significant Serious Critical

LI
K

EL
IH

O
O

D

IMPACT

The Corporate Risks that have been assessed for 2020-2021 are: 

1. On-going financial viability of the Council
2. Changes in national priorities and legislation
3. Organisational capacity/ resilience
4. Universal Credit
5. Cyberattack resulting in data breach or corruption of data
6. Investment Risk

Likelihood
Rating Score

Very High 5 On the evidence and knowledge of officers and members it is almost certain that this 
issue will occur sometime within the next year.  The issue may have already occurred in 
previous years either at the council or elsewhere.

High 4 On the evidence and knowledge of officers and members it is very likely that this issue 
or event will occur in the coming year.

Medium 3 On the evidence and knowledge of officers and members the issue is more likely to 
occur than not in the coming year. 

Low 2 On the evidence and knowledge of officers and members it is unlikely that this event will 
occur in the coming year.  Occurrences of this risk have occurred in the past but 
occurrences are very few and far between.

Very Low 1 On the evidence and knowledge that this event would occur in either the coming year or 
in future years.

Impact
Rating Score

Critical 4
The financial impact on the authority would critically threaten the council’s financial 
stability.  The delivery of service to the public could be affected either permanently or for 
a long duration and the council could not achieve its key objectives.  There would be a 
seriously damaging impact on the council’s reputation through poor media coverage.

Serious 3

The financial impact on the authority would be serious although would not threaten the 
stability of the council’s financial position.  Services would experience disruption with the 
delivery of services being affected for a number of days.  Whilst the council’s objectives 
would be met there would be significant delays in achieving them.  The council would 
endure poor media coverage for a period of time affecting the council’s reputation which 
would take some time to recover from. 

Significant 2
There would be a financial impact on the authority however this would be manageable 
within the council’s existing financial resources.  There may be disruption to services and 
possibly delays in achieving the council’s objectives.  There may be poor media 
coverage which could affect the council in the long term.

Negligible 1 There is little or no financial impact of the risk to the authority.  There would be no 
disruption to the delivery of the council’s key objectives or frontline services.  It is unlikely 
that this risk will impact on the council’s reputation.

P
age 97



Corporate Risk Register 2020-2021
Analysis of Risks

Page 2

Risk: 1. On-going financial viability of the council Owner: Director (Corporate Services)

Risk Background: 
Over the last decade Gravesham Borough Council, along with the rest of local government, has experienced 
significant and sustained cuts to its funding whilst demand on services has risen.  By the end of 2019-20 the 
council will have experienced a cash reduction in government funding levels of some £5m (65%) since 
2010-11 (excluding the funding derived from the New Homes Bonus Scheme).

The council has faced these challenges head-on and followed a multi-faceted, proactive programme of 
activity to reduce its budget requirement and ensure a balanced budget which is based on sound 
assumptions for how planned expenditure will be met.  This activity has been successfully delivered, 
resulting in the council being able to present a fully balanced budget for the current Medium Term Financial 
Plan which requires no additional savings to be delivered in the plan period to 2028-29.  

Central Government have released a Local Government Provisional Finance Settlement for one year only 
relating to 2020-21, with no certainty on the future of local government funding after this.  The forthcoming 
year will see the 2020 Spending Review (setting the envelope of funding available to local government) and 
decisions being taken by Central Government on a number of other local government funding reforms that 
are planned for introduction from April 2021, including the Fair Funding Review and reforms to the current 
Business Rates Retention System.  There is also significant uncertainty regarding the potential impacts on 
the economy after the UK leave the European Union.  

Consequences:
 Inability to plan effectively due to the lack of clarity around the future level of government 

funding support and how the business rates retention scheme will operate in practice. 
 Potential for MHCLG to reduce the total funding available to the council (including retained 

business rates) beyond the levels projected in the MTFP to support other departmental 
funding pressures. 

 Council exposed to increased financial risk and volatility from changes to funding and any 
redesigned business rates scheme. 

 Unplanned cuts in services needed and/or drop in quality of delivery, potentially leading to 
damage to Council’s reputation. 

 Financial savings not achieved. 
 Budgets exceeded and/or reserves depleted. 
 Problems stored up for the future. 
 Minimum working balance of £2.00 million is not maintained. 
 New legislative requirements not met. 
 Uncertainty over future large projects. 
 Potential for infrastructure to deteriorate. 
 Potential for the introduction of further statutory discounts for Business Rates payers without 

compensation from central government. 

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE
Likelihood 5 Impact 4 Score 20 Likelihood 4 Impact 3 Score 12

Existing Controls Additional Actions required to further mitigate risk  Lead Officer(s) Target Date 

1.1 Medium Term Financial Strategy in 
place 

Continue to review reserves and working balance annually to assess financial sustainability and 
appropriateness of working balances and reserves as a means to manage cash flow, future 
requirements and unexpected events.
Continue the council’s financial strategy objectives and the core principles that underpin these.
Development of a new Medium Term Financial Strategy for the council once the outcomes of the Fair 
Funding Review and Retained Business Rates Scheme design are known.

Director (Corporate Services) 
Assistant Director (Corporate 

Services) February 2021

  
1.2  Medium Term Financial Plan in place Continued maintenance of the Medium Term Financial Plan. 

Modelling of the effects of the Fair Funding review and Retained Business Rates Retention Scheme 
once known.

Director (Corporate Services) 
Assistant Director (Corporate 

Services)
Ongoing to March 

2021

1.3  Budget Monitoring Process Continue the programme of development for the council’s Financial Management System. 
New performance measure implemented to assess compliance with budget monitoring arrangements. 
Continue to proactively respond to central government consultations on funding for local government

Assistant Director (Corporate 
Services) Ongoing to March 

2021

P
age 98



Corporate Risk Register 2020-2021
Analysis of Risks

Page 3

Risk: 2. Changes in national priorities and legislation Owners: Chief Executive and Management Team

Risk Background:
Good governance requires that the council is fully informed of legislation and national priorities’ including 
Nationally Significant Infrastructure Projects (NSIPs) to ensure that it is best placed to respond to any 
implications for its operations or, the Borough more widely. 

Following the General Election in December 2019, the Queen’s Speech introduced the government’s formal 
programme of prospective legislation. Alongside key policy announcements, prospective legislation that 
impacts upon local government service provision include:
 Domestic Abuse Bill.
 Employment Bill.
 Serious Violence Bill.
 Sentencing Bill.
 Environment Bill
 Telecommunications Infrastructure Bill.
 Renters’ Reform Bill.
 Fire Safety Bill, Building Safety Bill.
 Armed Forces (Legal Protections) Bill.
 European Union (Withdrawal Agreement) Bill.

On enactment of relevant legislation, the council will potentially face new statutory duties, responsibilities or 
standards with which to adhere, potentially challenging existing services and working practices. 

Additionally, in January 2020 the European Withdrawal Agreement Bill was enacted by parliament. Whilst 
the broader social and economic uncertainty associated with delivery of ‘Brexit’ has subsided, there remains 
inherent risk relating to the transition period and the next phase of withdrawal. The Government’s trade 
negotiations, both in terms of timescale and final content, present risks in terms of further legislative 
developments and, more directly, the potential to cause financial instability to council income and 
investments via national economic uncertainty. 

In respect of NSIPs, current proposals that are being progressed and have potential impact on the borough 
include:
• Lower Thames Crossing (in Gravesham and Thurrock)
• Thurrock Flexible Generation Plant (Tilbury)
• London Resort (in Dartford/Gravesham)

The council will need to ensure it has access to sufficient and appropriate resources to enable it to 
effectively respond to these proposals, as further information is released.  

Consequences:
 Change of strategic direction for the council. 
 Breakdown in governance controls and processes.
 New legislative and regulatory duties not met and the potential for legal challenge. 
 Severe financial position, challenging the council’s ability to deliver the corporate objectives 

and policy commitments within the Corporate Plan. 
 Logistical challenges to the delivery of council services and effectiveness of the council’s 

supply chain.
 Sustained levels of service underperformance, resulting in a failure to meet community needs 

and expectations. 
 Additional costs/workload pressures for staff impacting morale, sickness absence and future 

recruitment and retention. 
 Increased scrutiny from Members, agencies, media and community stakeholders / reputational 

damage.
 The council may need to redirect resources to enable responses to consultations and other 

processes quickly.

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE
Likelihood 5 Impact 4 Score 20 Likelihood 5 Impact 3 Score 15

Existing Controls Additional Actions required to further mitigate risk Lead Officer(s) Target Date

2.1 Timely policy insight Circulation of monthly policy briefings and timely legislative updates. Corporate Performance Manager Monthly until 
March 2021

P
age 99



Corporate Risk Register 2020-2021
Analysis of Risks

Page 4

Existing Controls Additional Actions required to further mitigate risk Lead Officer(s) Target Date

2.2 Commitment to informing government 
policy

Working alongside partner agencies (LGA etc.), deliver proactive responses to formal consultations 
and policy papers from central government to ensure Gravesham’s strategic position is effectively 
represented. 

Wider Management Team Ongoing to March 
2021

2.3 Proactive engagement with partner 
agencies  

Ensure a strong commitment to the council’s partnership working arrangements and sustaining 
Gravesham’s involvement with key stakeholder agencies and working groups on a national and local 
basis including (but not exclusive to):
- Local Government Association
- District Councils Network 
- Kent Finance Officers Group
- Kent Resilience Forum

Wider Management Team Ongoing to March 
2021

2.4 Planning for Business Continuity Business Continuity Plans to be reviewed and updated to ensure they remain fit for purpose. Wider Management Team March 2021

2.5 Establishment of a new Member training 
and development plan 

Development of a Member Training and Development Plan to provide ongoing support all Members. Committee Services Manager/Wider 
Management Team March 2021

2.6 Maintain proactive briefing and 
information sharing arrangements between 
council departments, Members and staff to 
ensure an effective and coordinated 
response to significant projects in the 
Borough

Develop effective working practices between departments to enable information sharing and 
coordination of responses on behalf of the council. 
Put in place a mechanism which enables regular updates to be provided to Members Director (Planning & Development) March 2021

P
age 100



Corporate Risk Register 2020-2021
Analysis of Risks

Page 5

Risk: 3. Organisational capacity/resilience Owners: Chief Executive and Management Team

Risk Background: 
The council’s Management Team have put in place a number of arrangements to help the effective direction 
of the council’s finite staffing resources, including approval of all new appointments and the cessation of 
temporary staff contracts and non-contractual overtime (except in exceptional circumstances).  This is 
intended to reduce the risk of key person dependency and poor resilience by recognising and improving 
organisational capacity and resilience where needed, identifying critical tasks, working flexibly across 
departments and developing the skills and abilities of key leaders and staff. 

In developing its working arrangements the council will also need to manage the aging operational buildings 
from which it delivers services to ensure these remain fit for purpose and capable of supporting its ways of 
working and the methods of access preferred by service users.

The council also needs to ensure that it has plans in place to cope with other potential impacts on capacity 
which may result from severe weather, building damage or pandemic to ensure that key services can 
continue to be delivered, particularly in light of the current coronavirus outbreak.

Consequences:
 Council unprepared for changes resulting in pressure being placed on resources, this in turn 

could lead to the council struggling to meet changes in demand for services.
 Services areas with reduced staff will suffer a greater impact which in turn will add pressures 

on already stretched recourses.
 Increased organisational stress can negatively impact productivity, which in turn can reduce 

staff motivation, create low morale and increase sickness and stress levels.
 The council will be required to provide additional help and support to overcome the problems 

that result from increased organisational stress.
 Increases in liability claims and weaknesses in internal controls could result due to there being 

insufficient staff resources to carry out essential roles and responsibilities.
 Cuts in services and a potential drop in service quality is also possible

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE
Likelihood 5 Impact 4 Score 20 Likelihood 5 Impact 3 Score 15

Existing Controls Additional Actions required to further mitigate risk  Lead Officer(s) Target Date

3.1 Effective Allocation of resources Management Team to continue to receive all requests to fill vacant posts.
Management Team to continue to receive periodic information regarding staff resourcing costs v 
budget, which includes information on vacancies to enable discussion on this. 
Annual review of vacant positions within the authority. 
Annual review of the delivery of existing shared services to confirm that these continue to work well, 
provide resilience and offer career opportunities for staff. 
Continue to develop and use technology where possible to free up resources that could be allocated to 
other tasks.

Management Team Ongoing to March 
2021

3.2 Flexible working arrangements Consider ways in which the workforce can work more flexibly, including shared services, work 
patterns, appropriate remote working and use of available technology. 

Continue to offer apprenticeship positions that focus on ensuring that, at the end of the training 
contract, apprentices are ‘job ready’.  Seek to train apprentices in areas where the council may be 
having difficulties in recruitment.

Management Team Ongoing to March 
2021

P
age 101



Corporate Risk Register 2020-2021
Analysis of Risks

Page 6

Existing Controls Additional Actions required to further mitigate risk  Lead Officer(s) Target Date

3.3 Provision of training and support Retain a specific budget for supporting staff training and development. 
In line with the Investors In People (IIP) Action plan, ensure annual appraisals are carried out for all 
staff to identify training needs, alongside periodic one to one meetings to monitor performance and 
identify any further training needs.
Continue to offer all employees e-learning and face to face training opportunities via the HRA Shared 
Service iShare training system.

Director (Communities) Ongoing to March 
2021

3.4 Workforce Support Continue to operate the Joint Staff forum to update the workforce on key issues regarding the Council 
and give employees the opportunity to raise any concerns they may have.
Deliver the IIP action plan.  
Continue to actively proactively and positively engage with Trade Unions.
Continue communication to promote Occupational Health, the Employee Assistance Programme and 
the Mental Health Champions as further confidential support services for staff.

Director (Communities) Jan 2021

3.5 Operational Building Management Asset Management Group to maintain oversight of the operational buildings used to deliver council 
services. Director (Communities) Jan 2021

3.6 Effective Business Continuity 
Framework

Review all Business Continuity plans on an annual basis to ensure that they are up to date and fit for 
purpose.
Develop existing information for local businesses or organisations with regards to the importance for 
their own resilience during a potential Business Continuity event that affects their business and staff.

Wider Management Team Jan 2021 P
age 102



Corporate Risk Register 2020-2021
Analysis of Risks

Page 7

Risk: 4. Universal Credit Owner: Director (Corporate Services)

Risk Background: 
Gravesham adopted Universal Credit ‘Live’ service in its most basic form on the 18 May 2015 for single 
residents only in prescribed circumstances. The impact was minimal and did not produce a risk score. 
Universal Credit live service was closed to new claims from 31 December 2017. 
Universal Credit ‘Full’ service commenced in May 2018 and was available for all types of claimant with the 
exception of a few categories. 
The Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) had overall responsibility for implementing Universal Credit, 
although the Council has a key role in in providing Universal Support to residents who wish to claim.

From 1 April 2019 the DWP sub contracted Citizens Advice to do the Assisted Digital Support and Personal 
Budgeting Support directly to residents. Implementation of additional analytical software to support the 
Housing Income Team along with regular income collection performance monitoring, review of income 
collection procedures and audits and early intervention to support tenants has assisted in dealing with this 
risk adequately.

The Work and Pensions Secretary announced Feb 2020 that the full roll-out of Universal Credit has been 
delayed from Dec 2023 to Sept 2024 as data now suggests that natural migration over to Universal Credit 
through changes to people’s circumstances is happening less frequently then previously predicted.

Consequences:
There remains much uncertainty as to the exact direct and indirect consequences of the changes 
upon the authority, particularly whether resources to support the scheme will still be required to be 
retained by the council (and at what level) once administration of Universal Credit is taken over by 
the Department for Work and Pensions in its entirety . The latest announcement (Feb 2020) has 
again delayed managed migration this time to Sept 2024. This makes it difficult to predict the 
resourcing requirements of the benefits service.
Data shows that  Full service caseload is continuing to reduce and the number of new claims 
received is starting to reduce however the workload has actually increased as a result of the 
number of notifications that the DWP JCP send through on a daily/weekly basis. 
Direct consequences are; 

 A reduction in HB caseload.
 A reduction in council dwelling rental income and increase in rent arrears as 

payments will be made direct to the tenant, rather than direct to the rent account as 
they are now.

 Increase in workload for Housing Team.
 Increases in evictions/homelessness/voids. 
 Rise in level of corporate debt.
 Customers may suffer hardship. 

Indirect consequences are also expected, with increased costs of cash handling through the shift 
away from rebating benefit to cash transactions.

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE
Likelihood 5 Impact 3 Score 15 Likelihood 4 Impact 3 Score 12

Existing Controls Additional Actions required to further mitigate risk  Lead Officer(s)
Target Date 

4.1  Regular meetings planned to take place 
with JCP Senior Officers

Meetings were scheduled at the beginning of the year to take place monthly. These have been taking 
place as planned and are regularly attended by Housing Income Officers, Citizens Advice, JCP and 
Housing Benefits. We have recently included Housing Options in our attendees list. Any issues are 
highlighted and discussed by all organisations which is invaluable for successful networking and 
keeping up to date with latest changes. 
On a weekly basis we take part in a tele kit for improving the customer experience. This is hosted by the 
DWP and involves staff from the Jobcentre, UC Service centre and Local Authorities. 
We are also carrying out a Job Shadowing exercise where JCP staff are spending time at the Civic 
Centre with HB staff, Housing Income and Housing Options staff. This will be reciprocated for Local 
Authority staff to attend the Jobcentre.

Head of Revenues and Benefits
Assistant Revenues and

Benefits Manager
Housing Income Manager

Ongoing to March 
2021

4.2 Customers support with claiming 
Universal Credit and managing finances

 Citizens Advice (CA) now provides Help to Claim Service which is funded directly by the DWP. This 
support is given in the early stages of the Universal Credit claim, from application through to first 
payment. It is a dedicated service which is free to the claimant, independent, confidential and impartial. 
CA do attend our meetings and regularly keep us informed of any issues they may encounter. As well 
as providing a service out of the Civic Centre they do also have a presence in the Jobcentre where 
appointments are scheduled.

Head of Revenues and Benefits
Housing Income Manager

Ongoing to March 
2021

P
age 103



Corporate Risk Register 2020-2021
Analysis of Risks

Page 8

Existing Controls Additional Actions required to further mitigate risk  Lead Officer(s)
Target Date 

4.3  Contact with residents as well as social 
and private  landlords  to establish impact of 
Universal Credit

 Regular liaison continues with the DWP, CA and Housing. We have updated our correspondence that 
is issued to claimants where necessary to advise on claiming Universal Credit. We do have ad-hoc 
contact with landlords and organisations whereby any advice is given. Equally we sign post to the 
Jobcentre and GOVUK as and when appropriate.

Head of Revenues and Benefits
Housing Income Manager

Ongoing to March 
2021

4.4 Maintain briefing arrangements for 
Members and staff and provide regular 
updates of any changes

Briefings for staff take place on a regular basis through Team Meetings and Staff bulletins. Members 
are kept up to date via briefings at P&A. Also Universal Credit was included in the recent Member 
training that was rolled out.

Head of Revenues and Benefits
Housing Income Manager

Ongoing to March 
2021

P
age 104



Corporate Risk Register 2020-2021
Analysis of Risks

Page 9

Risk: 5. Cyberattack resulting in data breach or corruption of data Owner: Director (Corporate Services)

Risk Background: 
As more reliance grows on IT Systems the risks surrounding a cyberattack disrupting those systems 
becomes more important. Whilst there is no specific targeted threat to local government (confirmed by the 
National Cyber Security Centre), criminal activity via Cyber methods remains the most likely motivation. The 
"Official 2019 Annual Cybercrime Report,” by Cybersecurity Ventures lists Cyber Crime as the world's 
biggest criminal growth industry.

Whilst technical and non-technical controls can be put in place to reduce the ease at which an IT 
Infrastructure can be attacked, unknown vulnerabilities (zero day threats) and / or a determined attacker can 
defeat even the most secure systems.

The target dates specified for controls are marked as ongoing since constant management action is required 
to ensure we do not slip backwards with our arrangements and defences.

Alongside protecting systems should be a well-practiced incident response plans.

Consequences:
 Unavailability of systems for normal use in service delivery.
 Destruction of systems and data.
 Theft of data for criminal use.
 Financial loss.
 Reputational damage.
 Extended period to recover council services to usual business.

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE
Likelihood 4 Impact 4 Score 16 Likelihood 3 Impact 4 Score 12

Existing Controls Additional Actions required to further mitigate risk  Lead Officer(s)
Target Date 

5.1 Technical Security Control Arrangements Maintain existing security control arrangements.
Replace the existing firewall with a device that also provides email and web filtering capabilities, 
reducing the footprint in the IT server room.
Upgrade the log monitoring system.

Assistant Director
(Transformation & IT) Ongoing to 

March 2021

5.2 Back up arrangements Maintain offsite backup arrangements.
Implement enhancements to arrangements for recovery site (estimated to be complete by summer 
2020).

Assistant Director
(Transformation & IT) Ongoing to 

March 2021

5.3 Participation with relevant warning bodies  Continue to be part of the Kent Warning, Advice and Reporting Points (WARP) Group.
Continue to actively attend briefing events held by the National Cyber Security Centre.

Assistant Director
(Transformation & IT) Ongoing to 

March 2021

5.4 Engagement with Cyber bodies Continue to engage with the National Cyber Security Centre and make use of their Active Cyber 
defence tools.
Continue to be active participants on the LGA Cyber Technical Advisory Group whose purpose is to 
promote best practice and awareness of cyber issues to the local government sector.

Assistant Director
(Transformation & IT) Ongoing to 

March 2021

5.5 Improvements to existing controls Continue to proactively maintain arrangements to upgrade council devices and maintain the patch 
management solution (ensuring computers can be kept up to date with software updates), as well as 
the Mobile Device Management (MDM) and Secure Email solutions to better protect mobile devices.
Implement further enhancements to MDM and USB device control.

Assistant Director
(Transformation & IT) Ongoing to 

March 2021

P
age 105



Corporate Risk Register 2020-2021
Analysis of Risks

Page 10

Existing Controls Additional Actions required to further mitigate risk  Lead Officer(s)
Target Date 

5.6 Business Continuity planning Update departmental business continuity plans to include a realistic recovery time objective for 
services.
Review the IT disaster recovery plan during 2020 to take account of changes in storage infrastructure.

Assistant Director
(Transformation & IT)

Ongoing to 
March 2021

5.7 Engagement with Local Resilience 
Partnership

Take an active role with the Kent Resilience Team to develop an incident response plan for the county 
which will provide a structure for managing a cyber incident based upon existing protocols (using 
JESIP - Joint Emergency Services Interoperability Principles).

Assistant Director
(Transformation & IT) Ongoing to 

March 2021

5.8 Cyberattack exercise scenarios Continue to participate in cyberattack workshops as these become available.
Undertake further activities during 2020 with the National Cyber Security Centre “exercise in a box” 
service.

Assistant Director
(Transformation & IT) Ongoing to 

March 2021

P
age 106



Corporate Risk Register 2020-2021
Analysis of Risks

Page 11

Risk: 6. Investment Risk Owner: Director (Corporate Services)

Risk Background: 
As part of its strategy to respond to a decade of significant and sustained cuts, over the last four years 
the council has increased its exposure to investment risk and commercial risk through the diversification 
of its investment activity and Property Acquisition Strategy.

The council holds £20m of investments in Multi-Asset Funds and Property Funds; this provides greater 
opportunities for the council to generate investment yields beyond those offered by traditional banks and 
building societies, but also greater exposure to fluctuations in the capital value of the investments held.

To date, the Property Acquisition Strategy has secured interests in seven commercial property holdings 
valued at £22m, generating some £1.5m in rental income per annum.  The strategy does, however, 
expose the council to risks around movements in commercial property values and the strength of financial 
standing of the tenants of these properties.

Consequences:
 Investments do not perform as expected. E.g. due to economic downturn, which impacts on 

the balance sheet value of assets.
 Greater exposure to risk of void periods and loss of income if commercial tenants fail or hand 

back premises when their lease allows.
 Landlord responsibilities on commercial properties exceed anticipated levels e.g. due to 

increased void periods and associated outgoings such as empty rates, utility, maintenance 
and refurbishment costs.

 Spending plans are based on levels of commercial rental income and investment income that 
are not achieved, affecting core council service delivery.

 Balance sheet value of assets is eroded.
 Negative impact on council reputation.



INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE
Likelihood 5 Impact 3 Score 15 Likelihood 5 Impact 2 Score 10

Existing Controls Additional Actions required to further mitigate risk  Lead Officer(s) Target Date

6.1 Treasury and Investment Framework Continue to maintain the Treasury Management Strategy Statement, Capital Strategy and Property 
Acquisition Strategy to formalise the agreed parameters for investment.

Assistant Director
(Corporate Services)

Ongoing to 
March 2021

6.2 Monitoring and review of treasury activity Continue to provide and develop quarterly monitoring of treasury and commercial investment activity, 
to both officers and Members, to report and review performance of the diversified investment portfolio.

Assistant Director
(Corporate Services)

Quarterly to 
March 2021

6.3 Financial Protection Maintain the commercial income protection reserve, the balance of which is set at 15% of investment 
income in any year.
Continue the close working relationship between Financial Services and Property Services to enable 
early identification of any risks or opportunities from the council’s commercial property portfolio.

Assistant Director
(Corporate Services)

Ongoing to 
March 2021

6.4 Professional advice and support Ensure that ongoing advice and support is sought from the council’s Treasury and Economic advisors 
and other experts as required.
Ensure that any new activity is subject to appropriate due diligence, including seeking advice and 
support from external experts as required.

Assistant Director
(Corporate Services)

Ongoing to 
March 2021

P
age 107



Corporate Risk Register 2020-2021
Analysis of Risks

Page 12

Risk: 7. Withdrawal of the United Kingdom from the European Union Owners: Management Team

Risk Background: 
The UK is scheduled to leave the EU at 11pm on 31 January 2020 with a withdrawal deal, and will then 
go into a transition .period that is scheduled to end on 31 December 2020.  

During this period the UK will effectively remain in the EU's customs union and single market, but will be 
outside the political institutions.  There will be no British members of the European Parliament.  Over the 
course of the coming months the UK will seek to negotiate a trade deal with the EU. If no trade deal is 
able to be agreed and ratified, there is a risk that the UK could be subject to tariffs on exports to the EU.   
The UK will also need to agree how it will interact with the EU on other issues such as security and law 
enforcement.

Consequences:
 Lack of clarity on when the EU withdrawal may take place or impact on government spending 

plans. 
 Potential longer term impacts on staffing and future recruitment and legal and regulatory 

framework of the country. 
 Potential impacts on the council’s supply chain and the procurement of supplies and services 

(through actual supply and inflation-linked contracts). 
 Potential to cause instability in interest rates, affecting investment decisions, returns from current 

investments and pension fund liabilities. Potential to cause a downgrading in UK sovereign 
rating and UK institutional ratings, limiting options for investment decisions. Impact may also be 
felt on existing commercial property rental income returns and capital values. 

 Potential impacts on funding for longer term regeneration and infrastructure development plans. 
 Increased risk of intentional attempts to disrupt council services around key dates through cyber 

and other means. 
 Social Unrest and increase in public disorder. 

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE
Likelihood Impact Score Likelihood Impact Score

Existing Controls Additional Actions required to further mitigate risk  Lead Officer(s)
Target Date 

It is considered difficult at this time to assess the risks or benefits that may be associated with the UK leaving the European Union.  Given the nature of the activity, it is considered that this will be captured in Risk 2: Changes in 
national priorities and legislation.

P
age 108



Corporate Risk Register 2020-2021
Analysis of Risks

Page 13

Risk: 8. Implementation of Homelessness Reduction Act Owners: Director (Housing and Operations) Assistant Director  (Housing Policy and 
Management)

Risk Background: 
The Homelessness Reduction Bill received Royal Assent on 27th April 2017 and was enacted on 1 April 
2018. The Act amends many of the previous homelessness duties and brought in a substantial number of 
new duties.  This has resulted in a higher demand for homelessness advice and support which has been 
funded through New Burdens Funding; by its nature this funding will not continue indefinitely.

In response to the implementation of The Act, the council has reviewed and put in place systems and 
procedures to ensure its ability deliver the additional duties.  There will need to be ongoing monitoring of 
demand levels by government to ensure adequate funding is made available as required.  

Consequences:
 New legislative requirements not met. 
 Budgets depleted in attempts to fulfil the additional requirements. 
 Reputational damage.

 

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE
Likelihood 5 Impact 3 Score 15 Likelihood 3 Impact 3 Score 9

Existing Controls Additional Actions required to further mitigate risk  Lead Officer(s)
Target Date 

8.1 Understanding of service duties Continue regular interaction with advisers at the MHCLG.
Continue investigations into alternative sourcing of temporary accommodation.

Assistant Director (Housing)
Ongoing to 
March 2021

8.2 Team Structure No change identified and being required at present. Assistant Director (Housing)
Ongoing to 
March 2021

P
age 109



Corporate Risk Register 2020-2021
Analysis of Risks

Page 14

Risk: 9. Civil Risk- Major Disaster etc. Owner: Chief Executive

Risk Background: 
Under the Civil Contingencies Act 2004, the Kent Resilience Forum (KRF) partners are required to assess 
the risks in their area. KRF partners achieve this by working together to develop the 'Kent Community Risk 
Register'. The risk register is informed by national guidance and developed locally with partners, including 
Gravesham Borough Council and subject matter experts. The final register is endorsed by the strategic 
representatives of all KRF partners.

Very High Risks include; severe inland flooding, influenza-type disease.
High Risks include; severe weather, localised flooding, environmental, loss of utilities etc.
Medium Risks include; industrial accidents, transport accidents including shipping, major food contamination 
incidents, structural infrastructure failure, animal health, industrial action etc.

Consequences:
 Unavailability of Council offices / depots due to explosion, fire flood or police cordons around 

Council buildings.
 Operational emergencies due to severe weather conditions, fire, or major incident.
 Availability of staff to deliver key services if trained volunteers are taken away to deal with a 

major incident in the borough (the Council is a Category 1 responder under the Civil 
Contingencies Act).

 Loss of key business systems due to power problems, system failure or cyber-attack.
 Sustained industrial action affecting key services.
 Potential for contractor's business continuity plans to be unfit for purpose.
 Loss of Reputation.

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE
Likelihood 2 Impact 4 Score 8 Likelihood 2 Impact 3 Score 6

Existing Controls Additional Actions required to further mitigate risk  Lead Officer(s) Target Date 

9.1 Appropriate Contingency Plans Review and update Major Emergency Plan, Borough Emergency Centre Plan and Multi-
Agency Flood Plan. 
Organise regular testing of plans in partnership with the KRF, including both desktop and 
live exercises. 

Chief Executive (as part of the 
KRF Executive Board)
Director (Communities)

 District Emergency Planning 
Lead

Jan 2021

9.2 Effective Business Continuity Framework Review all BC plans on an annual basis to ensure that they are up to date and fit for 
purpose.
Develop existing information for local businesses or organisations with regards to the 
importance for their own resilience during a potential BC event that affects their business 
and staff.

Wider Management Team

Jan 2021

P
age 110

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/36/contents


Corporate Risk Register 2020-2021
Analysis of Risks

Page 15

Risk: 10. Shared Service Risk- Increased exposure to risk to Gravesham Borough Council from 
being involved in shared services Owner: Management Team

Risk Background: 
The council has embarked on a number of shared services in recent years across various services including 
HR, Legal, Information Governance and Licensing.
There is a risk that the financial position of other councils with whom Gravesham Borough Council is sharing 
services, could result with spending restrictions being implemented. This could cause requests to recruit to 
vacant posts being frozen impacting on capacity within shared teams and ultimately causing delays in 
service delivery.

Consequences:
 Direct impact on service delivery both internally across the council and externally to residents of 

the borough.
 Increase in the number of ‘unsatisfactory’ internal audit reports/potential impact on ability of 

internal audit team to complete audit reviews.
 Potential delays in decisions impacting directly on service delivery due to delays in 

advice/guidance from teams.

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE
Likelihood 3 Impact 3 Score 9 Likelihood 3 Impact 2 Score 6

Existing Controls Additional Actions required to further mitigate risks  Lead Officers Target Date

10.1 Annual reviews of all shared working arrangements. Continue to conduct reviews and monitor of the outcomes of the reviews by 
officers and Members. 

Corporate Change Manager Throughout the 
year as annual 
reviews are time-
tabled.

10.2 Performance Management Meetings between the officers 
responsible for the shared management arrangements at each site.

Implementation of more regular, ongoing performance monitoring meetings 
between the responsible officers at Medway Council and Gravesham 
Borough Council.

All managers responsible for shared 
services at Gravesham

To be implemented 
as required and  at 
desired frequency

P
age 111



Corporate Risk Register 2020-2021
Analysis of Risks

Page 16

Risk: 11. Non-delivery of key developments Owner: Director (Planning & Development)

Risk Background: 
Gravesham has a number of key sites which have not been brought forward for development by 
landowners.  This is particularly prevalent within Gravesend Town Centre with sites such as the area 
formally known as the Heritage Quarter, the Canal Basin, Old Police Station and the old Gravesend Hospital 
remaining undeveloped and, in some cases, falling derelict.  These ‘stalled sites’ are creating pressures on 
the council in a number of ways; they are failing to deliver much needed housing within the borough, as well 
as meeting housing delivery targets imposed by Central Government; they are stifling economic 
regeneration as part of the council’s place-shaping role; they are preventing the borough unlocking its 
economic potential through the creation of new communities, providing employment opportunities and 
making the most of the arts and cultural offering and heritage the borough has to offer. They also play a 
significant role in delivering the Local Plan for the borough.

The council has made a clear commitment in recently adopted Corporate Plan to work towards a 
regenerated Gravesend and Northfleet, delivery of new homes and to stimulate economic growth.  Any 
delay in bringing key sites forward for development will impact on the delivery of these objectives.

Consequences:
 Failure to deliver much needed housing and economic development for the borough, as well 

as associated employment opportunities.
 Failure to deliver against Corporate Plan Commitments.
 Increased pressures on social housing and private housing supply
 Reputational risk.
 Reduced opportunity to secure inward investment into the borough.
 Potential difficulty in attracting other partners/developers.
 Reduced opportunities to generate additional income to the council.
 Increased uncertainty over future projects.
 Potential for infrastructure to deteriorate.

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE
Likelihood 4 Impact 3 Score 12 Likelihood 3 Impact 2 Score 6

Existing Controls Additional Actions required to further mitigate risk  Lead Officer(s) Target Date 

11.1 Corporate Performance Monitoring Monitoring of delivery of associated Corporate Plan objectives.

Director (Planning & Development) Ongoing to March 
2021

11.2 Stalled Sites Working Group Prioritisation of sites for focus by the group, including council-owned and privately owned sites. 
Implementation of actions to increase the probability of privately-owned sites being brought forward for 
development, including informal action, legal action and liaison with key bodies and agencies such as 
Homes England and the Ebbsfleet Development Corporation.

Director (Planning & Development) Ongoing to March 
2021

11.3 Council development Focus on bringing forward council –owned sites such as Lord Street and The Charter (formally 
Eastern Quarter. Director (Planning & Development) Ongoing to March 

2021

P
age 112



GRAVESHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL

Corporate Risk Register
2020-2021

Page 113



2 | P a g e

 
Gravesham’s Corporate Risk Register is the result of an annual strategic risk management 
exercise conducted to identify, analyse and prioritise those risks that may affect the ability of 
the council to achieve its corporate objectives.  The key risks facing the council were 
identified through discussion with Cabinet Members, Finance and Audit Committee 
Members, Members, Directors, Assistant Directors, Service Managers and other senior 
managers.

The Corporate Risk Register outlines the key strategic risks facing the council, the controls 
currently in place to respond to these risks and any further action required by the council to 
properly manage these risks.  The actions that the council has in place/needs to implement 
are assessed as one of the following:

 Good – actions in place will mitigate the risk and no further action is required.
 Adequate – whilst the action will help to mitigate the risk, there is still further work 

that can be undertaken to further mitigate the risk.
 Inadequate – the action is either not already in place or is not mitigating the risk and 

therefore further work is required.

The following matrix is utilised when assessing whether a risk is a high, medium or low risk 
for the council:

The Risk Matrix

Very 
High 5 5 10 15 20

High 4 4 8 12 16

Medium 3 3 6 9 12

Low 2 2 4 6 8

Very 
Low 1 1 2 3 4

High Risk 1 2 3 4

Medium Risk
Low Risk

Negligible Significant Serious Critical

LI
K

EL
IH

O
O

D

IMPACT

Guidance used for assessing Likelihood and Impact

Page 114



3 | P a g e

Likelihood:
Rating Score

Very High 5
On the evidence and knowledge of officers and members it is 
almost certain that this issue will occur sometime within the next 
year.  The issue may have already occurred in previous years 
either at the council or elsewhere.

High 4 On the evidence and knowledge of officers and members it is very 
likely that this issue or event will occur in the coming year.

Medium 3 On the evidence and knowledge of officers and members the issue 
is more likely to occur than not in the coming year. 

Low 2
On the evidence and knowledge of officers and members it is 
unlikely that this event will occur in the coming year.  Occurrences 
of this risk have occurred in the past but occurrences are very few 
and far between.

Very Low 1 On the evidence and knowledge that this event would occur in 
either the coming year or in future years.

Impact:
Rating Score

Critical 4

The financial impact on the authority would critically threaten the 
council’s financial stability.  The delivery of service to the public 
could be affected either permanently or for a long duration and the 
council could not achieve its key objectives.  There would be a 
seriously damaging impact on the council’s reputation through poor 
media coverage.

Serious 3

The financial impact on the authority would be serious although 
would not threaten the stability of the council’s financial position.  
Services would experience disruption with the delivery of services 
being affected for a number of days.  Whilst the council’s 
objectives would be met there would be significant delays in 
achieving them.  The council would endure poor media coverage 
for a period of time affecting the council’s reputation which would 
take some time to recover from. 

Significant 2
There would be a financial impact on the authority however this 
would be manageable within the council’s existing financial 
resources.  There may be disruption to services and possibly 
delays in achieving the council’s objectives.  There may be poor 
media coverage which could affect the council in the long term.

Negligible 1
There is little or no financial impact of the risk to the authority.  
There would be no disruption to the delivery of the council’s key 
objectives or frontline services.  It is unlikely that this risk will 
impact on the council’s reputation.

Page 115



4 | P a g e

All risks identified for 2020-2021 and their assessments are plotted in the Heat Map and are 
summarised in the table below:

Table of Risks Assessed for 2020-2021

Risk 
Ref Risk Decription Inherent 

Risk
Residual 

Risk
Target 

Risk
1 On-going financial viability of the council 20 12 9

2 Changes in national priorities and legislation 20 15 12

3 Organisational capacity/resilience 20 15 12

4 Universal Credit 15 12 9

5 Cyberattack resulting in data breach or corruption of data 16 12 9

6 Investment Risk 15 10 9

7 Withdrawal of the United Kingdom from the European Union -- -- --

8 Implementation of the Homelessness Reduction Act 15 9 6

9 Civil risk- major disaster 8 6 6

10
Increased exposure to risk to Gravesham Borough Council from shared 
services 

9 6 6

11 Non-delivery of key developments 12 6 6

Risk Heat Map (Residual Risk)

The risks that have generated a “High Risk” score can be seen coloured in red and these 
have therefore been included in the 2020-2021 Corporate Risk Register.  

Given that the council works in an ever-changing environment it will be necessary to conduct 
similar risk management exercises on a periodic basis.  Progress against management 
actions recorded in the register will be reported to Cabinet on a quarterly basis and the 
register will be reviewed on a six-monthly basis by the Finance and Audit Committee.   

As a contribution to good corporate governance, risk management also forms a part of the 
annual business planning process – each departmental business plan has a specific service 
risk register to identify the key risks facing that service.  This reinforces the corporate risk 
management approach through each Service Manager giving proper formal consideration to 
both corporate and operational risks.

Very 
High 5 6 2,3

High 4 1,4

Medium 3 10, 11 8 5

Low 2 9

Very 
Low 1

1 2 3 4High Risk
Medium Risk
Low Risk

  L
ik

el
ih

oo
d

IMPACT 

Negligible Significant Serious Critical

Page 116



5 | P a g e

The Risk On-going financial viability of the Council Risk No. 1
Assessment 
Date

 January 2020

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE
Likelihood 5 Impact 4 Score 20 Likelihood 4 Impact 3 Score 12

Cabinet 
Portfolio

Leader of the Executive (but affects all portfolios)

Risk 
Background

Over the last decade Gravesham Borough Council, along with the rest 
of local government, has experienced significant and sustained cuts to 
its funding whilst demand on services has risen.  By the end of 2019-
20 the council will have experienced a cash reduction in government 
funding levels of some £5m (65%) since 2010-11 (excluding the 
funding derived from the New Homes Bonus Scheme).
The council has faced these challenges head-on and followed a multi-
faceted, proactive programme of activity to reduce its budget 
requirement and ensure a balanced budget which is based on sound 
assumptions for how planned expenditure will be met.  This activity 
has been successfully delivered, resulting in the council being able to 
present a fully balanced budget for the current Medium Term Financial 
Plan which requires no additional savings to be delivered in the plan 
period to 2028-29.  
Central Government have released a Local Government Provisional 
Finance Settlement for one year only relating to 2020-21, with no 
certainty on the future of local government funding after this.  The 
forthcoming year will see the 2020 Spending Review (setting the 
envelope of funding available to local government) and decisions 
being taken by Central Government on a number of other local 
government funding reforms that are planned for introduction from 
April 2021, including the Fair Funding Review and reforms to the 
current Business Rates Retention System.  There is also significant 
uncertainty regarding the potential impacts on the economy after the 
UK leave the European Union.  

Consequences  Inability to plan effectively due to the lack of clarity around the 
future level of government funding support and how the business 
rates retention scheme will operate in practice. 

 Potential for MHCLG to reduce the total funding available to the 
council (including retained business rates) beyond the levels 
projected in the MTFP to support other departmental funding 
pressures. 

 Council exposed to increased financial risk and volatility from 
changes to funding and any redesigned business rates scheme. 

 Unplanned cuts in services needed and/or drop in quality of 
delivery, potentially leading to damage to Council’s reputation. 

 Financial savings not achieved. 
 Budgets exceeded and/or reserves depleted. 
 Problems stored up for the future. 
 Minimum working balance of £2.00 million is not maintained. 
 New legislative requirements not met. 
 Uncertainty over future large projects. 
 Potential for infrastructure to deteriorate. 

Page 117



6 | P a g e

 Potential for the introduction of further statutory discounts for 
Business Rates payers without compensation from central 
government. 

Controls already 
in place 

 Medium Term Financial Strategy in place.
 Medium Term Financial Plan in place.
 Robust Budget Monitoring arrangements in place.

Key corporate 
documents and 
processes

Medium Term Financial Strategy.
Medium Term Financial Plan.
Budget monitoring process.

Risk Owner (s) Director (Corporate Services)

Additional actions required to further mitigate risk

Required Management Action Lead Officer(s) Target 
Date

Continue to review reserves and working balance 
annually to assess financial sustainability and 
appropriateness of working balances and reserves as a 
means to manage cash flow, future requirements and 
unexpected events.
Continue the council’s financial strategy objectives and 
the core principles that underpin these.
Development of a new Medium Term Financial Strategy 
for the council once the outcomes of the Fair Funding 
Review and Retained Business Rates Scheme design are 
known.

Director
(Corporate 
Services)

Assistant Director 
(Corporate 
Services)

Feb 
2021

Continued maintenance of the Medium Term Financial 
Plan. 
Modelling of the effects of the Fair Funding review and 
Retained Business Rates Retention Scheme once known.

Director 
(Corporate 
Services) 

Assistant Director 
(Corporate 
Services)

On-going 
to March 

2021

Continue the programme of development for the council’s 
Financial Management System. 
New performance measure implemented to assess 
compliance with budget monitoring arrangements. 
Continue to proactively respond to central government 
consultations on funding for local government.

Assistant Director 
(Corporate 
Services) 

On-going 
to March 

2021

Target for end of the 2020-2021 financial year
Likelihood 4 Impact 3 Score 12

Page 118



7 | P a g e

The Risk Changes in national priorities and legislation Risk No. 2
Assessment 
Date

 January 2020

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE
Likelihood 5 Impact 4 Score 20 Likelihood 5 Impact 3 Score 15

Cabinet 
Portfolio

All Portfolios

Risk 
Background

Good governance requires that the council is fully informed of 
legislation and national priorities’ including Nationally Significant 
Infrastructure Projects (NSIPs) to ensure that it is best placed to 
respond to any implications for its operations or, the Borough more 
widely. 
Following the General Election in December 2019, the Queen’s 
Speech introduced the government’s formal programme of 
prospective legislation. Alongside key policy announcements, 
prospective legislation that impacts upon local government service 
provision include:
 Domestic Abuse Bill.
 Employment Bill.
 Serious Violence Bill.
 Sentencing Bill.
 Environment Bill.
 Telecommunications Infrastructure Bill.
 Renters’ Reform Bill.
 Fire Safety Bill, Building Safety Bill.
 Armed Forces (Legal Protections) Bill.
 European Union (Withdrawal Agreement) Bill.

On enactment of relevant legislation, the council will potentially face 
new statutory duties, responsibilities or standards with which to 
adhere, potentially challenging existing services and working 
practices. 
Additionally, in January 2020 the European Withdrawal Agreement Bill 
was enacted by parliament. Whilst the broader social and economic 
uncertainty associated with delivery of ‘Brexit’ has subsided, there 
remains inherent risk relating to the transition period and the next 
phase of withdrawal. The Government’s trade negotiations, both in 
terms of timescale and final content, present risks in terms of further 
legislative developments and, more directly, the potential to cause 
financial instability to council income and investments via national 
economic uncertainty. 
In respect of NSIPs, the current proposals that are being progressed 
and have potential impact on the Borough include:
 Lower Thames Crossing (in Gravesham and Thurrock)
 Thurrock Flexible Generation Plant (Tilbury)
 London Resort (in Dartford /Gravesham)

The council will need to ensure that it has access to sufficient and 
appropriate resources, to enable it to effectively respond to these 
proposals as further information is released. 

Page 119



8 | P a g e

Consequences  Change of strategic direction for the council. 
 Breakdown in governance controls and processes.
 New legislative and regulatory duties not met and the potential for 

legal challenge. 
 Severe financial position, challenging the council’s ability to 

deliver the corporate objectives and policy commitments within 
the Corporate Plan. 

 Logistical challenges to the delivery of council services and 
effectiveness of the council’s supply chain.

 Sustained levels of service underperformance, resulting in a 
failure to meet community needs and expectations. 

 Additional costs/workload pressures for staff impacting morale, 
sickness absence and future recruitment and retention. 

 Increased scrutiny from Members, agencies, media and 
community stakeholders / reputational damage.

 The council may need to redirect resources to enable responses 
to consultations and other processes to be made quickly.

Controls already 
in place 

 Timely policy insight.
 Commitment to informing government policy.
 Proactive engagement with partner agencies.
 Planning for Business Continuity.
 Establishment of new Member training development plan.
 Maintain proactive briefing and information sharing arrangements 

between council departments, Members and staff to ensure an 
effective and coordinated response to significant projects in the 
Borough

Key corporate 
documents and 
processes

Corporate Plan 2019-23. 
Medium Term Financial Strategy and Medium Term Financial Plan.

Risk Owner (s) Chief Executive and Management Team 

Additional actions required to further mitigate risk
Required Management Action Lead Officer(s) Target Date

Circulation of monthly policy briefings and timely 
legislative updates.

Corporate 
Performance Manager

Monthly until 
March 2021

Working alongside partner agencies (LGA etc.), 
deliver proactive responses to formal 
consultations and policy papers from central 
government to ensure Gravesham’s strategic 
position is effectively represented. 

Wider Management 
Team

On-going to 
March 2021

Ensure a strong commitment to the council’s 
partnership working arrangements and sustaining 
Gravesham’s involvement with key stakeholder 
agencies and working groups on a national and 
local basis including (but not exclusive to):
- Local Government Association.

Wider Management 
Team

On-going to 
March 2021

Page 120



9 | P a g e

Required Management Action Lead Officer(s) Target Date
- District Councils Network. 
- Kent Finance Officers Group.
- Kent Resilience Forum.

Business Continuity Plans to be reviewed and 
updated to ensure they remain fit for purpose.

Wider Management 
Team March 2021

Develop a Member Induction Programme to 
support all Members elected and continue to 
deliver a training and development plan to 
Members.

Committee Services 
Manager/Wider 

Management Team
March 2021

Develop effective working practices between 
departments to enable information sharing and 
coordination of responses on behalf of the 
council. 
Put in place a mechanism which enables regular 
updates to be provided to Members

Director (Planning & 
Development) March 2021

Target for end of the 2020-2021 financial year
Likelihood 5 Impact 3 Score 15

Page 121



10 | P a g e

The Risk Organisational capacity/ resilience Risk No. 3
Assessment 
Date

 January 2020

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE
Likelihood 5 Impact 4 Score 20 Likelihood 5 Impact 3 Score 15

Cabinet Portfolio Deputy Leader (but affects all portfolios)

Risk Background The council’s Management Team have put in place a number of 
arrangements to help the effective direction of the council’s finite 
staffing resources, including approval of all new appointments and the 
cessation of temporary staff contracts and non-contractual overtime 
(except in exceptional circumstances).  This is intended to reduce the 
risk of key person dependency and poor resilience by recognising and 
improving organisational capacity and resilience where needed, 
identifying critical tasks, working flexibly across departments and 
developing the skills and abilities of key leaders and staff. 
In developing its working arrangements the council will also need to 
manage the aging operational buildings from which it delivers services 
to ensure these remain fit for purpose and capable of supporting its 
ways of working and the methods of access preferred by service 
users.
The council also needs to ensure that it has plans in place to cope 
with other potential impacts on capacity which may result from severe 
weather, building damage or pandemic to ensure that key services 
can continue to be delivered, particularly in light of the current 
coronavirus outbreak.

Consequences  Council unprepared for changes resulting in pressure being placed 
on resources, this in turn could lead to the council struggling to 
meet changes in demand for services.

 Services areas with reduced staff will suffer a greater impact which 
in turn will add pressures on already stretched recourses.

 Increased organisational stress can negatively impact productivity, 
which in turn can reduce staff motivation, create low morale and 
increase sickness and stress levels.

 The council will be required to provide additional help and support 
to overcome the problems that result from increased 
organisational stress.

 Increases in liability claims and weaknesses in internal controls 
could result due to there being insufficient staff resources to carry 
out essential roles and responsibilities.

 Cuts in services and a potential drop in service quality is also 
possible.

Controls already 
in place 

 Effective allocation of resources.
 Flexible working arrangements.
 Provision of training and support. 
 Workforce Support.
 Operational Building Management. 
 Business Continuity Framework

Key corporate 
documents and 
processes

Corporate Plan 2019-23. 
Workforce Development Plan.
Business Continuity Plans

Page 122



11 | P a g e

Risk Owner (s) Chief Executive and Management Team

Additional actions required to further mitigate risk
Required Management Action Lead Officer(s) Target Date

Management Team to continue to receive all requests 
to fill vacant posts.
Management Team to continue to receive periodic 
information regarding staff resourcing costs v budget, 
which includes information on vacancies to enable 
discussion on this. 
Annual review of vacant positions within the authority. 
Annual review of the delivery of existing shared 
services to confirm that these continue to work well, 
provide resilience and offer career opportunities for 
staff. 
Continue to develop and use technology where 
possible to free up resources that could be allocated to 
other tasks.

Management 
Team

On-going to 
March 2021

Consider ways in which the workforce can work more 
flexibly, including shared services, work patterns, 
appropriate remote working and use of available 
technology. 
Continue to offer apprenticeship positions that focus on 
ensuring that, at the end of the training contract, 
apprentices are ‘job ready’.  Seek to train apprentices in 
areas where the council may be having difficulties in 
recruitment.

Management 
Team

On-going to 
March 2021

Retain a specific budget for supporting staff training and 
development. 
In line with the Investors In People (IIP) Action plan, 
ensure annual appraisals are carried out for all staff to 
identify training needs, alongside periodic one to one 
meetings to monitor performance and identify any 
further training needs.
Continue to offer all employees e-learning and face to 
face training opportunities via the HRA Shared Service 
iShare training system.

Director 
Communities

On-going to 
March 2021

Continue to operate the Joint Staff forum to update the 
workforce on key issues regarding the Council and give 
employees the opportunity to raise any concerns they 
may have.
Deliver the IIP action plan.  
Continue to actively proactively and positively engage 
with Trade Unions.
Continue communication to promote Occupational 
Health, the Employee Assistance Programme and the 
Mental Health Champions as further confidential 
support services for staff.

Director 
Communities January 2021

Asset Management Group to maintain oversight of the 
operational buildings used to deliver council services.

Director 
Communities January 2021

Review all Business Continuity plans on an annual 
basis to ensure that they are up to date and fit for 
purpose.

Wider 
Management 

Team
January 2021

Page 123



12 | P a g e

Develop existing information for local businesses or 
organisations with regards to the importance for their 
own resilience during a potential Business Continuity 
event that affects their business and staff.

Target for end of the 2020-2021 financial year
Likelihood 5 Impact 3 Score 15

Page 124



13 | P a g e

The Risk Universal Credit Risk No. 4

Assessment 
Date

January 2020

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE
Likelihood 5 Impact 3 Score 15 Likelihood 4 Impact 3 Score 12

Cabinet 
Portfolio

Performance & Administration (PA)

Risk 
Background

Gravesham adopted Universal Credit ‘Live’ service in its most basic 
form on the 18 May 2015 for single residents only in prescribed 
circumstances. The impact was minimal and did not produce a risk 
score. Universal Credit live service was closed to new claims from 31 
December 2017. 
Universal Credit ‘Full’ service commenced in May 2018 and was 
available for all types of claimant with the exception of a few 
categories. 
The Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) had overall 
responsibility for implementing Universal Credit, although the Council 
has a key role in in providing Universal Support to residents who wish 
to claim.
From 1 April 2019 the DWP sub contracted Citizens Advice to do the 
Assisted Digital Support and Personal Budgeting Support directly to 
residents. Implementation of additional analytical software to support 
the Housing Income Team, along with regular income collection 
performance monitoring, review of income collection procedures and 
audits and early intervention to support tenants has assisted in dealing 
with this risk adequately.
The Work and Pensions Secretary announced Feb 2020 that the full 
roll-out of Universal Credit has been delayed from Dec 2023 to Sept 
2024, as data now suggests that natural migration over to Universal 
Credit through changes to people’s circumstances, is happening less 
frequently then previously predicted.

Consequences There remains much uncertainty as to the exact direct and indirect 
consequences of the changes upon the authority, particularly whether 
resources to support the scheme will still be required to be retained by 
the council (and at what level) once administration of Universal Credit 
is taken over by the Department for Work and Pensions in its entirety. 
The latest announcement (Feb 2020) has again delayed managed 
migration this time to Sept 2024. This makes it difficult to predict the 
resourcing requirements of the benefits service.
Data shows that,  Full service caseload is continuing to reduce and 
the number of new claims received is starting to reduce however, the 
workload has actually increased as a result of the number of 
notifications that the DWP JCP send through on a daily/weekly basis. 
Direct consequences are; 
 A reduction in HB caseload. 
 A reduction in council dwelling rental income and increase in rent 

arrears as payments will be made direct to the tenant, rather than 
direct to the rent account as they are now. 

 Increase in workload for Housing Team. 
 Increases in evictions/homelessness/voids. 

Page 125



14 | P a g e

 Rise in level of corporate debt.
 Customers may suffer hardship. 

Indirect consequences are also expected, with increased costs of 
cash handling through the shift away from rebating benefit to cash 
transactions.

Controls already 
in place 

 Regular meetings planned to take place with JCP Senior Officers.
 Customers support with claiming Universal Credit and managing 

finances.
 Contact with residents as well as social and private landlords to 

establish impact of Universal Credit.
 Maintain briefing arrangements for Members and staff and 

provide regular updates of any changes.

Key corporate 
documents and 
processes

Corporate Plan 2019-23.
Revenues & Benefits Business Plan.
HRA Business Plan.

Risk Owner (s) Director (Corporate Services) Service Manager Revenues & Benefits.

Additional actions required to further mitigate risk

Required Management Action Lead Officer(s) Target 
Date

Relevant departmental officers to continue to liaise 
and meet with representatives from Citizens Advice 
Bureau and Job Centre Plus (JCP).
Continue to proactively take part in meetings to 
improve the customer experience, hosted by the 
Department for Work & Pensions. 
Take part in Job Shadowing exercises to enable JCP 
staff to spend time at the Civic Centre with Housing 
Benefit, Housing Income and Housing Options staff, 
with a reciprocal arrangement for Local Authority staff 
to attend the Jobcentre.

Head of Revenues 
and Benefits

Assistant Revenues 
and

Benefits Manager

On-going 
to March 

2021

Citizens Advice (CA) now provides Help to Claim 
Service which is funded directly by the DWP. This 
support is given in the early stages of the Universal 
Credit claim, from application through to first payment. 
It is a dedicated service which is free to the claimant, 
independent, confidential and impartial. CA do attend 
our meetings and regularly keep us informed of any 
issues they may encounter. As well as providing a 
service out of the Civic Centre, they do also have a 
presence in the Jobcentre where appointments are 
scheduled.

Head of Revenues 
and Benefits

Housing Income 
Manager

On-going 
to March 

2021

Signposting of customers to the CAB Help to Claim 
Service, JCP and GOV.UK as and when appropriate.
Continue to work alongside JCP to provide scheduled 
appointments for customers.
Review and update correspondence issued to 
claimants where necessary to advise on claiming 
Universal Credit.

Head of Revenues 
and Benefits

Housing Income 
Manager

On-going 
to March 

2021

Page 126



15 | P a g e

Required Management Action Lead Officer(s) Target 
Date

Continue to provide briefings for staff on a regular 
basis through Team Meetings and Staff bulletins. 
Delivery of briefings and reports to members of the 
Performance & Administration Committee. 
Inclusion of training sessions as appropriate through 
the Member Training Programme. 

Head of Revenue 
and Benefits

Housing Income 
Manager

On-going 
to March 

2021

Target for end of the 2020-2021 financial year
Likelihood 4 Impact 3 Score 12

Page 127



16 | P a g e

The Risk Cyberattack resulting in data breach or 
corruption of data

Risk No. 5

Assessment 
Date

January 2020

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE
Likelihood 4 Impact 4 Score 16 Likelihood 3 Impact 4 Score 12

Cabinet 
Portfolio

Leader

Risk 
Background

As more reliance grows on IT Systems the risks surrounding a 
cyberattack disrupting those systems becomes more important. Whilst 
there is no specific targeted threat to local government (confirmed by 
the National Cyber Security Centre), criminal activity via Cyber methods 
remains the most likely motivation. The "Official 2019 Annual 
Cybercrime Report,” by Cybersecurity Ventures lists Cyber Crime as 
the world's biggest criminal growth industry.
Whilst technical and non-technical controls can be put in place to 
reduce the ease at which an IT Infrastructure can be attacked, unknown 
vulnerabilities (zero day threats) and / or a determined attacker can 
defeat even the most secure systems.
The target dates specified for controls are marked as ongoing since 
constant management action is required to ensure we do not slip 
backwards with our arrangements and defences.
Alongside protecting systems should be a well-practiced incident 
response plans.

Consequences  Unavailability of systems for normal use in service delivery.
 Destruction of systems and data.
 Theft of data for criminal use.
 Financial loss.
 Reputational damage.
 Extended period to recover council services to usual business.

Controls already 
in place 

 Technical security controls.
 Backup arrangements in place.
 Participation with relevant warning bodies. 
 Engagement with Cyber bodies.
 Improvements to existing controls.
 Business Continuity planning.
 Engagement with Local Reliance Partnership.
 Cyberattack exercise scenario.

Key corporate 
documents and 
processes

Business Continuity Plans.

Risk Owner (s) Director (Corporate Services)

Page 128



17 | P a g e

Additional actions required to further mitigate risk

Required Management Action Lead Officer(s) Target 
Date

Maintain existing security control arrangements.
Replace the existing firewall with a device that also provides 
email and web filtering capabilities, reducing the footprint in 
the IT server room, upgrade the log monitoring system.

Assistant 
Director 

(Transformation 
& IT)

On-going 
to March 

2021

Maintain offsite backup arrangements.
Implement enhancements to arrangements for recovery site 
(estimated to be complete by summer 2020).

Assistant 
Director 

(Transformation 
& IT)

On-going 
to March 

2021

Continue to be part of the Kent Warning, Advice and 
Reporting Points (WARP) Group.
Continue to actively attend briefing events held by the 
National Cyber Security Centre.

Assistant 
Director 

(Transformation 
& IT)

On-going 
to March 

2021

Continue to engage with the National Cyber Security Centre 
and make use of their Active Cyber defence tools.
Continue to be active participants on the LGA Cyber 
Technical Advisory Group whose purpose is to promote 
best practice and awareness of cyber issues to the local 
government sector.

Assistant 
Director 

(Transformation 
& IT)

On-going 
to March 

2021

Continue to proactively maintain arrangements to upgrade 
council devices and maintain the patch management 
solution (ensuring computers can be kept up to date with 
software updates), as well as the Mobile Device 
Management (MDM) and Secure Email solutions to better 
protect mobile devices.
Implement further enhancements to MDM and USB device 
control.

Assistant 
Director 

(Transformation 
& IT)

On-going 
to March 

2021

Update departmental business continuity plans to include a 
realistic recovery time objective for services.
Review the IT disaster recovery plan during 2020 to take 
account of changes in storage infrastructure.

Assistant 
Director 

(Transformation 
& IT)

On-going 
to March 

2021

Take an active role with the Kent Resilience Team to 
develop an incident response plan for the county which will 
provide a structure for managing a cyber incident based 
upon existing protocols (using JESIP - Joint Emergency 
Services Interoperability Principles).

Assistant 
Director 

(Transformation 
& IT)

On-going 
to March 

2021

Continue to participate in cyberattack workshops as these 
become available.
Undertake further activities during 2020 with the National 
Cyber Security Centre “exercise in a box” service.

Assistant 
Director 

(Transformation 
& IT)

On-going 
to March 

2021

Target for end of the 2020-2021 financial year
Likelihood 3 Impact 4 Score 12

Page 129



18 | P a g e

The Risk Investment Risk Risk No. 6
Assessment 
Date

January 2020

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE
Likelihood 5 Impact 3 Score 15 Likelihood 5 Impact 2 Score 10

Cabinet 
Portfolio

Leader

Risk 
Background

As part of its strategy to respond to a decade of significant and 
sustained cuts, over the last four years the council has increased its 
exposure to investment risk and commercial risk through the 
diversification of its investment activity and Property Acquisition 
Strategy.
The council holds £20m of investments in Multi-Asset Funds and 
Property Funds; this provides greater opportunities for the council to 
generate investment yields beyond those offered by traditional banks 
and building societies, but also greater exposure to fluctuations in the 
capital value of the investments held.
To date, the Property Acquisition Strategy has secured interests in 
seven commercial property holdings valued at £22m, generating some 
£1.5m in rental income per annum.  The strategy does, however, 
expose the council to risks around movements in commercial property 
values and the strength of financial standing of the tenants of these 
properties.

Consequences  Investments do not perform as expected e.g. due to economic 
downturn, which impacts on the balance sheet value of assets.

 Greater exposure to risk of void periods and loss of income if 
commercial tenants fail or hand back premises when their lease 
allows.

 Landlord responsibilities on commercial properties exceed 
anticipated levels e.g. due to increased void periods and 
associated outgoings such as empty rates, utility, maintenance 
and refurbishment costs.

 Spending plans are based on levels of commercial rental income 
and investment income that are not achieved, affecting core 
council service delivery.

 Balance sheet value of assets is eroded.
 Negative impact on council reputation.

Controls already 
in place 

 Treasury and Investment Framework.
 Monitoring and review of treasury activity.
 Financial protection. 
 Professional advice and support.

Key corporate 
documents and 
processes

 Treasury Management Strategy.
 Capital Strategy.
 Property Acquisition Strategy.

Risk Owner (s) Director (Corporate Services)

Page 130



19 | P a g e

Additional actions required to further mitigate risk

Required Management Action Lead 
Officer(s)

Target 
Date

Continue to maintain the Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement, Capital Strategy and Property Acquisition 
Strategy to formalise the agreed parameters for investment.

Assistant 
Director 

(Corporate 
Services)

Ongoing to 
March 
2021

Continue to provide and develop quarterly monitoring of 
treasury and commercial investment activity, to both 
officers and Members, to report and review performance of 
the diversified investment portfolio.

Assistant 
Director 

(Corporate 
Services)

Quarterly 
to March 

2021

Maintain the commercial income protection reserve, the 
balance of which is set at 15% of investment income in any 
year.
Continue the close working relationship between Financial 
Services and Property Services to enable early 
identification of any risks or opportunities from the council’s 
commercial property portfolio.

Assistant 
Director 

(Corporate 
Services)

Ongoing to 
March 
2021

Ensure that ongoing advice and support is sought from the 
council’s Treasury and Economic advisors and other 
experts as required.
Ensure that any new activity is subject to appropriate due 
diligence, including seeking advice and support from 
external experts as required.

Assistant 
Director 

(Corporate 
Services)

Ongoing to 
March 
2021

Target for end of the 2020-2021 financial year
Likelihood 5 Impact 2 Score 10

Page 131



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 133 Agenda Item 10



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 137



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 To sign the minutes of the previous meeting
	6 Lower Thames Crossing Supplementary Consultation
	200312 Appendix 2 - Red line plan FINAL
	200312 Appendix 3 - GBC DRAFT Response to LTC Questionnaire  FINAL
	200312 Appendix 4 - Annexes FINAL
	200312 Appendix 4 - Lower Thames Crossing Appraisal FINAL

	7 Development of the Corporate Risk Register 2020-2021
	2. Appendix II - Risk Management Strategy 2020-2021
	3. Appendix III Risk Analysis Document
	4. Appendix IV Draft Corporate Risk Register

	10 Establishment of Rosherville Servicing Limited
	2. Appendix 2 - Vehicle Workshop Business Case - FINAL


